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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. is a leading global provider of networg and communications equipment. Our solutiorebénvoice, data, video and Internet
communications across a variety of network infrattires. These solutions are deployed by someesofvtirld’s largest service providers,
distributed enterprises and small and medium-dizesihesses, public and private enterprises, arltbnslof individual users worldwide.

We were incorporated under the laws of Delawafdamember 1985, and commenced operations in Jad@&§. We are headquartered in
Cummings Research Park in Huntsville, Alabama. mlading address at our headquarters is 901 ExpBoetevard, Huntsville, Alabama,
35806. The telephone number at that location i§)263-8000.

Products and Service

We maintain two operating divisions based on oodpct and service offerings: the Carrier Networkgd$ion and the Enterprise Networks
Division. These divisions serve two distinct maskahd support sales globally, operating as twortaple segments. In 2013, sales of Carrier
Networks products accounted for 78.0% of total nexg while sales of Enterprise Networks product®anted for 22.0%. Sales to countt
outside of the United States are included in tlaeggegate divisional figures, but when accountedéparately, comprised 28.9% of total
revenue. For more financial information about thaisésions and geographic areas, see Note 12 t€timsolidated Financial Statements
included in this report.

Our Carrier Networks Division offers broadband @sfiructure products and services used by servimadars to deliver voice, data and video
services to their customers’ premises and mobiieork cell sites. These products are typically tedan central office exchanges or outside
plant cabinets, and infrastructure locations fobitl@onetworks. Our Enterprise Networks Division yides Cloud Connectivity solutions, such
as IP business gateways and access routers, winieitlgp business access to service provider netwarieé Enterprise Communications
solutions, which enable businesses to construceyaiata and video networks within the customeéts’a among distributed sites. These
products are sold through service providers irféhe of bundled business services and solutiors@gand through value-added resellers
(VARS).

Both of our divisions are positioned with produntiservice offerings that compete in the global mamications industry and, specifically, in
the areas of Ethernet and Internet Protocol (IBetanetworks. As networks continue to migrate thaBed architectures to deliver and utilize
higher-bandwidth services, we have strengthenedeatinologies in our core product areas: Broadi#aedss, Optical and Internetworking.

For a discussion of risks associated with our pradise¢‘Risk Factors — We must continue to update and owprour products and develop
new products in order to compete and to keep patteimprovements in communications technology”, 8Risk Factors — If our products do
not interoperate with our customers’ networks, atiations may be delayed or cancelled, which cdwddm our business”, in Item 1A of this
report.

Broadband Access Infrastructure for Advanced Sees

Historically, service providers have deployed inglegent networks to meet the needs of their redmeanterprise and mobile backhaul
customers, with each network developed for thetcEjz needs. As a result, the current state ofroomications operators’ networks is
comprised of disparate overlay networks. Todayiserroviders are being challenged to deliver Gigeeady residential services, high-
bandwidth and widely available cloud connectivigy\sces for enterprise customers, and scalablerig¢hand optical networking for mobile
backhaul and data center connectivity, requirinying service level agreements (SLAs) and simplifiervice automation requirements. In
response to this demand, we are seeing a fundainsértéoward IP network convergence. Communiaaiservice providers have four
fundamental network priorities: (1) high-capaciggidential services, (2) enterprise services,h@)ixpansion of 4G/LTE (fourth-generation
mobile/Long Term Evolution) and carrier-based WirEtworks and (4) data center connectivity for digervices.

Communication network operators are working togitgon their networks to a single all-fiber, cloadntrolled future state for ubiquitous
converged service delivery. Service providers ptasupport the full range of residential, entegasd mobile backhaul services over a
common, next-generation network capable of suppgprach segment’s advanced service managemenbdtoming impractical to continue
the proliferation of separate overlay networksddrass each of these market segment needs. Weetlet we are positioned to deliver
flexible network solutions that enable network @pers to meet today’s service demands, while englfie transition to the fully converged,
scalable, highly automated, cloud-controlled vodzta and video networks of the future.
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Our three major product categories are Carriere®yst Business Networking and Loop Access.
Carrier Systemsproducts are used by communications service prowitbeprovide data, voice and video services teoorers and enterpris
This category includes the following product araad related services:
* Broadband Acces
. Total Acces®5000 Mult-Service Access Node (MSAI
. hiX family of MSANs
. Total Access 1100/1200 Series of Fiber to the N&A& N) products
. Ultra Broadband Ethernet (UBI
. Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer (DSLAMJoducts
* Optical
. Optical Networking Edge (ONE
. NetVanta 8000 Series of Fiber Ethernet Access BsEAD)
. OPTI-6100 and Total Access 3000 optical M-Service Provisioning Platforms (MSP
. Pluggable Optical Products, including SFP, XFP, SRré+
e TDM systems
Business Networkingproducts provide access to communication servioddacilitate the delivery of cloud connectivitydaanterprise
communications to the small and mid-sized entegi®VIE) market. This category includes the follogvproduct areas and related services:
* Internetworking product
. Total Access IP Business Gatew:
. Optical Network Terminals (ONT:
. Bluesocke® virtual Wireless LAN (VWLAN®)
. NetVanta®
e Multiservice Router:
e Managed Ethernet Switch
« |IP Business Gatewa
e Unified Communications (UC) solutiol
e Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment (N’
. Network Management Solutiol
* Integrated Access Devices (IAC
Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custoibeaccess to copper-based communications nkswdhe Loop Access
category includes the following product areas adted services:
» High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) produc
» Digital Data Service (DDS
» Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) produ
e T1/E1/T3 Channel Service Units/Data Service UrtSSUs/DSUs
* TRACER fixec-wireless product
In addition, we identify subcategories of produstenues, which we divide into core products anddggroducts. Our core products consist o

Broadband Access and Optical products (include@arrier Systems) and Internetworking products (idel in Business Networking). Our
legacy products include HDSL products (includetl@op Access) and other products not included irafloeementioned core products.
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Carrier Networks Division

Carrier service providers are focused on accefegdkie delivery of broadband, business and mobilenue-generating services while
streamlining and automating their network. We daliflexible next-generation access products thablenservice providers to reduce network
costs and speed the delivery of services to corgreater numbers of customers at higher speedwitimtbetter quality of experience, allowing
for new revenue generation and decreased custdmen.cOur Carrier Networks Division supplies théwak access products, services and
support that these service providers require tmeontheir customers to core transmission and bimigcnetworks. Specifically, we deliver last-
mile broadband solutions that enable high-speeithtiigervices. Our customer base includes mankefajor service providers around the
globe (including Incumbent Local Exchange Carr{gt&Cs), Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (CLE@sd Cable Multi-service
Operators (MSOs)) and many U.S.-based indepengenating companies, utilities, municipalities andeless service providers. We initially
focused on opportunities in North America, but vesédsignificantly increased our customer penetnatiche EMEA (Europe, Middle East ¢
Africa) region, Latin America, as well as otherimt of the world, aided by the 2012 acquisitioriref NSN (formerly Nokia Siemens
Networks) Broadband Access business (NSN BBA bugsin

Carrier services enabled using our Ethernet-bagsidmss, include traditional voice services, VoPPTV, RF Video, highspeed Internet acce
mobile broadband and data services based on Eth&amae relay, TDM, and ATM technologies. These/ges connect the network with user
components such as switches, routers, gateways, IRBXs and wireless LAN products. Our devicesdagoyed at business sites and enabl
carriers to provide Ethernet services to SMEs asililduted enterprises. Our solutions provide a glete end-to-end solution for carriers by
supporting both new fiber-based infrastructure anabling them to reuse their existing copper itftecsure. This lowers their overall cost to
deploy advanced Ethernet services to SMEs andhlistd enterprises.

Products marketed under the Total Access and haXdy are platforms that can accommodate the defoaadrariety of highspeed Interne
voice, data and video services from businessesesidential customers. Our Total Access produdif@ia is focused on the American
National Standards Institute (ANSI) markets folidestial and business broadband applications astohyjimarkets for Carrier Ethernet ¢
Packet Optical applications. Our hiX product pditfas focused on the European Telecommunicatidaadards Institute (ETSI) markets for
residential and business broadband applicationssatiebloyed in central exchanges, outside planiness or multi-tenant units. These
modular, scalable and geographically distributemtipcts offer advantages such as lower start-u cosire flexible service deployment,
greater network interface options, increased baghithwgrow-as-you-go modularity and centralized metwmanagement. Our products connec
to both fiber optic and copper network backbonesking them suitable for installation in many partshe network and enabling deployment
of a wide range of voice, video and data servicearad the world.

The Total Access products, as well as other ADTR¥bHucts, are accepted by the USDA Rural UtiliSesvice (RUS) as suitable for use in
RUS-financed communications systems. Deployed itrakoffices, remote terminals, or multi-tenanttsinthe Total Acces® system
encompasses carrier-class solutions for fiber apger broadband multi-service access, DSL accessie€Ethernet access and narrowband
multi-service access.

Advanced IP Service

Our broadband access products provide service geovihe ability to increase bandwidth and imprineequality of services to customers.
These products are used in high-density centraleoépplications, as well as lower-density appiaat that include remote terminals and
outside plant deployments. These products areabtaiin models that are temperature hardened foirulsarsh, outside-plant environments
and provide support for Ethernet delivery of adwahtP services over fiber or copper as well asdgddM and ATM networks.

High-speed Residential Services

Designed with fiber deployment in mind, our Totalc&ss 5000 provides high-capacity switching andlédth for FTTP services based on
advanced optical standards. It also provides athex-broadband services based on advanced copgerdlogies. FTTP networks are based o
the GPON standard. There are two key network commsnthe Optical Line Terminals (OLTs) and thetaoer-side ONT. The OLT is
typically located in communications exchanges aheémonetwork Central Offices within MSANs. For ADARI, both the hiX5600 and the
Total Access 5000 MSANs house the OLT modules.@b& provides Gigabit levels of bandwidth sharedledicated across thousands of
subscribers enabling the delivery of advanced swiatlike IPTV across an all-Ethernet architect@a.the other end of the FTTP network,
every subscriber's home has a provider-owned OMT tdrminates the fiber optics from the OLT andwaots the optical signals to electric
signals, enabling the in-home network to delivecgpinternet and video services. Customer-owneitds, such as computers, usually expec
Ethernet, a standard networking technology, makim@ll-Ethernet solution preferable. Our portf@fcONTSs, including the Total Access 300,
400 and 500 Series and ADTRAN Certified ONTSs, pdesgi carriers with a widely differentiated set afvéme delivery options for residential,
business and mobile backhaul opportunities.
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To accelerate the penetration of 100Mbps and Gigalpvices at the lowest cost per bit deployedy e Total Access and hiX-based
platforms allow service providers to realize ulr@adband speeds over their existing copper imfressire. This economically secures the
broadband connection to the home and enables tiveryeof advanced communications and entertainmentices. Capabilities like VDSL2
vectoring (a new cross-talk cancellation technoltigayt expands typical 30 — 50Mbps DSL rates to 1908) are actively being deployed to
help service providers overcome the challenge ioigusxisting copper facilities to compete with 1084 and higher service offerings without
the need to invest in or overcome the obstaclenassociated with end-to-end FTTP networks.

The Total Access 1100 Series of environmentallyesebroadband access products provides an inn@vagiproach to the successful
deployment of FTTN architectures. Recognizing trehhological and economic barriers of traditioredinet-based DSL deployments, we
designed this series of products to eliminate #exdrfor expensive cabinet enclosures, heat excheagd site construction, which account for
a large portion of the total cost of deploymentmany cases, Total Access 1100 Series DSLAMs chived&TTN-based services for
significantly less than traditional cabinet-basgstams. This flexibility, combined with VDSL2 wiystem level vectoring, allows carriers to
economically utilize the capacity of the existirgpper network over the last mile.

The hiX series can be positioned as a resident&AM delivering high density DSL and voice technaésg The hiX MSAN also supports
residential point-to-point fiber applications. Thduct series leverages the latest technologgxh generation VDSL2 with vectoring.
Additionally, the hiX has a comprehensive voicetdiea set for ETSI markets.

Business Ethernet Service

Business Ethernet is growing with the proliferatadrpacketbased infrastructure in both enterprise and cane#wvorks. The implementation
Ethernet throughout the communications network g benefits in equipment and operational saviigsle Gigabit speeds are increasingly
becoming available throughout the access netwbdy; &re far from being widespread. Ethemétcreasing presence throughout the netwc
driving costs down, resulting in increasing avaligbto business customers. We provide Metro Etleéf~orum (MEF) compliant products that
enable the delivery of these services.

We have a complete portfolio of solutions for Besie Ethernet services utilizing Fiber (EoF), CofgexCu) and TDM (EoTDM). These
solutions enable cost-effective business Ethewrrice delivery across a variety of network infrastures. The Total Access 5000 supports
standards-based copper pair bonding of xDSL loopslifect Ethernet service delivery. Leveragingemplete end-to-end solution with
NetVanta 800 and NetVanta 8000 Series network teatitin equipment, the Total Access 5000 also oHarsnovative approach to deliveri
Ethernet services by aggregating bonded coppeddubaircuits, and fiber, while supporting multi-rabg rates for MEF certified carrier
Ethernet circuits. This combination allows carrigr®ffer Ethernet services across the entire netwanabling new revenugenerating servict
for businesses.

Packet Optical Networking and Optical Acce

Mobile networks that were originally built for veiccommunications are now being optimized for dafalieations, putting strain on the mobile
backhaul network. With the introduction of carri@ass Ethernet technologies, operators can nowatdkentage of fiber facilities to achieve
highest traffic carrying capacity utilization ofelh embedded investment and provide a network riargath toward an all-packet network.
With the integration of EoF in the Total Access 8@Mhd NetVanta 8000 platforms, we offer a scalablation that supports service migration
as providers continue to strive to meet the custatamand for greater bandwidth. As wireless needsirtue to grow, EoF is an ideal transy
method for mobile backhaul networks and enableg-twal reach to residential and business networks.

ONE has been added to our product portfolio to knligh-performance packet optical services antitevork edge and integrated optical
transport solutions. ONE solutions combine riglzedi core packet optical networking like miniatucBnfigurable Optical Add Drop
Multiplexer (mini-ROADM), Wave Division Multiplexig (WDM), Scalable Carrier Ethernet, Optical Transpetwork (OTN), and
SONET/SDH with high-speed access services in thal Pacess 5000 MSAN. ONE modules fit into the alieid base or new deployments of
the Total Access 5000 to deliver integrated acaggregation, and transport enabling service pessitb simplify service delivery and
network operation to improve profitability. ONE dihes service providers to deliver, aggregate, earasport carrier-grade services, including
multiple 10Gbps interfaces. The ONE portfolio suptpagile photonics and tunable pluggable optit®sE advancements provide operators
with a flexible, efficient and scalable networkgitecture, improving their market responsivenegbthe transition from circuibased to packs
optical services.

Our OPTI® product family includes a multi-service@pisioning platform, the OPTI-6100 , delivering higpeed Ethernet connectivity and
transport to cellular sites using a variety of fibptic ring architectures. Our OPTI®3 fiber mulkiper provides OC-3 capacity in terminal
mode and DS3 range extension applications. The GRJ0 chassis is available in small (SMX), mediiiXf and large (LMX) options
addressing a broad range of applications with etyaof mounting options to meet unique customeuiements.
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All of these products enable wireless and wiresiaevice providers to more efficiently handle netwivaffic by consolidating multiple circuits
into a single facility, upgrading their networkssiopport next-generation services, and improvirgkbaul efficiency. These devices provide a
migration path from TDM systems to Ethernet/IP rets and also support techniques for bonding maltysical circuits into a single
virtual circuit.

Busines-class Services

HDSL is a common technology for delivering bandWidt rates of 1.544 Mbps (known as the DS1 or 1d) ffar infrastructure support,
business customer services, and wireless netwobilenisackhaul services. The T1 interface is unialysaccepted throughout the United
States. Our HDSL products are manufactured in iztyaof configurations for use in every major DSHptbyment platform for voice and data
services. Outside the United States, our standzaded SHDSL products provide symmetrical solutfonshe transport of high-speed,
business-class services.

Service and Suppoil

In addition to our product portfolio and standard-pales and post-sales technical support, thee€atetworks Division offers a variety of
services to provide customers with network impletaton, maintenance and management services. Neimgtementation service offerings
include engineering, site preparation, cabinetei@ent, installation, configuration, turn-up and,tésining, project management services, anc
fully engineered pre-assembled, wired rack andnel@issemblies. Maintenance services are desigrmaotect customers’ networks from
unnecessary downtime. We offer services such aageahspares, extended warranty, and remote oteteshnical support beyond our
standard warranty coverage. Management servicéia@cremote management and monitoring of theiserproviders’ networks.

Network Managemen

As communications solutions and networks become=roomplex, the need for carrier-class managemeaisys becomes vital to ensure
operational efficiencies. A system-level view i€@essary and service awareness is increasingly tantokVe develop and support systems to
centralize the configuration, provisioning and ngaraent of our network access products. These sgsdegrused to configure, monitor and
control ADTRAN equipment installed in the networkdaensure communication with the service providegstral management system to
reduce technician dispatches and operating costsA@vanced Operational Environment products previdegrated, end-to-end, service-
aware network management tools that enhance nelanking, service activation, service assurancedatision support tools for our
customers’ operations.

Enterprise Networks Divisiot

Our Enterprise Networks Division delivers a fullrfolio of networking and communications solutidagiored for small, medium and
distributed enterprises. The portfolio includes @ dConnectivity solutions, such as IP businesswgs and access routers, which provide
business access to service provider networks, atetfifise Communications solutions, which enabkr®sses to construct voice, data and
video networks within the customer’s site or amdisgfributed sites. These products are sold thraeghice providers in the form of bundled
business services and solutions resale, and thrdAgts.

With the increased speed, capacity and availalofityroadband services to businesses and thegmatiibn of mobile broadband devices such
as smartphones and tablets, both service provadetenterprises are rapidly migrating to cloud-dasvices and wireless solutions for their
communications and networking needs. Businessab sizes are increasingly using the cloud for epidata, video, computing, storage and
applications. As business workers adopt mobilea/both inside and outside the physical officeyeogence with fixed VolP and UC
solutions are emerging. Voice-capable wireless agtsvin the enterprise are beginning to converdgh wired networks. This wirelessgireline
convergence, along with the convergence of voiatg,cand messaging from any location or devicdtesuincreased employee efficiency ¢
productivity. Our Enterprise Networks Division iddressing these major market shifts by focusingautions in two key areas: Cloud
Connectivity and Enterprise Communications.

Cloud Connectivity

Our Cloud Connectivity solutions allow service pders to deliver hosted and bundled service oftgrithat enable businesses to connect t
public or private cloud. These bundled serviceriifgs are enabled by our Total Access and NetVihBusiness Gateway (IPBG) and
NetVanta Access Router solutions. Service offerihigs are delivered utilizing our Cloud Connectngblutions include: Hosted Voice a
Unified Communications, Hosted Wireless Local Anstworking (WLAN), Business Internet Access, Buss&thernet, Private Network,
Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) Trunking, EntésprSession Border Control (eSBC) functionality,idged UC, and SIP Trunking with PBX.
Our Enterprise Network Division solutions offeresliey elements of these service provider businasdles are our Cloud Connectivity
portfolio of IPBGs and Access Routers (used to ji®eonnectivity to the business location), and Baterprise Communications portfolio of
VWLAN, Ethernet Switches, and UC solutions (use@dravide the business productivity component ofsbevice provider bundled services).
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Our Total Access and NetVanta IPBGs and NetVantzess Routers are deployed by service providersadeémarcation point of the custor
premises. An IPBG combines the functionality ofoéce gateway, multiservice router and firewall iatsingle device. Our products offer an
integrated, cost-effective platform for delivericlgud services to enterprise customers. Our multise routers move data between networked
computers over public or private IP, Frame Relay/tMProtocol Label Switching (MPLS) leased-lindrastructures, or carrier-supplied
Ethernet services. These devices provide featoresute traffic between multiple destinations, sedhe network against cyber-attacks, ensur
the privacy of data as it is transported acrosdriteznet, and restore communications in the egéptjuipment or network failure. Our
multiservice routers provide Internet access atet@nnect corporate locations. The NetVanta roubetfolio, provided in modular and fixed
port configurations, offers an assortment of bussreass features including: Quality of Service $yd-irewall, VPN, Network Performance
Monitoring and Voice Quality Monitoring (VQM). Thedeatures enable carriers to offer the highesiityjiservice at an advantageous Total
Cost of Ownership (TCO).

Enterprise Communication:

Our Enterprise Communications solutions are presrisesed and enable businesses to become more fivedartd capable through efficient
communications. We provide enterprises with sohgifyom the network edge to the desktop that cieasaess efficiency and capability,
while driving employee productivity. Our Enterpri€@mmunications solutions simplify network suppeomt ensure ease of scalability, all
while lowering the TCO. These solutions includefiggi communications and wireless and wireline LAfrastructure solutions.

Our Bluesocket VWLAN solutions deliver complete paitht freedom across the enterprise by utilizingualized, cloud-based solutions for
connectivity, communications and collaboration. Wthe proliferation of smart phones, tablets an@hss devices, end-users are now
dictating which devices should be supported adfusgnterprise. This Bring Your Own Device (BYOD)rid has forced the proliferation of
wireless connectivity campus wide, and is no lorigeited to conference rooms and building lobbigsers now expect to be able to roam
seamlessly across the enterprise campus while aiaiimg a persistent IP session to support voiaewiand other wireless applications withou
interruption. Bluesocket vVWLAN solutions allow uséo access enterprise resources anytime, anywdresny device and deliver a unified
service experience. These solutions leverage tilalstity, reliability and cost benefits of virtuzhtion and are cloud-ready for easy
deployment and management and complement our portfiointernetworking solutions.

Our NetVanta managed Layer 2 and Layer 3 (L2/LBeHiet switches complement our Bluesocket vVWLANigsohs, providing integrated
wireless/wireline LAN deployments and connectivitgm the WAN to the end user’s desktop computer l@hBhone. Our managed L2/L3
switches offer speeds up to ten Gigabit and incRaower over Ethernet (PoE) options for poweringhBnes, wireless network access points,
IP cameras and other critical business networkagogs.

Our NetVanta UC solutions enable businesses witto 3000 employees realize the benefits of UC s€HgC products deliver end-to-end
Unified Communications that bridge the gap betwedgphony, desktop communications productivity bodiness processes. Utilizing CEBP,
NetVanta UC solutions enable businesses to incneasdorce productivity and improve customer seevi©ur 7000 Series |

Communications solutions deliver an integratedgleibox solution for small business communicatioesds and combine the features of an |
PBX with the functionality of an Ethernet switchpraulti-service router, security features and WANmectivity. Our NetVanta UC Server
enables CEBP while providing simplicity and valoébtisinesses that want to make a smooth trangibomsimple telephony to a UC solution
without sacrificing PBX and business systems innesits. There are five platforms in the NetVantaddditions portfolio: NetVanta 7000 UC
Appliances, NetVanta UC Server, NetVanta Busingsglidation Server, NetVanta Enterprise CommunicetiServer and NetVanta Business
Communications System.

Common Internetworking Software

We view the continued development and evolutioowfinternetworking software as critical to our sess in bringing feature-rich, reliable,
solutions to market. As such, our internetworkin§ware is common across many of our productsj@iping our product development
resources and minimizing time to market for newdpigis and features. It also ensures common coatligar practices, policies, protection
schemes, and management interfaces for our catrs#éomers providing an advantage from a TCO petisjgec

Configuration and Network Management

We develop and support network productivity toald aystems to centralize the configuration and meameent of our internetworking
products. These tools aid in the management ofer&sapowered by our internetworking products araduide the nCommand Managed
Service Provider (MSP) management platform. nContMa8P streamlines service providers’ product lifele management efforts including
remote monitoring and management of NetVanta oalTAatcess solutions. A web-based platform, nCommdBe simplifies new device
deployment and enables MSPs, service providergatatprise IT organizations to deliver on SLAs, ioy@ customer service response time,
reduce network downtime and proactively monitor esqbrt network performance, all while reducing rgpenal costs.
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Service and Suppol

In addition to our product portfolio, we offer tetbal support services to ensure we are respotsigestomers who have deployed our
networking and infrastructure solutions. We provide-sales and post-sales technical support aadiety of training options. We also offer a
complete portfolio of professional services undar BroServices organization. We offer ProStartiltstion and ProCare maintenance service
designed to protect customers’ networks from unsssg downtime. ProServices guarantees prioritgsecto technical support engineers and
offers five different maintenance programs randnogn five days-a-week, eight hours-a-day and nesiress day equipment replacement to
seven days-a-week, 24 hours-a-day and equipmeatcmpent within four hours of notification. Ourgee and support offerings are available
to all of our customers.

We began offering hosted and managed cloud seriricd¥13 as an extension of our ProServices orgéioiz. ProCloud Wi-Fi offers a fully
managed, business-class Wi-Fi service, built ore&beket VWLAN. ProCloud Wi-Fi service is flexibladascalable, ensures a secure, reliable
wireless network, provides proactive 7x24 netwodnitoring and management reports, and includeskeaynservices to reduce IT support
burdens. When coupled with ProStart and ProCarePmCloud service offers complete, turn-key wissl& AN installation, maintenance and
management.

Customers
We have a diverse customer base which is segmbagsdi on the markets served, and typically withirtheof our two divisions.

Customers of ou€arrier Networks Division include major service providers, independent comgaiions operating companies, competitive
service providers, Internet service providersjtigd, municipalities and wireless service provedévlajor service providers and many smaller
providers require product approval prior to adogptinvendor’s products for use in their networks. &k&involved in a constant process of
submitting new and succeeding generations of ptsdoc approval. Our products are widely deployediany of the service provider
networks.

Customers of ouEnterprise Networks Divisionin the United States include major service prowdardependent communications companies
and competitive service providers. Additionally, EMrganizations purchase our solutions throughaatier distribution channel. The two-tier
distribution channel is comprised of several ladiggtributor partners and an extensive network oRgAas described in “Distribution, Sales anc
Marketing” below. Furthermore, our Enterprise Netigosolutions are deployed internationally in vagaegions. Vertical markets where our
solutions are used include retail, food servicaltheare, finance, government, education, manufaciumilitary, transportation, hospitality
and energy/utility.

Two customers, CenturyLink, Inc. and Deutsche TalelAG, comprised more than 10 percent of our regén2013. The revenues from th
customers are reported in both the Carrier NetwarkkEnterprise Networks segments.

For a discussion of risks associated with customeesvice providers and approval processes,‘Risk Factors — The lengthy approval
process required by major and other service prordder new products could result in fluctuationsoar revenu”, “Risk Factors —We depen
heavily on sales to certain customers; the losangfof these customers would significantly redugerevenues and net income”, and “Risk
Factors— Consolidation and deterioration in the compe#tservice provider market could result in a sigifit decrease in our revenue”, in
Item 1A of this repor

Distribution, Sales and Marketing

We sell ourCarrier Networks products globally through a combination of a dirgalies organization and a distribution network. @itect
sales organization supports major accounts andffiass located in a number of domestic and inteéonal locations. Sales to most competi
service providers and independent telephone corapanme fulfilled through a combination of dirediesaand major technology distribution
companies.

Prior to placing any orders, service providersagfy require lengthy product qualification andretardization processes that can extend for
several months or years. Orders, if any, are tylgipdaced under single or multi-year supply agreeis that are generally not subject to
minimum volume commitments. Service providers galfeprefer having two or more suppliers for mosiducts, so individual orders are
usually subject to competition based on some coatioin of total value, service, price, delivery, anter terms.

Similar to Carrier Networks products, Enterprisevaks products are fulfilled through a combinatafrdirect sales and major technology
distribution companies. This is supported by adisales organization for major accounts, and amdlabased sales organization to facilitate
sales to our partners. VARs and system integramans be affiliated with the company as a channetheay or they may purchase from a
distributor in an unaffiliated fashion. Affiliatguhrtners participate with us at various progranelevbased on sales volume and other facto
receive benefits such as product discounts, malketiopment funds, technical support and trainidg.maintain field offices world-wide to
support direct sales, distributors, VARs and systgegrators.



Table of Contents

Outside of the United States, most Carrier prodacssold through our direct sales organizationEamerprise products are sold through
distribution arrangements customized for each rediach region is supported by a field office thifers sales and support functions, and in
some cases, warehousing and manufacturing support.

Our field sales organizations, distributors, andise provider customers receive support from regidased marketing, sales, and customer
support groups. Under certain circumstances, dtbadquarters personnel may be involved in salested activities.

Research and Developme

Rapidly changing technologies, evolving industanstards, changing customer requirements, and eimginlevelopments in communications
service offerings characterize the markets forpraducts. Our continuing ability to adapt to thebanges and to develop new and enhanced
products that meet or anticipate market demandaigraficant factor influencing our competitive jitien and our prospects for growth.

During 2013, 2012, and 2011, product developmepéeditures totaled $131.1 million, $126.0 milliamd $100.3 million, respectively. Our
product development activities are an important phour strategy. Because of rapidly changing metbgy and evolving industry standards,
we plan to maintain an emphasis on product devedopmach year.

We strive to deliver innovative network access sois that lower the total cost of deploying seegicincrease the level of performance
achievable with established infrastructures, reciperating and capital expense for our customecsease network bandwidth and
functionality, and extend network reach. Our depeient process is conducted in accordance with I8 9TL 9000, and ISO 14001, which
are international standards for quality and envitental management systems.

We develop most of our products internally, althowge sometimes license intellectual property fa mscertain products. Internal
development gives us more control over design aadufacturing issues related to our products angecloontrol over product costs. Our
ability to continually reduce product costs is arportant part of our overall business strategy. @oduct development efforts are often
centered on entering a market with improved teagglallowing us to offer products at competitivecps. We then compete for market share
We continually re-engineer successive generatibtiseoproduct to improve our product costs.

Product development activities focus on productsuigport both existing and emerging technologigeéncommunications industry in
segments of our markets that we consider viablerma® opportunities. We are actively engaged inldpiregg and refining technologies to
support data, voice, and video transport primanilgr IP/Ethernet network architectures. This inekieEthernet aggregation, fiber optic
transport and access, DSL access, access routhmynet switching, wireless LANS, integrated accesaverged services, VolIP, network
management, and professional services.

A centralized research function supports produeebigment efforts throughout the company. This grprovides guidance to our various
product design and engineering teams in digitalaigrocessing technologies, computer simulatiahrandeling, CAD/CAM tool sets, custc
semiconductor design, industry standards, and t#abital forecasting.

Many communications issues, processes and techieslage governed by Standards Development OrgamizaSDOSs). These SDOs consist
of representatives from various manufacturers,iseproviders and testing laboratories workingdtablish specifications and compliance
guidelines for emerging communications technolagi#s are an active participant in several SDOsleaw assisted with the development of
worldwide standards in many technologies.

Our SDO activities are primarily in the area ofdmband access. This includes involvement with ITdleGommunications sector (ITU-T),
ATIS, ETSI, NICC (UK Interoperability Standardshdathe Broadband Forum (BBF). We continue to belived in the evolution of optical
access technologies, participating in activitiethm ITU-T, ATIS, FSAN, and BBF on next-generatP@N. We are also involved in standards
development efforts related to maximizing the baidtlwpotential of the copper pair to enable newliapfions. We participate in the ITU-T,
where VDSL2, now with enhanced performance fromégfdr, and its short-range successor, G.Fast arg Heveloped. We continue to be
involved with the industry-wide interoperabilityeformance testing, and system-level projectsedltt those standards in the Broadband
Forum. We are also members of MEF, Wi-Fi AlliangéHA) and the ETSI Network Functions Virtualizatibrdustry Specification Group
(NFV-ISG).

For a discussion of risks associated with our reskand development activities, ‘Risk Factors — We must continue to update and owpr
our products and develop new products in orderdimpete and to keep pace with improvements in coimatioms technology” and “Risk
Factors— We engage in research and development activdigaprove the application of developed technolsgénd as a consequence may
miss certain market opportunities enjoyed by largempanies with substantially greater research dadelopment efforts who may focus on
more leading edge development”, in Item 1A of teort.
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Manufacturing and Operations

The principal steps in our manufacturing proceshiite the purchase and management of materialnddg testing, final inspection, packing
and shipping. We purchase parts and componentedassembly of some products from a large numibeuppliers through a worldwide
sourcing program. In addition, we manage a prottegsdentifies the components that are best pgegthdirectly by contract manufacturers
use in the assembly of our products to achieve faaturing efficiency, quality and cost objectiv€ertain key components used in our
products are currently available from a single sepand other key components are available from atimited number of sources. In the past
we have experienced delays in the receipt of ¢ekiay components, which has resulted in delayslated product deliveries. We attempt to
manage these risks through developing alternativecss, by staging inventories at strategic looatithrough engineering efforts designed to
obviate the necessity of certain components, anthdiptaining close contact and building long-teatationships with our suppliers.

We rely on subcontractors for assembly and testfrigertain printed circuit board assemblies, sudeawlies, chassis, enclosures and
equipment shelves, and to purchase some of thenaterials used in such assemblies. We typicallyufanture our lower-volume, higher-mix
product assemblies at our manufacturing site intslulte, Alabama. We continue to build and test n@educt prototypes and many of our
initial production units for our products in Hunilé®, and later transfer the production of highwwole, low-mix assemblies to our
subcontractors. Subcontract assembly operationgeogthen fulfillment cycle times, but we believe wan respond more rapidly to
uncertainties in incoming order rates by selectisgembly subcontractors having significant reseapacity and flexibility. Our subcontractc
have proven to be flexible and able to meet oufiyuzquirements. We conduct the majority of adlrtsactions with our foreign suppliers in
United States currency.

The majority of shipments of products to our U.&stomers occur from our facilities in Huntsvillelahama, although we do fulfill customer
orders from other locations near our customersssit he majority of our products shipped to EMEAtomers occur from locations in that
region. We also ship directly from suppliers touser of customers in the U.S. and internationzdtions. Many of our facilities are certified
pursuant to the most current releases of ISO 9DDB000, and ISO 14001. Our Huntsville facilitieg &).S. Customs-Trade Partnership
Against Terrorism (C-TPAT) certified. Our produet® also certified to certain other telephone commandards, including those relating to
emission of electromagnetic energy and safety fpations.

For a discussion of risks associated with manufaectuactivities, se‘Risk Factors — Our strategy of outsourcing a portiof our
manufacturing requirements to subcontractors loddteAsia or other international regions may resalius not meeting our cost, quality or
performance standar” and “Risk Factors — Our dependence on a limitadnber of suppliers may prevent us from deliveringgroducts on
a timely basis, which could have a material adveffect on customer relations and operating resuitsitem 1A of this report.

Competition

We compete in markets for networking and commuigoatequipment for service providers, businessagmpment agencies and other
organizations worldwide. Our products and servaggport the transfer of data, voice and video @csesvice providers’ fiber, copper and
wireless infrastructures, as well as across wida aetworks, local area networks, and the Internet.

The markets for our products are intensely competiNumerous competitors exist in each of our pmpédegments. Intensely competitive
conditions and recent declines in economic activétye resulted in competitor consolidations, baptaies and liquidations. Consumer
acceptance of alternative communications technetoglich as coaxial cable and cellular-based serthe¢ compete with our products has
grown in recent years. Competition might furthesr@éase if new technologies emerge, new compantes #@ market, or existing competitors
expand their product lines.
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For ourCarrier Networks Division , factors influencing the markets in which we cathg compete or may compete in the future incluge t
ability to:

» Help the customer solve networking problems withia confines of restrained capital budg
»  Offer globally competitive solutions against a difnt set of competitors than in the United St
» Deliver solutions that fit the distributed netwargimodel being deployed by most service provic

» Deliver solutions for service provider networkstlasy increasingly focus on network transformaticanvergence, and integration
of services

» Deliver solutions at attractive price poin
» Deliver reliability and redundancy, especially Fagher bandwidth product
« Adapt to new network technologies as they evc
» Compete effectively against large companies witatgr resource
» Deliver products when needed by the custol
» Deliver responsive customer service, technical sttpgnd training; an
» Assist customers requiring |-assembled, turnkey systems and professional ser
Competitors of our Carrier Networks Division inckuthrge, established companies such as Alcatelftu€aéena, ECI Telecom, Fuijitsu,

Huawei, Tellabs, and ZTE. There are also a numbemaller, specialized companies with which we cetapsuch as Actelis, Calix Networks,
Cyan, Overture Networks, Zhone Technologies, ahdrgbrivately held firms.

For ourEnterprise Networks Division, factors influencing the markets in which we cathe compete or may compete in the future incluuh
ability to:
» Satisfy the custom’s need for a cc-efficient alternative to established internetwogksuppliers

» Satisfy the customer’s need to utilize the most-effective combination of transmission technolagie@ connect geographically
dispersed location:

» Increase network performance and lower the cust's cost for communications services and equipn
» Add capacity and migrate to new or different tedbgies without a major system upgra
e Continue to develop and support established platic
»  Offer products to address new networking technel®gi a timely manne
» Deliver reliability and system backup, especiatly figher bandwidth product
» Adapt to new network technologies as they evc
» Deliver responsive customer service, technical ettnd training; an
» Assist customers requiring haron installation and maintenanc
Competitors of our Enterprise Networks Divisionlirae: Aerohive, Aruba Networks, Avaya, Cisco Sysiefxtreme Networks, Hewlett

Packard, Juniper Networks, Ruckus, ShoreTel, alner@maller companies. Some of these companieseteripa single product segment,
while others compete across multiple product lines.

For further discussion of risks associated with oampetition, se“Risk Factors — We must continue to update and owprour products and
develop new products in order to compete and tp keee with improvements in communications teclgydland “Risk Factors — We
compete in markets that have become increasinghpetitive, which may result in reduced gross pro@irgins and market share”, in Item 1A
of this report.
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Backlog and Inventory

A substantial portion of our shipments in any flgpariod relate to orders received and shippetian fiscal period for customers under
agreements containing non-binding purchase commisn€&urther, a significant percentage of ordegsire delivery within a few days. These
factors normally result in very little order bacglor order flow visibility. Additionally, backlogelels may vary because of seasonal trends,
timing of customer projects and other factors Hiédct customer order lead times. We believe tkeatbse we fill a substantial portion of
customer orders within the fiscal quarter of retdipcklog is not a meaningful indicator of actsales for any succeeding period.

To meet this type of demand, we have implementeglgichain management systems to manage the piodyrbcess. We also maintain a
substantial finished goods inventory. Our practitenaintaining sufficient inventory levels to assyrompt delivery of our products and
services increases the amount of inventory thatlbe@pme obsolete. The obsolescence of this inwemay require us to write down the va
of the obsolete inventory, which may have an adveffect on our operating results.

Government Requlation

Our products must comply with various regulationd atandards established by communications aurit various countries, as well as
those of certain international bodies. For instaeoeironmental legislation within the European &im{EU) may increase our cost of doing
business as we amend our products to comply wibetihequirements. The EU issued directives on éstrigtion of the Use of Certain
Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electrogiginent (RoHS), Waste Electrical and ElectroniciBment (WEEE), and the
Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Resimit of Chemicals (REACH). We continue to implemaergasures to comply with the RoHS
directive, the WEEE directive and the REACH regolaias individual countries issue their implementaguidance.

For further discussion of risks associated withgwownent regulation, se‘Risk Factors — Our products may not continue tongdy with
evolving regulations governing their sale, whichynii@rm our business” and “Risk Factors — Regulatand potential physical impacts of
climate change and other natural events may affacitustomers and our production operations, résgltn adverse effects on our operating
results”, in ltem 1A of this report.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 2,010 full-time leryges in the United States and in our internatisabsidiaries located in Canada,
Mexico, the Asia-Pacific region, Europe and the dfiédEast region. The majority of ADTRAN GmbH empdeg, our subsidiary in Germany,
are subject to collective bargaining agreementstber the Association of Metal and Electrical Iatty in Berlin and Brandenburg e.V. or
NORDMETALL Association of Metal and Electrical Insiuy e.V. A small number of our other employeesrapesented by a collecti
bargaining agreement. We have never experienceatlastoppage and we believe that our relationshitp @aur employees is good.

We also utilize contractors and temporary employeesrious manufacturing, engineering and salpscidies, domestically and
internationally, as needed.

Intellectual Property

The ADTRAN corporate logo is a registered tradenwdrRDTRAN. The name “ADTRAN” is a registered tradark of ADTRAN. A number
of our product identifiers and names also are tegis. We claim rights to a number of unregistérademarks as well.

We have ownership of over 500 patents wavide related to our products and have over 180Ctiaddil patent applications pending, of whic
least eight have been approved and are in the ggaifébeing issued by various patent offices waride. Our patents expire at various dates
between May 2014 and June 2032. We will continusetek additional patents from time to time relatedur research and development
activities. We do not derive any material amountesenue from the licensing of our patents.

We protect our intellectual property and proprigtaghts in accordance with good legal and busimpeastices. We believe, however, that our
competitive success will not depend on the ownprehintellectual property, but instead will depeprimarily on the innovative skills,
technical competence and marketing abilities ofpmrsonnel.

The communications industry is characterized byettistence of an ever-increasing volume of paitgation and licensing activities. From
time to time we receive and may continue to recaices of claims alleging that we are infringungon patents or other intellectual property.
We cannot predict whether we will prevail in angiois or litigation over alleged infringements, drether we will be able to license any valid
and infringed patents, or other intellectual préypesn commercially reasonable terms. It is posgsibht litigation may result in significant leg
costs and judgments. Any intellectual propertyiilfement claims, or related litigation against piuls, could have a material adverse effect o
our business and operating results.
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For a discussion of risks associated with our ietgtlual property and proprietary rights, s“Risk Factors — Our failure to maintain rights to
intellectual property used in our business coulderdely affect the development, functionality, emehmercial value of our products”, in
Item 1A of this repor

Available Information

A copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as wadlour Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repm Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports, are available frebasfie on the Internet at our Web site, www.adtiam, as soon as reasonably practicable
(generally, within one day) after we electronicdllg these reports with, or furnish these reptotshe Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). The reference to our Web site address datesomstitute incorporation by reference of th@infation contained on the Web site, which
information should not be considered part of tlisuinent. You may also read and copy any material§levwith the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washingtd@, P0549. The public may obtain information on diperation of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The &&@htains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that costaur reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information thathave filed electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 399ovides a safe harbor for forward-looking statsts made by or on behalf of ADTRAN.
ADTRAN and its representatives may from time te timake written or oral forwarlooking statements, including statements containedis
report and our other filings with the SEC and otkemmunications with our stockholders. Generalig, words, “believe,” “expect,”

“intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “will,” “may,” “could” and similar expressions identify forward#&ing statements. We caution you that
any forward-looking statements made by or on otnalfeare subject to uncertainties and other factihrat could cause these statements to be
wrong. Some of these uncertainties and other facoe listed below. Though we have attempted tedismprehensively these important
factors, we caution investors that other factorsymeove to be important in the future in affectmg operating results. New factors eme

from time to time, and it is not possible for uptedict all of these factors, nor can we assessripact each factor or combination of fact
may have on our business.

You are further cautioned not to place undue ra@on those forward-looking statements becausegpegk only of our views as of the date
the statements were made. We undertake no obligatipublicly update or revise any forward-lookistgtements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excepteaglired by law.

The following are some of the risks that couldafteir financial performance or could cause actredults to differ materially from those
expressed or implied in our forward-looking stateise

Our operating results may fluctuate in future perds, which may adversely affect our stock price.

Our operating results have been and will contiruieet subject to quarterly and annual fluctuatiana eesult of numerous factors. These fac
include, but are not limited to:

e Fluctuations in demand for our products and sesyiespecially with respect to significant netwoxkansion projects undertaken
by communications service provide

e Continued growth of communications network traffitd the adoption of communication services andiegtns by enterprise and
consumer end usetl

» Changes in sales and implementation cycles fopoaducts and reduced visibility into our customey@ending plans and
associated revenu

* Reductions in demand for our legacy products asteetinologies gain acceptan
»  Our ability to maintain appropriate inventory levaind purchase commitmer

e Price and product competition in the communicatiand networking industries, which can change rgpidie to technological
innovation;

e The overall movement toward industry consolidatomong both our competitors and our custorr

» Our dependence on sales of our products by chaanlers, the timing of their replenishment ordtére,potential for conflicts and
competition involving our channel partners and éaggd use customers and the potential for consmiidamong our channel
partners

e Variations in sales channels, product cost or miproducts and services so
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» Delays in receiving product acceptance from certastomers as defined under contract, for shipmesss the end of a reporting
period;

»  Our ability to maintain high levels of product sopipand professional service
» Manufacturing and customer order lead tirr
* Fluctuations in our gross margin, and the factioas tontribute to this as described bel
e Our ability to achieve cost reductior
e The ability of our customers, channel partners, supbliers to obtain financing or to fund capitgbenditures
e Our ability to execute on our strategy and opeggfitans;
» Benefits anticipated from our investments in engiitgy, sales and marketing activiti
* The effects of climate change and other naturahisy
e The effect of political or economic conditions,r@ist attacks, acts of war, or other unrest inaerinternational markets; ai
» Changes in tax laws and regulations, or accoumingouncement:
As a result, operating results for a particulaufatperiod are difficult to predict, and prior résiare not necessarily indicative of results to be

expected in future periods. Any of the above memibfactors, or other factors discussed elsewlnetds document, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of opermtod financial condition that could adverselgetfiour stock price.

Our revenue for a particular period can be difficuto predict, and a shortfall in revenue may harnuiooperating results.

As a result of the many factors discussed in #ypert, our revenue for a particular quarter isicliff to predict and will fluctuate from quarter
to quarter. Our typical pattern of customer ordecpiests product delivery within a short periodiofwing receipt of an order. Consequently,
do not typically carry a significant order backlegd are dependent upon obtaining orders and ctingpldelivery in accordance with shipping
terms that are predominantly within each quartexdioieve our targeted revenues. Our net sales noayaf a slower rate than in previous
quarters or may decline. Our ability to meet firiahexpectations could also be affected if theatalg sales patterns seen in prior quarters rec
in future quarters. We have experienced periodsr# during which manufacturing issues have delafgédments, leading to variable shipp
patterns. In addition, to the extent that manufdetuissues and any related component shortagek meslelayed shipments in the future, and
particularly in quarters in which we and our sulicactors are operating at higher levels of capattiig possible that revenue for a quarter
could be adversely affected, and we may not betablemediate the conditions within the same quarte

In the past, under certain market conditions, lovanufacturing lead times have caused our custotngrisace the same order multiple times.
When this multiple ordering occurs, along with atfectors, it may cause difficulty in predictingraales and, as a result, could impair our
ability to manage parts inventory effectively.

We plan our operating expense levels based priynamifforecasted revenue levels. These expensethamepact of long-term commitments
are relatively fixed in the short term. A shortfimlrevenue could lead to operating results be&lgw expectations because we may not be ab
to quickly reduce these fixed expenses in resptmshort-term business changes.

The failure to realize future benefits from the aaigition of the NSN BBA business as significantlys ave expect may affect our future
results of operations and financial condition, anmbuld affect our stock price.

On May 4, 2012, we acquired the NSN BBA busine$® fliture revenues of the NSN BBA business may aenally different from those
shown in the 8-K, press release and analystsacalbuncing the planned acquisition transaction¢kvbbuld reduce the anticipated benefits of
the acquisition. Should this occur, we may expegesin adverse effect on our business or negataaioas from the financial markets, which
may cause a decrease in the market price of ock.sto
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General economic conditions may reduce our revenaas harm our operating results.

Economic conditions may contribute to a slowdowedammunications industry spending, including specifarket segments in which we
operate. The potential reoccurrence of these trandgheir duration and depth are difficult to pcedCapital spending for network
infrastructure projects of our largest customerdade delayed or cancelled in response to redooesumer spending, tight capital markets ol
declining liquidity trends. Sustained trends okthature could have a material, adverse effecuomevenues, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customenrsdadistributors may make it difficult to collect @ounts receivable and could adversely
affect our operating results and financial conditio

Most of our sales are made on an open credit Hasgjently with payment terms of 30 to 45 daythie United States and typically longer in
many geographic markets outside the United StaAiesa. result of our acquisition of the NSN BBA buesis, our sales to customers outside of
the United States as a percentage of our totad salee increased, and our total accounts receibaldamce will likely increase. Our days sales
outstanding could also increase as a result otgreaix of international sales. Additionally, intetional laws may not provide the same de:

of protection against defaults on accounts recédvab provided under United States laws governorgastic transactions; therefore, as our
international business grows, we may be subjebigier bad debt expense compared to historicati&re@verall, we monitor individual
customer payment capability in granting such opeditarrangements, seek to limit such open ctedimounts that we believe customers cal
pay, and maintain reserves we believe are adetmatever exposure for doubtful accounts. In thersewf our sales to customers, we may
encounter difficulty collecting accounts receivahtal could be exposed to risks associated withlleatible accounts receivable. We may be
exposed to similar credit risks relating to coliess from distributors of our products, and we gilar processes to monitor and reserve fo
any exposures. Turmoil in the financial marketsldapact certain of our customers’ ability to maiim adequate credit facilities with
financial institutions, thereby potentially impawgitheir ability to pay their debts. While we atfgrto monitor these situations carefully and
attempt to take appropriate measures to colleaats receivable balances, there are no assurargcean avoid accounts receivable write-
downs or write-off of doubtful accounts. Such waitewns or write-offs could negatively affect oureoating results for the period in which
they occur, and could potentially have a materdalease effect on our results of operations anchfire condition.

We expect gross margin to vary over time, and cewdl of product gross margin may not be sustainable
Our level of gross margins may not be sustainatderaay be adversely affected by numerous factoctyding:

» Changes in customer, geographic, or product metuding the mix of configurations and professiosalvices revenue within each
product group

» Introduction of new products by competitors, inéhgdproducts with pric-performance advantage
e Our ability to reduce product co

* Increases in material or labor cc

» Expediting costs incurred to meet customer deliveguirements

» Excess inventory and inventory holding char

* Obsolescence charge

» Changes in shipment volurr

» Our ability to absorb fixed manufacturing costsidgrshor-term fluctuations in customer dema

* Loss of cost savings due to changes in componéihgror charges incurred due to inventory holdiegiods if parts ordering does
not correctly anticipate product dema

* Lower than expected benefits from value enginee

* Increased price competition, including competifoosn Asia, especially Chin:
e Changes in distribution channe

* Increased warranty co:

» Liquidated damages costs relating to customer aotutal terms; an

e Our ability to manage the impact of foreign curneegchange rate fluctuations relating to our act®uveceivable and accounts
payable
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We must continue to update and improve our produaigl develop new products in order to compete amdep pace with
improvements in communications technology.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidly changing technology, evolving industry startt$, and continuing improvements in
communications service offerings of common serpic®iders. If technologies or standards applicableur products, or common service
provider offerings based on our products, beconslele or fail to gain widespread commercial acmepe, our existing products or products
under development may become obsolete or unmatketdbreover, the introduction of products embodyiew technologies, the emergence
of new industry standards, or changes in commoricgeprovider offerings could adversely affect ability to sell our products. For instance,
we offer a large number of products that apply prily to the delivery of high-speed digital commeations over the local loop utilizing
copper wire. We compete favorably with our compesitby developing a high-performance line of theselucts. We market products that
apply to fiber optic transport in the local loopeWxpect, however, that use of coaxial cable anbilmwireless access in place of local loop
access will increase. Also, MSOs are increasing gresence in the local loop. To meet the requéets of these new delivery systems and to
maintain our market position, we may have to dgvelew products or modify existing products.

Our sales and profitability in the past have, ggmificant extent, resulted from our ability totigipate changes in technology, industry
standards and common service provider offerings tamlevelop and introduce new and enhanced pred@cir continued ability to adapt will
be a significant factor in maintaining or improviagr competitive position and our prospects fomglo We cannot assure that we will be able
to respond effectively to changes in technologglustry standards, common service provider offerorgsew product announcements by our
competitors. We also cannot assure that we willlile to successfully develop and market new praedoicproduct enhancements, or that thes
products or enhancements will achieve market aaoept Should the rate of decline in sales of gettaditional TDM based products exceed
the rate of market acceptance and growth in sdlearmewer IP-based products, our revenues magdbersely affected. Any failure by us to
continue to anticipate or respond in a cost-eféecéind timely manner to changes in technology,strgiistandards, common service provider
offerings, or new product announcements by our aditgus, or any significant delays in product deypshent or introduction, could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to competity market our products and on our revenues, tesiéilbperations and financial condition.

Our products may not continue to comply with evalgiregulations governing their sale, which may harour business.

Our products must comply with various regulatioegional standards established by communicatiotigaties, import/export control
authorities or other authorities who control the@xtion of trade agreements in various countriesyell as those of certain international
bodies. Although we believe our products are culyen compliance with domestic and internationanglards and regulations in countries in
which we currently sell, there can be no assurdmatwe will be able to design our products to clymyth evolving standards and regulations
in the future. Changes in domestic or internati@mehmunications regulations, tariffs, applicatiequirements, import/export controls or
expansion of regulation to new areas, includinggasccommunications or commerce over the Intenmay, affect customer demand for our
products or slow the adoption of new technologibg&tv may affect our sales. Further, the cost ofging with the evolving standards and
regulations, or the failure to obtain timely donest foreign regulatory approvals or certificatismch that we may not be able to sell our
products where these standards or regulations ampaly adversely affect our results of operatiors famancial condition.

Our failure or the failure of our contract manufactrers to comply with applicable environmental regtilons could adversely impact
our results of operations.

The manufacture, assembly and testing of our pitsduay require the use of hazardous materialsatieasubject to environmental, health and
safety regulations. Our failure or the failure of @ontract manufacturers to comply with any okthapplicable requirements could result in
regulatory penalties, legal claims or disruptiorpadduction. In addition, our failure or the faguof our contract manufacturers to properly
manage the use, transportation, emission, dischst@@ge, recycling or disposal of hazardous rissecould subject us to increased costs or
liabilities. Existing and future environmental réafions may restrict our use of certain materialmfinufacture, assemble and test

products. Any of these consequences could adveraplgct our results of operations by increasingexyrenses and/or requiring us to alter ou
manufacturing processes.
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If our products do not interoperate with our custars’ networks, installations may be delayed or cated, which could harm our
business.

Our products must interface with existing netwosach of which may have different specificatiort#ize multiple protocol standards and
incorporate products from other vendors. Many afaustomers’ networks contain multiple generatiohproducts that have been added over
time as these networks have grown and evolved pfgucts may be required to interoperate with marsil of the products within these
networks as well as future products in order totoee customers’ requirements. If we find errorgha existing software or defects in the
hardware used in our customengtworks, we may have to modify our software odiaare to fix or overcome these errors so that oodyicts
will interoperate with the existing software anddware. Such issues may affect our ability to ebbduct acceptance from other customers
Implementation of product corrections involvingeardperability issues could increase our costs dndraely affect our results of operations.

The lengthy approval process required by major asttier service providers for new products could résn fluctuations in our
revenue.

In the industry in which we compete, a supplier tiust obtain product approval from a major ore@tiservice provider to sell its products to
them. This process can last from six to 18 mordh&nger, depending on the technology, the sempiogider, and the demand for the product
from the service provider’s subscribers. Consedyent are involved in a constant process of sutimgitfor approval succeeding generations
of products, as well as products that deploy nehrtelogy or respond to new technology demands f&armajor or other service provider. We
have been successful in the past in obtaining tappeovals. However, we cannot be certain that Wleohtain these approvals in the future or
that sales of these products will continue to ocAuy attempt by a major or other service provigeseek out additional or alternative
suppliers, or to undertake, as permitted underiegdge regulations, the production of these praglirdernally, could have a material adverse
effect on our operating results. Furthermore, tbleylin sales until the completion of the apprqualcess, the length of which is difficult to
predict, could result in fluctuations of revenu@ ameven operating results from quarter to quantgear to year.

We engage in research and development activitiesnprove the application of developed technologiasd as a consequence may n
certain market opportunities enjoyed by larger coampes with substantially greater research and demhent efforts who may focus
on more leading edge development.

A portion of our research and development actisitiee focused on the refinement and redefinitiomcokss technologies that are currently
accepted and commonly practiced, which may inckrmerging technologies not yet widely distributetbas all networks. These research anc
development efforts result in improved applicatiofitechnologies for which demand already existis datent. We rarely engage in research
projects that represent a vast departure fromuheict business practices of our key customers iflsludes pioneering new services and
participating in leading edge field trials or deratyation projects for new technologies. While widwe our strategy provides a higher
likelihood of producing nearer term revenue streahis strategy could reduce our ability to infleenindustry standards and share in the
establishment of intellectual property rights asstec with new technologies, and could result 8t levenue opportunities should a new
technology achieve rapid and widespread marketpaocee.

We depend heavily on sales to certain customers;ltgss of any of these customers would significgrgduce our revenues and net
income.

Historically, a large percentage of our sales Haen made to major service providers and largexpeddent communications companies. In
2013, these customers continued to comprise ovkohaur revenue. As long as the major and laigdependent communications companies
represent such a substantial percentage of ourstaltss, our future success will significantly degepon certain factors which are not within
our control, including:

» the timing and size of future purchase ordersnyf, érom these customel
» the product requirements of these custorr

» the financial and operational success of thesemests;

» the impact of legislative and regulatory changesh@se customer

» the success of these custor’ services deployed using our products;

« the impact of work stoppages at these custor
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Sales to our large customers have, in the pastutited and may fluctuate significantly from quettequarter and year to year. The loss of, or
a significant reduction or delay in, sales to amghscustomer or the occurrence of sales fluctuattmuld have a material adverse effect on ou
business and results of operations. Further, @eynat by a major or other service provider to seatkadditional or alternative suppliers or to
undertake, as permitted under applicable regulstithre production of these products internally |¢dave a material adverse effect on our
operating results.

There has been a trend toward industry consolidati@ur markets for several years. We expecttthigd to continue as companies attempt to
strengthen or hold their market positions and aspamies are acquired or are unable to continueatipes. This could lead to variability in c
operating results and could have a material adwaffeet on our business, operating results, arahfifal condition. In addition, particularly in
the service provider market, rapid consolidatioh l@ad to fewer customers, with the effect théwss of a major customer could have a
material impact on our results that we would natehanticipated in a marketplace composed of monmeemaus participants.

Our strategy of outsourcing a portion of our manuféuring requirements to subcontractors located irsi& or other international
regions may result in us not meeting our cost, gityabr performance standards.

We are heavily dependent on subcontractors foasisembly and testing of certain printed circuitrdaessemblies, subassemblies, chassis,
enclosures and equipment shelves, and the purofiasene raw materials used in such assemblies.r&li@ce involves several risks,
including the unavailability of, or interruptions,iaccess to certain process technologies andeddwomtrol over product quality, delivery
schedules, transportation, manufacturing yieldscrsts. We may not be able to provide product ovdemes to our subcontractors that are
high enough to achieve sufficient cost savingshlpments fall below forecasted levels, we may limgcreased costs or be required to take
ownership of excess inventory. Changes in inteonatitariff structures could adversely impact oroduct costs. In addition, a significant
component of maintaining cost competitivenessesatility of our subcontractors to adjust their cowsts to compensate for possible adverse
exchange rate movements. To the extent that thepstiactors are unable to do so, and we are unalpleocure alternative product supplies,
then our own competitiveness and results of opmratcould be adversely impaired. These risks magxbeerbated by economic or political
uncertainties, terrorist actions, the effects ohate change, natural disasters or pandemics ifoteégn countries in which our subcontractors
are located.

To date, we believe that we have successfully meshétge risks of our dependence on these subcamrtsattrough a variety of efforts, which
include seeking and developing alternative subeatdrs while maintaining existing relationshipsiewer, we cannot be assured that dela
product deliveries will not occur in the future bese of shortages resulting from this limited nunddesubcontractors or from the financial or
other difficulties of these parties. Our inabilitydevelop alternative subcontractors if and asired in the future, or the need to undertake
required retraining and other activities relate@stablishing and developing a new subcontractatioeship, could result in delays or
reductions in product shipments which, in turn,lddwave a negative effect on our customer relatigmsand operating results.

Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers npagvent us from delivering our products on a tigddasis, which could have a
material adverse effect on customer relations argkoating results.

Certain raw materials and key components usedripaducts are currently available from only onarse, and others are available from only
a limited number of sources. The availability ofdk raw materials and supplies may be subject tkenforces beyond our control. From time
to time, there may not be sufficient quantitiesasf materials and supplies in the marketplace tetrmestomer demand. Many companies
utilize the same raw materials and supplies thatleven the production of their products. Compami#s more resources than our own may
have a competitive advantage in obtaining raw meeand supplies due to greater buying power. &li@stors can result in reduced supply,
higher prices of raw materials, and delays in #e®ipt of certain of our key components, whichuimtmay generate increased costs, lower
margins, and delays in product delivery, with aresponding adverse effect on sales, customerarkdtips, and revenue. Furthermore, due to
general economic conditions in the United Statesgdobally, our suppliers may experience finandifficulties, which could result in
increased delays, additional costs, or loss ofpplgr. We attempt to manage these risks througkeldping alternative sources, by staging
inventories at strategic locations, through engimgeefforts designed to obviate the necessityesfain components, and by building long-termn
relationships and close contact with each of oyrdugopliers; however, we cannot assure you thatydeh or failures of deliveries of key
components, either to us or to our contract manufars, and consequent delays in product delivew#snot occur in the future.
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The SEC has adopted disclosure requirements reggttae use of “conflict minerals” mined from therDecratic Republic of Congo and
adjoining countries and procedures to identifygbarce of such minerals included in manufacturedipets. The required disclosures begin in
2014, and will require us to incur additional castserify the origins of the identified mineralsad and comply with disclosure requirements.
The implementation of these requirements couldcatfee availability of minerals used in the manttfiae of a limited number of parts
contained in our products. This may reduce the rarrobsuppliers who provide conflict-free mineralad may affect our ability to obtain
products in sufficient quantities or at competitprices. Our material sourcing is broad based amiti-trered. While we are taking steps to
identify sourcing based on recommended standardsufoindustry, we may not be able to conclusiwayify the origins for all minerals used
in our products. An inability to make a sourcingegtenination of minerals in our products could imipawar revenues and harm our financial
condition should our customers require that welfyetiat all components used in our products aee f minerals from this region.

We compete in markets that have become increasitgiynpetitive, which may result in reduced gross fitrmargins and market share

The markets for our products are intensely comipetiddditional manufacturers have entered the ®tarkn recent years to offer products in
competition with us. Additionally, certain compasigave, in recent years, developed the abilityetiver competing products using coaxial
cable and cellular transmission, especially in fdghsity metropolitan areas. Competition wouldHartincrease if new companies enter the
market or existing competitors expand their prodinets. Some of these potential competitors mayelgeater financial, technological,
manufacturing, sales and marketing, and persoeselrces than we have. As a result, these comzatitay be able to respond more rapidly
or effectively to new or emerging technologies ahdnges in customer requirements, withstand sagmifiprice decreases, or devote greater
resources to the development, promotion, and $atewo products than we can.

In addition, our present and future competitors f@wble to enter our existing or future marketh wroducts or technologies comparable or
superior to those that we offer. An increase in getition could cause us to reduce prices, decreaismarket share, require increased sper
by us on product development and sales and magketircause delays or cancellations in customegrerény one of which could reduce our
gross profit margins and adversely affect our bessrand results of operations.

Our estimates regarding future warranty obligatiomsay change due to product failure rates, shipmentumes, field service
obligations and other rework costs incurred in ceating product failures. If our estimates changetliability for warranty
obligations may be increased or decreased, impagfurture cost of goods sold.

Our products are highly complex, and we cannotrasgou that our extensive product development, rfaauring and integration testing will
be adequate to detect all defects, errors, failanesquality issues. Quality or performance prolsléon products covered under warranty could
adversely impact our reputation and negativelycaféeir operating results and financial positione Bevelopment and production of new
products with high complexity often involves pramble with software, components and manufacturing oashlif significant warranty
obligations arise due to reliability or quality ugs arising from defects in software, faulty comgrus, or manufacturing methods, our opere
results and financial position could be negativieipacted by:

» costs associated with fixing software or hardwafeds;

» high service and warranty expens

» high inventory obsolescence exper

» delays in collecting accounts receival

« payment of liquidated damages for performance ffagluanc
» adecline in sales to existing custom:

Managing our inventory is complex and may includeite-downs of excess or obsolete inventory.

Managing our inventory of components and finisheatipcts is complicated by a number of factors,udirig the need to maintain a significi
inventory of certain components that are in shopipdy, have been discontinued by the component faaturer, that must be purchased in t
to obtain favorable pricing or that require longddimes. These issues may result in our purchasidgnaintaining significant amounts of
inventory, which if not used or expected to be usaskd on anticipated production requirements, lmeapme excess or obsolete. Any exce
obsolete inventory could also result in sales prézhictions and/or inventory writtewns, which could adversely affect our busineskrasult:
of operations.
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The continuing growth of our international operatiws could expose us to additional risks, increase oasts and adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.

We are expanding our presence in international etarkvhich represented 28.9% of our net sales@dB2and as a result, we anticipate
increased sales and operating costs in these railk@s international expansion may increase oeratnal risks and impact our results of
operations, including:

» Exposure to unfavorable commercial terms in certaimtries

» The time and cost to staff and manage foreign dioeis

» The time and cost to maintain good relationshiph winployer associations and works coun
» The time and cost to ensure adequate businesguiptien controls, processes and faciliti

* The time and cost to manage and evolve financpadntag systems, maintain effective financial distlre controls and procedures,
and comply with corporate governance requirementsultiple jurisdictions

* The cost to collect accounts receivable and extarsi collection periods

e The cost and potential disruption of facilitiess@ions required in some business acquisiti

» Less regulation of patents or other safeguardstefiéctual property in certain countri

» Potential impact of adverse tax, customs regulatand transfepricing issues

» Exposureto global social, political and economic instagiliand changes in economic conditio

» Potential exposure to liability or damage of refiotaresulting from a higher incidence of corruptior unethical business practices
in some countries

» Potential trade protection measures, export comgdiassues, domestic preference procurement regeires, qualification to
transact business and additional regulatory remergs;

» Potential exposure to natural disasters, epidearidsacts of war or terrorist

The NSN BBA acquisition may result in future impaént charges and other cost amortizations and meot@assure that revenues from the
acquired business will offset any additional castsirred. If we are unable to successfully addtesgotential risks associated with our overal
international expansion, our operating resultsfarahcial condition may be negatively impacted.

We may be adversely affected by fluctuations inremcy exchange rates.

As our international sales increase or as utilimatf international suppliers expands, we may &anhadditional business in currencies other
than United States currency. As a result, we vélshbject to the possibility of greater effect§as€ign currency exchange translation on our
financial statements. Sales contract commitmendsagnounts receivable balances based on foreigarayr expose us to potential risk of loss
as the value of the United States dollar fluctuatesr time. In addition, for those countries outside United States where we have significant
sales or significant purchases of supplies, detialuan the local currency could make our produntse expensive for customers to purchase
or increase our operating costs, thereby adveedtdgting our competitiveness. When appropriatenveg enter into various derivative
transactions to enhance our ability to manage thetility relating to these typical business expesu If used, the derivative transactions wil
intended to reduce, but not eliminate, the imp&éorign currency exchange rate movements; thezefee generally would not anticipate
hedging all outstanding foreign currency risk. Ehean be no assurance that exchange rate fluagtsatighe future will not have a material
adverse effect on our revenue from internationkgissananufacturing costs, results of operationsfamaahcial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to reduce thiérggprices of succeeding generations of our prazis.

Our strategy is to attempt to increase unit satdgmes and market share each year by introduciogegding generations of products having
lower selling prices and increased functionalityvampared to prior generations of products. To ta#iror increase our revenues and margins
while continuing this strategy, we must continuesome combination, to increase sales volumesisfiey products, introduce and sell new
products, or reduce our per unit costs at ratdgcmrft to compensate for the reduced revenue effecontinuing reductions in the average
sales prices of our products. We cannot assurg¢haiuwe will be able to maintain or increase revenor margins by increasing unit sales
volumes of our products, introducing and sellinvmoducts, or reducing unit costs of our products.
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Breaches in our information systems could causersfigant damage to our business and reputation.

We maintain sensitive data on our information aysteincluding intellectual property, financial datad proprietary or confidential business
information relating to our business, customerslaugness partners. The secure maintenance dhtbisnation is critical to our business and
reputation. We rely upon a number of internal besinprocesses and information systems to supppdgerations and financial functions, and
the efficient operation of these processes anesysts critical. Companies are increasingly subpbtd cyber-attacks and other attempts to
gain unauthorized access. We have multiple layeas@ess control, and devote significant resoutcetata encryption and other security
measures to protect our information technology @mimunications systems. We test our vulnerabilitsiquically and take action to further
secure our networks, yet our network and storagécaions may be subject to unauthorized accessbgrattack or breached due to oper:
error, fraudulent activity or other system disrops. In some cases, it is difficult to anticipaténomediately detect damage caused by such
incidents. Unauthorized access or disclosure ofrdfarmation could compromise our intellectual pedy and expose sensitive business
information. Our information systems are desigreedppropriate industry standards to reduce downitiniee event of power outages, weathel
or climate events and cyber-security issues. Aifsigmt failure of our systems due to these isszmdd result in significant remediation costs,
disrupt business operations, and divert manageaissrition, which could result in harm to our busgeeputation, financial condition and
operating results.

Our failure to maintain rights to intellectual proprty used in our business could adversely affe@ ttevelopment, functionality, and
commercial value of our products.

Our future success depends in part upon our prapyieechnology. Although we attempt to protect proprietary technology by contract,
trademark, copyright and patent registration, anernal security, these protections may not be @akeq Furthermore, our competitors can
develop similar technology independently withouilating our proprietary rights. From time to time weceive and may continue to receive
notices of claims alleging that we are infringingpa patents or other intellectual property. Anyhefse claims, whether with or without merit,
could result in significant legal fees; divert sgnanagement’s time, attention and resources; delaproduct shipments; or require us to enter
into royalty or licensing agreements. We cannotljgtevhether we will prevail in any claims or liigon over alleged infringements, or
whether we will be able to license any valid anfdimged patents, or other intellectual property,commercially reasonable terms. If a claim of
intellectual property infringement against us is@ssful and we fail to obtain a license or develolicense non-infringing technology, our
business, financial condition, and operating resttiuld be affected adversely.

Software under license from third parties for use certain of our products may not continue to bealable to us on commercially
reasonable terms.

We integrate third-party software into certain af products. Licenses for this technology may reatailable or continue to be available to u:
on commercially reasonable terms. Difficulties wtiird party technology licensors could resultémtination of such licenses, which may
result in increased costs or require us to purchaslevelop a substitute technology. Difficulty aining and maintaining thirgarty technolog
licenses may disrupt development of our productsiacrease our costs, which could harm our business

We may incur liabilities or become subject to ligition that would have a material effect on our busiss.

In the ordinary course of business, we accept @selorders, and enter into sales and other redatgdacts, for the marketing, sale,
manufacture, distribution, or use of our productd services. We may incur liabilities relating tar @erformance under such agreements, or
which result from damage claims arising from cer@rents as outlined within the particular contréi¢hile we attempt to structure all
agreements to include normal protection claused) agreements may not always contain, or be sutgeotaximum loss clauses, and
liabilities arising from them may result in sige#int adverse changes to our results of operatimhéimancial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be stibjevarious legal proceedings and claims, inclgd&dmployment disputes, patent claims,
disputes over contract agreements and other conahdigputes. In some cases, claimants seek damagether relief, such as royalty
payments related to patents, which, if grantediccoeguire significant expenditures. Any such diggumay be resolved before trial, or if
litigated, may be resolved in our favor; howevhg tost of claims sustained in litigation, and s@ssociated with the litigation process, may
not be covered by our insurance. Such costs, anddgtands on management time during such an exenid, harm our business and have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity, result®perations and financial condition.
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Consolidation and deterioration in the competitigervice provider market could result in a significadecrease in our revenue.

We sell a moderate volume of products directlyndgliriectly to competitive service providers who catgwith the established ILECs. The
competitive service provider market is experien@ngrocess of consolidation. Many of our compedigervice provider customers do not have
a strong financial position and have limited abitit access the public financial markets for add#l funding for growth and operations. If one
or more of these competitive service providers faéd could face a loss in revenue and an increlaaddiebt expense, due to their inability to
pay outstanding invoices, as well as the corresipgndiecrease in customer base and future revenuthefmore, significant portions of our
sales to competitive service providers are madmutitr independent distributors. The failure of onenore competitive service providers could
also negatively affect the financial position afiatributor to the point that the distributor coalido experience business failure and/or default
on payments to us.

We depend on distributors who maintain inventorieSour products. If the distributors reduce theinventories of these products, our
sales could be adversely affected.

We work closely with our distributors to monitorazinel inventory levels and ensure that appropléatels of product are available to resellers
and end users. If our distributors reduce theielewf inventory of our products, our sales wouddnegatively impacted during the period of
change.

If we are unable to successfully develop relationshwith system integrators, service providers, amderprise value added resellers,
our sales may be negatively affected.

As part of our sales strategy, we are targetintegysntegrators (Sls), service providers (SPs),emdrprise VARSs. In addition to specialized
technical expertise, Sls, SPs and VARs typicalfgro$ophisticated service capabilities that arguiemtly desired by enterprise customers. In
order to expand our distribution channel to incluelgellers with such capabilities, we must be #&blerovide effective support to these
resellers. If our sales, marketing or service caials are not sufficient to provide effective fugst to such Sls, SPs and VARS, our sales may
be negatively affected, and current SI, SP and \WaRners may terminate their relationships withwisich would adversely impact our sales
and overall results of operations.

If we fail to manage our exposure to worldwide finaial and securities markets successfully, our ogting results and financial
statements could be materially impacted.

We are exposed to financial market risks, includihgnges in interest rates and prices of marketahléy and fixed-income securities. The
primary objective of the large majority of our irstment activities is to preserve principal whilgret same time achieving appropriate yields
without significantly increasing risk. To achievastobjective, a majority of our marketable sedesiare investment grade corporate and
municipal fixed-rate bonds, municipal variable rdé&gnand notes and municipal money market instrusrégriominated in United States
dollars. Our investment policy provides limitatidiog issuer concentration, which limits, at theeiwf purchase, the concentration in any one
issuer to 5% of the market value of our total itrrent portfolio.

We have significant investments in corporate andinipal fixed-rate bonds and municipal variableerdemand notes. Through December 31
2013, we have not been required to impair any eé¢hinvestments; however, we may experience atiedun value or loss of liquidity in
these investments, which may have an adverse effiestir results of operations, liquidity and finehcondition. Fixed rate interest securities
may have their fair value adversely impacted dug fise in interest rates, while variable rate gées may produce less income than expectec
if interest rates fall. Our investments are subjeaeneral credit, liquidity, market, and interese risks, which may increase because of
conditions in the financial markets and relateditriéquidity issues. Consequently, our future istraent income may fall short of expectations
due to changes in interest rates, or we may slafses in principal if we are forced to sell setiesithat decline in fair value due to changes in
interest rates.

Our long-term investments include $38.5 milliomadirketable equity securities. At December 31, 2018 total marketable equity securities,
which included 440 individual securities, had utizeal gains of $14.0 million, which includes an ealized gain of $7.6 million related to a
single security. If market conditions deteriorat2014, we may be required to record impairmentgdsrelated to our marketable equity
securities.

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firei@ondition and Results of Operations — Liquidityd Capital Resources” in Item 7,
Part Il of this report and “Quantitative and Quatiite Disclosures about Market Risk” in Item 7ArtR&aof this report for more information
about our investments.
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Changes in our effective tax rate or assessmenisiag from tax audits may have an adverse impactaur results.

We are subject to taxation in various jurisdictiomsth domestically and internationally, in whicle wonduct business. Significant judgment is
required in the determination of our provision iittome taxes and this determination requires ttegpnetation and application of complex anc
sometimes uncertain tax laws and regulations. @ecteve tax rate may be adversely impacted by gkann the mix of earnings between
jurisdictions with different statutory tax rates,the valuation of our deferred tax assets, anchiayges in tax rules and regulations.

instance, the availability and timing of lapsesha United States research tax credit, the acaugiofi uncertain tax positions and the amour
our estimated tax deduction for manufacturer’s dstingoroduction activities under Internal Revenusl € Section 199 may add more
variability to our future effective tax rates. Wierently receive corporate income tax credits uradprogram administered by the Alabama
State Industrial Development Authority in connectigith revenue bonds issued to provide fundingefqransion of our corporate facilities. \
cannot be certain that the state of Alabama wiliticme to make these corporate income tax credégable; therefore, we may not realize the
full benefit of these incentives, which would inase our effective tax rate. Also, employment relatex benefits are currently accounted for in
our effective tax rate. In addition, we are subjectxamination of our income tax returns by thierdmal Revenue Service and various other
jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We tady assess the likelihood of adverse outcomadtiag from these examinations
determine the adequacy of our provision for incaaxes. There can be no assurance that the outdomneshese continuous examinations \
not have an adverse effect on our results of ojpeiaand financial condition.

We are required to periodically evaluate the valoieour long-lived assets, including the value oftamgibles acquired and goodwill
resulting from business acquisitions. Any future pairment charges required may adversely affect @perating results.

Valuation of our long-lived assets requires us akenassumptions about future sales prices andaall@ses for our products. These
assumptions are used to forecast future, undiseduwssh flows. Forecasting future business trendgficult and subject to modification.
Should actual market conditions differ or our f@sis change, we may be required to reassess lmdydssets and could record an impairmer
charge. Any impairment charge relating to longdivassets would have the effect of decreasing auiregs or increasing our losses in such
period.

Our success depends on attracting and retaining keysonnel.

Our business has grown significantly since its jotioe. Our success is dependent in large part ecdntinued employment of our executive
officers, including Thomas R. Stanton, our Chie&Eixtive Officer, and other key management persofite unplanned departure of one or
more of these individuals could adversely affeatlmusiness. In addition, for ADTRAN to continueaasuccessful entity we must also be able
to attract and retain key engineers and technicidrasse expertise helps us maintain competitive maidgges. We believe that our future succes
will depend, in large part, upon our ability to tiome to attract, retain, train, and motivate hygskilled employees who are in great demand.
Stock option grants are designed to reward emp®faetheir long-term contributions and to provideentives for them to remain with us.
Changes to our overall compensation program, imatudur stock option incentive program, may advgraéfect our ability to retain key
employees. Properly managing our continued groaxthiding the problems often resulting from suchvgltoand expansion, and continuing to
operate in the manner which has proven successfid to date will be critical to the future successur business.

Regulatory and potential physical impacts of clineathange and other natural events may affect oustamers and our production
operations, resulting in adverse effects on our ogting results.

There is a growing political and scientific conagnthat emissions of greenhouse gases contindestdlee composition of the atmosphere,
affecting large-scale weather patterns and theagiclbmate. It appears that some form of U.S. fatlexgulation related to greenhouse gas
emissions may occur, and any such regulation a@ddlt in the creation of additional costs in thenf of taxes or emission allowances. The
impact of any future legislation, regulations ooghuct specification requirements on our productslarsiness operations is dependent on the
design of the final mandate or standard, so weiaable to predict its significance at this time.

The potential physical impacts of climate change ater natural events on our customers, suppbeg,on our operations are highly
uncertain, and will be particular to the circumstsdeveloping in various geographical regionss&levents may include changes in weathel
patterns (including drought and rainfall levelsater availability, storm patterns and intensit@sgan levels, temperature levels, earthquakes
and tsunamis. These potential physical effects atlwgrsely affect our revenues, costs, productiahdetivery schedules, and cause harm to
our results of operations and financial condition.
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While we believe our internal control over finandiaeporting is adequate, a failure to maintain efféve internal control over financia
reporting as our business expands could result itoas of investor confidence in our financial repwrand have an adverse effect on
our stock price.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguihat we assess the effectiveness of our irteomérol over financial reporting as of the
end of our fiscal year, and issue a report thaestahether or not such internal control is effectiCompliance with these requirements req.
significant cost and the commitment of time andf sesources. Expansion of our business, partibularinternational geographies, will
necessitate ongoing changes to our internal cosyisiems, processes and information systems. Wethp certain that as this expansion
occurs, our current design for internal controlrdugancial reporting will be sufficient to enalii@anagement or our independent registered
public accounting firm to determine that our ingdraontrol is effective for any period, or on argoing basis. If we or our independent
registered public accounting firm are unable teedbat our internal control over financial refiogtis effective, we could lose investor
confidence in the accuracy and completeness ofimamcial statements, which could have an adveffseteon our stock price.

The price of our common stock has been volatile andy continue to fluctuate significantly.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol ADTN. Since our inipablic offering in August 1994,
there has been, and may continue to be, signifioalatility in the market for our common stock, bdson a variety of factors, including factors
listed in this section, some of which are beyondamntrol.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters and principal administrative, meging and manufacturing facilities are locate@n82-acre campus in Cummings
Research Park in Huntsville, Alabama. Two officédings serve both our Carrier Networks and EntegpNetworks Divisions. These
facilities can accommodate up to 3,000 employeeslaéise engineering facilities in the U.S., Eurape India that are used to develop
products sold by our Carrier Networks Division. Wase engineering facilities in the U.S., Canadhladia that are used to develop products
sold by our Enterprise Networks division.

In addition, we lease office space in North Americatin America, EMEA, and the Asia-Pacific regigmoviding sales and service support for
both of our divisions.

These cancelable and non-cancelable leases expiagi@us times through 2018. For more informat®ee Note 13 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included inrigirt.

We also have numerous sales and support staff tipgefeom home-based offices serving both our @ametworks and Enterprise Networks
Divisions, which are located within the United $&tnd abroad.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have been involved from time to time in litigetiin the normal course of our business. We ar@awate of any pending or threatened
litigation matters that could have a material adeezffect on us.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Set forth below, in accordance with General IngtoincG(3) of Form 10-K and Instruction 3 of ltem#4B) of Regulation S-K, is certain
information regarding the executive officers of ARAN. Unless otherwise indicated, the informatiohfeeth is as of December 31, 2013.

Thomas R. Stanton
2007 to preser
2005- 2007
2001- 2005
1999- 2001
1995- 1999
1995
1994- 1995
1993- 1994

James E. Matthews
2007 to preser
2001- 2007
1999- 2001
1998- 1999
1995- 1998
1992- 1995

Michael K. Foliano
2006 to preser
2005- 2006
2004- 2005
2002- 2004
2001- 2002
2000- 2001
1997-2000
1995- 1997

Kevin P. Heering
2014 to preser
2010- 2014
2007-2010
1999- 2007
1994- 1999

Raymond R. Schansmat
2006 to preser
2001- 2006
1998- 2001
1996- 1998
1989- 1996
1986- 1989
1983- 1986

James D. Wilson, Jr.
2006 to preser
2005- 2006
2002- 2005
1998- 2002
1996- 1998
1992- 1996

Age 49

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo

Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxdtworks

Vice President and General Manager, Carrier Nets

Vice President, Carrier Networks Marketi

Vice President, Marketing & Engineeri— Transcrypt International, In
Senior Director, Marketin— E.F. Johnson Compal

Director, Marketing- E.F. Johnson Compal

Age 57

Senior Vice Presidel- Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Seametind Directo
Senior Vice Presidel- Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treast

Chief Financial Office— Home Wireless Networks, In

Chief Executive Office— Miltope Group, Inc

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off— Miltope Group, Inc

Controller— Hughes Training, Inc

Age 53

Senior Vice President, Global Operatic

Senior Vice President, Sales, Services and Suppéyn— Somera Communications Ir
Senior Vice President, Global Operati— Somera Communications Ir

Senior Director, Global Logistics and Customer @giens— Lucent Technologie
Executive General Manager, Mobility Supply Ch— Lucent Technologie

Stanford University Sloan Fello- Lucent Technologie

Vice President, Global Provisioning Cen- Lucent Technologie

Manufacturing Operations Plant Mana+ Lucent Technologies/AT&T Network Syster

Age 42

Senior Vice President, Quality and Administrat
Vice President, Qualit

Engineering Director, Enterprise Network Syste
Engineering Manager, Enterprise Network Syst
Design Engineer, Enterprise Network Syste

Age 57

Senior Vice President and General Manager, Entarpietworks

Vice President, Carrier Networks Engineer

Engineering Director, Carrier Networks Syste

Engineering Manager, Enterprise Networks Syst

Program Manage- SCI Systems, Inc

Vice President, System and Product Enginee- General Digital Industrie
Senior Design Engine~ General Digital Industrie

Age 43

Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxatworks

Vice President, Product Marketing, Carrier Netwc

Director, Product Management, Carrier Netwc

Director, Product Management, Loop Technologiesri@aNetworks
Manager, Engineering Operatic— Wyle Laboratories, Inc
Manager, Program Developme Wyle Laboratories, Inc
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Robert A. Fredrickson Age 63

1996 to preser Vice Presiden- Carrier Networks Sale
1996 Vice President, Broadband Business Developr— DSC Communications Corporatit
1991- 1996 Senior Director, Access Produ~ DSC Communications Corporatis
Kevin W. Schneider Age 50
2003 to preser Vice Presiden- Chief Technology Office
1999- 2003 Vice Presiden- Technology
1996- 1999 Chief Scientis
1992- 1996 Staff Scientis

There are no family relationships among our dinecto executive officers. All officers are electthually by, and serve at the discretion of,
the Board of Directors of ADTRAN.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

ADTRAN’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ GlbBelect Market under the symbol ADTN. As of Feliu@, 2014, ADTRAN had
209 stockholders of record and approximately 5d@@eficial owners of shares held in street name.félowing table shows the high and I
closing prices per share for our common stock psrted by NASDAQ for the periods indicated.

Common Stock Prices

High Low

2013

First Quartel $23.61 $19.0%

Second Quarte $24.6: $18.5¢

Third Quartel $27.4¢ $23.47

Fourth Quarte $27.1( $23.27
2012

First Quarte! $38.4: $29.01

Second Quarte $31.0% $28.0:

Third Quartel $29.5¢ $17.2¢

Fourth Quarte $20.1¢ $15.6¢

The following table shows the shareholder dividepalisl in each quarter of 2013 and 2012. The Bo&Rirectors presently anticipates that it
will declare a regular quarterly dividend so lorsgtlae present tax treatment of dividends existsaaledjuate levels of liquidity are maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2013 2012
First Quarter $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Second Quarte $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Third Quartel $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Stock Repurchases
The following table sets forth repurchases of @mmmon stock for the months indicated.
Total Total Number of Share Maximum Number of

Number of  Average
Price Paic Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be

Shares Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Period Purchasec per Share  Plans or Programs(l) Plans or Programs
October 1, 2013 — October 31, 2013 425,62( $ 23.8t 425,62( 3,886,84!
November 1, 201- November 30, 201 424,71 $ 23.4i 42471 3,462,13.
December 1, 201- December 31, 201 — — — 3,462,13.
Total 850,33° 850,33°

@ Since 1997, our Board of Directors has approvedipielshare repurchase programs that have autlooizen market repurchase
transactions of up to 35 million shares of our canmtock. On May 1, 2013, our Board of Directorthatized the repurchase of an
additional 5.0 million shares of our common stdokir{ging the total shares authorized for repurchagtd million), which commenced
upon completion of the repurchase plan announcedatober 11, 2011. This new authorization is bénglemented through open
market or private purchases from time to time aslit@mns warrant
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Income Statement Dat(®)
(In thousands, except per share amoun
Year Ended December 3

Sales
Carrier Networks Divisior
Enterprise Networks Divisio
Total sales
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Research and development exper
Operating income
Interest and dividend incon
Interest expens
Net realized investment gain (los
Other income (expense), r
Gain on bargain purchase of a busir
Income before provision for income taxe:
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Year Ended December 3

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic
Weighted average shares outstan- assuming dilutior®
Earnings per common shé basic

Earnings per common she- assuming dilutior®
Dividends declared and paid per common s

Balance Sheet Data (In thousand
At December 31

Working capitald)
Total asset

Total debt
Stockholder' equity

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$500,73: $492,00( $569,57¢ $476,03( $371,34¢
141,01: 12851¢ 147,65( 129,64« 112,83
641,74« 620,61 717,22¢ 60567: 484,18
332,85 303,97. 302,91 246,81 197,22
308,88 316,64 414,31t 358,86, 286,96:
129,36( 134,52. 124,87¢ 114,69¢ 99,44
131,05¢ 125,95 100,30: 90,30 83,28
48,46°  56,16¢ 189,13( 153,86: 104,23
7,01z 7,657 7,64z 6,557 6,93:
(2,327  (2,34) (2,399 (2,430 (2,430
8,61 9,55( 12,45  11,00¢ (1,297
(911) 182 (694) (804) 131
— 1,75¢ — — —
60,85¢ 72,96t 206,14 168,18¢ 107,56¢
(15,067 (25,709 (67,565 (54,200 (33,34)
$ 45,79 $ 47,267 $138,57. $113,98¢ $ 74,22
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
59,000  63,25¢ 64,14 62,49  62,45¢
59,42:  63,77¢ 6541¢  63,87¢ 63,35
$ 07¢ $ 078 $ 216 $ 1.8z $ 1.1¢
$ 077 $ 074 $ 21z $ 1.7¢ $ 1.17
$ 03¢ $ 036 $ 036 $ 03¢ $ 0.3€
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$277,33! $337,97¢ $329,31. $304,95. $278,04
$789,89¢ $883,65( $817,51¢ $691,97: $564,46:
$ 46,50( $ 46,50C $ 47,00 $ 48,000 $ 48,25(
$604,60( $692,40( $692,13. $572,32; $452,51!

@ Net income for 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 200%ies stoc-based compensation expense of $7.8 million, $8liom $7.8 million,
$7.1 million and $6.4 million, respectively, netaX, related to stock option awards. See NotelSatés to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

@ Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caledlander the treasury method. See Notes 1 and Ndtes to Consolidated Financi

Statements

@) Working capital consists of current assets lessenirliabilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. is a leading global provider of networg and communications equipment. Our solutiorebénvoice, data, video and Internet
communications across a variety of network infiastires. These solutions are deployed by someeofititld’s largest service providers,
distributed enterprises and small and medium-dizesihesses, public and private enterprises, arltbnglof individual users worldwide.

Our success depends upon our ability to increagerolume and market share through the introductibnew products and succeeding
generations of products having lower selling priged increased functionality as compared to battptior generation of a product and to the
products of competitors. An important part of oategy is to reduce the cost of each succeediodugt generation and then lower the
product’s selling price based on the cost savinggeaed in order to gain market share and/or impmgnoss margins. As a part of this strategy.
we seek in most instances to be a high-quality;dost provider of products in our markets. Our ggsdo date is attributable in large measure
to our ability to design our products initially Wit view to their subsequent redesign, allowindp hatreased functionality and reduced
manufacturing costs in each succeeding productrggor. This strategy enables us to sell succeeglimgrations of products to existing
customers, while increasing our market share Hingghese enhanced products to new customers.

Carrier Systemsproducts are used by communications service praviteprovide data, voice and video services teaorers and enterpris
This category includes the following product aread related services:
* Broadband Acces
. Total Acces® 5000 Mult-Service Access Node (MSAI
. hiX family of MSANs
. Total Access 1100/1200 Series of Fiber to the N&d& N) products
. Ultra Broadband Ethernet (UBI
. Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer (DSLAMJoducts
e Optical
. Optical Networking Edge (ONE
. NetVanta 8000 Series of Fiber Ethernet Access BsEAD)
. OPTI-6100 and Total Access 3000 optical M-Service Provisioning Platforms (MSF
. Pluggable Optical Products, including SFP, XFP, 8Ré+
 TDM systems
Business Networkingproducts provide access to communication servindgailitate the delivery of cloud connectivitydaanterprise
communications to the small and mid-sized entegi®VIE) market. This category includes the follogvproduct areas and related services:
* Internetworking product
. Total Access IP Business Gatew:
. Optical Network Terminals (ONT:
. Bluesocke® virtual Wireless LAN (VWLAN®)
. NetVanta®
* Multiservice Router:
e Managed Ethernet Switch
e IP Business Gatewa
* Unified Communications (UC) solutiol
e Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment (N’
. Network Management Solutiol
» Integrated Access Devices (IAC
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Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custoibeaccess to copper-based communications nkswdhe Loop Access
category includes the following product areas adted services:

» High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) produt

» Digital Data Service (DDS

» Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) produ

e T1/E1/T3 Channel Service Units/Data Service UrtSs/DSUs
* TRACER fixec-wireless product

In addition, we identify subcategories of prodwtanues, which we divide into core products anddggroducts. Our core products consist 0
Broadband Access and Optical products (include@arrier Systems) and Internetworking products (idel in Business Networking). Our
legacy products include HDSL products (includetla@op Access) and other products not included irefloeementioned core products. Many
of our customers are migrating their networks tlivée higher bandwidth services by utilizing neviechnologies. We believe that products
services offered in our core product areas posii®well for this migration. Despite occasionalrgases, we anticipate that revenues of many
of our legacy products, including HDSL, will dedimver time; however, revenues from these produeats continue for years because of the
time required for our customers to transition taveetechnologies.

Sales were $641.7 million in 2013 compared to $6afllion in 2012 and $717.2 million in 2011. Totalles of products in our three core
areas, Broadband Access, Optical and Internetwgrkntreased 8.9% in 2013 compared to 2012 anckdsed 1.7% in 2012 compared to
2011. Our gross profit margin decreased in 20188t@% from 51.0% in 2012 and 57.8% in 2011. Nebine was $45.8 million in 2013
compared to $47.3 million in 2012 and $138.6 millin 2011. Earnings per share, assuming diluticarev$0.77 in 2013 compared to $0.74 in
2012 and $2.12 in 2011. Earnings per share in 2208 and 2011 include the effect of the repurclod&e6 million, 1.8 million and

1.1 million shares of our stock in those yearspeetively.

Our operating results have fluctuated on a quarteasis in the past, and may vary significantifuture periods due to a number of factors,
including customer order activity and backlog. Baglevels vary because of seasonal trends, thadiof customer projects and other factors
that affect customer order lead times. Many ofastomers require prompt delivery of products. Taguires us to maintain sufficient
inventory levels to satisfy anticipated customeandad. If near-term demand for our products declined potential sales in any quarter do nof
occur as anticipated, our financial results coddativersely affected. Operating expenses arevelafixed in the short term; therefore, a
shortfall in quarterly revenues could significanttypact our financial results in a given quarter.

Our operating results may also fluctuate as a re$al number of other factors, including a decimgeneral economic and market conditions,
increased competition, customer order patterns)gémin product and services mix, timing differenbetween price decreases and product
cost reductions, product warranty returns, expeglitosts and announcements of new products by asra@ompetitors. Additionally,
maintaining sufficient inventory levels to assurempt delivery of our products increases the ameotiimventory that may become obsolete
and increases the risk that the obsolescencesinhentory may have an adverse effect on our lkessiand operating results. Also, not
maintaining sufficient inventory levels to assurempt delivery of our products may cause us tolirmgpediting costs to meet customer
delivery requirements, which may negatively impaat operating results in a given quarter.

Accordingly, our historical financial performanceriot necessarily a meaningful indicator of futtgsults, and, in general, management ex|
that our financial results may vary from periogptriod. See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Fiad&tatements for additional information.
For a discussion of risks associated with our opiaaresults, see Item 1A of this repc
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical iféfuires an accounting estimate to be made basadsumptions about matters that are hi
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, ibdiffit estimates reasonably could have been usddianges in the accounting estimate that
are reasonably likely to occur could materially aopthe results of financial operations. We beliineefollowing critical accounting policies
affect our more significant judgments and estimagesd in the preparation of our consolidated fiferstatements. These policies have been
consistently applied across our two reportable sggs (1) Carrier Networks Division and (2) EntésprNetworks Division.

Revenue is generally recognized when persuasiiieree of an arrangement exists, delivery has oedutine product price is fixe
or determinable, collection of the resulting reedile is reasonably assured, and product returngasenably estimable. For
product sales, revenue is generally recognized shgmment of the product to our customer in acaoedawith the title transfer
terms of the sales agreement, generally FOB stgppaint. In the case of consigned inventory, reeeisuecognized when the end
customer assumes ownership of the product. Constthat contain multiple deliverables are evaluétedetermine the units of
accounting, and the consideration from the arramgens allocated to each unit of accounting basethe relative selling price and
corresponding terms of the contract. We use vesgecific objective evidence of selling price. Whkis evidence is not available,
we are generally not able to determine third-paxtiglence of selling price because of the exterusfomization among competing
products or services from other companies. We temrenue associated with installation servicesrvalecontractual obligations
are complete. In instances where customer acceptamequired, revenue is deferred until all acaepe criteria have been met.
Contracts that include both installation serviced product sales are evaluated for revenue redognit accordance with contract
terms. As a result, depending on contract ternstailation services may be considered a separéteddle or may be considere
combined single unit of accounting with the delagproduct. Generally, either the purchaser, ADTRANa third party can
perform the installation of our products. Shippfags are recorded as revenue and the relatedsdostuded in cost of sales.
Revenue is recorded net of discou

A significant portion of Enterprise Networks protiiare sold in the United States through a nonusie distribution network of
major technology distributors. These organizatidwes distribute or provide fulfillment servicesdn extensive network of value-
added resellers and system integrators. Valisked resellers and system integrators may bésdtil with us as a channel partnel
they may purchase from the distributor on an uliafiid basis. Additionally, with certain limitatisnour distributors may return
unused and unopened product for stock-balancinggsess when these returns are accompanied by offsettders for products of
equal or greater valu

We carry our inventory at the lower of cost or nerkvith cost being determined using the firstfirst-out method. We use
standard costs for material, labor, and manufawguoverhead to value our inventory. Our standastscare updated on at least a
quarterly basis and any variances are expensée iourrent period; therefore, our inventory cogtsraximate actual costs at the
end of each reporting period. We write down oueimwry for estimated obsolescence or unmarketakntory by an amount
equal to the difference between the cost of inugraind the estimated fair value based upon assangpéibout future demand and
market conditions. If actual future demand or madanditions are less favorable than those projebjemanagement, we may be
required to make additional inventory write-dow®sir reserve for excess and obsolete inventory @a<%million and $12.0
million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectiMelyentory write-downs charged to the reserve Vg million, $0.5 million
and $0.7 million for the years ended December 81322012 and 2011, respective

The objective of our short-term investment polisya preserve principal and maintain adequatediuwith appropriate
diversification, while achieving market returns.eTébjective of our long-term investment policy ipipal preservation and total
return; that is, the aggregate return from capipgdreciation, dividend income, and interest incofese objectives are achieved
through investments with appropriate diversificatio fixed and variable rate income securities, liguquity, and private equity
portfolios. Our investment policy provides limitatis for issuer concentration, which limits, at tinge of purchase, the
concentration in any one issuer to 5% of the markéte of our total investment portfolio. We hawperienced significant

volatility in the market prices of our publicly ttad equity investments. These investments arededan the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value with unrealized gains andel®ssported as a component of accumulated othepredransive income, net of t
The ultimate realized value on these equity invesiimis subject to market price volatili
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We have categorized our cash equivalents held imesmarket funds and our investments held at fitevinto a three-level fair
value hierarchy based on the priority of the ingatthe valuation technique for the cash equivaland investments as follows:
Level 1 — Values based on unadjusted, quoted piricastive markets for identical assets or lialgitit Level 2 — Values based on
inputs other than quoted prices included withinélelvthat are directly or indirectly observable floe asset or liability; Level 3 —
Values based on unobservable inputs for the ass$iabdity. These inputs include information sufgal by investees. At

December 31, 2013, we categorized $53.6 million$8ilL.5 million of our available-for-sale investriens Level 1 and Level 2,
respectively, and $3.9 million of our cash equinédeas Level 1. At December 31, 2012, we categdi$ze.2 million and $395.9
million of our available-for-sale investments aw&kl and Level 2, respectively, and $28.1 millafrour cash equivalents as Level
1.

We review our investment portfolio for potentiakher-than-temporary” declines in value on an indiingl investment basis. We
assess, on a quarterly basis, significant decimealue which may be considered other-than-tempaxad, if necessary, recognize
and record the appropriate charge to write-dowrc#reying value of such investments. In making #isessment, we take into
consideration qualitative and quantitative inforimat including but not limited to the following: éhmagnitude and duration of
historical declines in market prices, credit rataagivity, assessments of liquidity, public filingad statements made by the issuer.
We generally begin our identification of potentigher-than-temporary impairments by reviewing aggusity with a fair value that
has declined from its original or adjusted cosishg 25% or more for six or more consecutive mente then evaluate the
individual security based on the previously idaetiffactors to determine the amount of the writesdoif any. As a result of our
review, we recorded an other-than-temporary impanicharge of $11 thousand during the fourth quaft@013. For the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we recealdedes of $25 thousand, $0.7 million and $684had, respectively,
related to the other-thalemporary impairment of certain publicly traded ibgjecurities and our deferred compensation ptsets
Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ fraiimese estimates. Future adverse changes in nwankditions or poor operating
results of underlying investments could resultdditional losses that may not be reflected in alestment’s current carrying value,
thereby possibly requiring an impairment chargthinfuture. See Note 4 of Notes to the Consolid&tedncial Statements in this
report for more information about our investments.

We also invest in privately held entities and ptévaquity funds and record these investments &t \déesreview these investments
periodically in order to determine if circumstangbsth financial and non-financial) exist that icalie that we will not recover our
initial investment. Impairment charges are recordedhvestments having a cost basis that is grélaéerthe value that we would
reasonably expect to receive in an arm’s length shthe investment. We have not been requireddord any impairment losses
relating to these investments in 2013, 2012 or 2011

» For purposes of determining the estimated faireafiour stock option awards on the date of graatuse the Black-Scholes
Model. This model requires the input of certainuasgtions that require subjective judgment. Thesemptions include, but are r
limited to, expected stock price volatility oveetterm of the awards and actual and projected grapletock option exercise
behaviors. Because our stock option awards havactesistics significantly different from thosetodided options, and because
changes in the input assumptions can materialgcathe fair value estimate, the existing model matyprovide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of our stock option awaFebr purposes of determining the estimated fainer of our performance-based
restricted stock unit awards on the date of gnaatuse a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation methdtk festricted stock units are
subject to a market condition based on the relattad shareholder return of ADTRAN against altloé companies in the NASD/
Telecommunications Index and vest at the end bfeetyear performance period. The fair value dfieted stock issued to our
Directors is equal to the closing price of our Ktono the date of grant. Management will continuagsess the assumptions and
methodologies used to calculate the estimated/édire of stock-based compensation. Circumstancgschenge and additional
data may become available over time, which couddltén changes to these assumptions and methddelagd thereby materially
impact our fair value determination. If factors oba in future periods, the compensation expensewhaecord may differ
significantly from what we have recorded in thereuat period
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* We estimate our income tax provision or benefgach of the jurisdictions in which we operate, uidéhg estimating exposures
related to examinations by taxing authorities. Wse anake judgments regarding the realization oédefl tax assets, and establish
valuation allowances where we believe it is mdkelyi than not that future taxable income in cerfansdictions will be insufficier
to realize these deferred tax assets. Our estimegesding future taxable income and income taxipien or benefit may vary due
to changes in market conditions, changes in tas lawother factors. If our assumptions, and comsetly our estimates, change in
the future, the valuation allowances we have eistaddl may be increased or decreased, impactingefitaome tax expense. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively, the vialuatiowance was $8.8 million and $10.9 milliors &f December 31, 2013,
we have state research tax credit carry-forwarc3d¥ million, which will expire between 2015 an@lB. These carry-forwards
were caused by tax credits in excess of our artandiabilities to an individual state where weloager generate sufficient state
income. In addition, as of December 31, 2013, weledeferred tax asset of $11.9 million relatmgét operating loss carry-
forwards which will expire between 2014 and 2030ede carry-forwards are the result of acquisitior2009 and in 2011, plus
losses generated in 2012 by a foreign entity. Togliged net operating losses are in excess ofrttaaiat of estimated earnings. We
believe it is more likely than not that we will n&talize the full benefits of our deferred tax assesing from these credits and net
operating losses, and accordingly, have providedl &aluation allowance against them. This valaatallowance is included in
nor-current deferred tax liabilities in the accompangyiralance sheet

We establish reserves to remove some or all ofathéenefit of any of our tax positions at the tivwe determine that the positions
become uncertain. We adjust these reserves, imguaiy impact on the related interest and penalgacts and circumstances
change.

e Our products generally include warranties of 90sd@ayten years for product defects. We accrue foramty returns at the time
revenue is recognized based on our estimate afdbieto repair or replace the defective products.affgage in extensive product
quality programs and processes, including activaiyitoring and evaluating the quality of our comgoihsuppliers. Our products
continue to become more complex in both size andtionality as many of our product offerings migr&iom line card applicatiol
to systems products. The increasing complexityusfgoducts will cause warranty incidences, whay thrise, to be more costly.
Our estimates regarding future warranty obligatior@y change due to product failure rates, matasage, and other rework costs
incurred in correcting a product failure. In adalitj from time to time, specific warranty accrualaynioe recorded if unforeseen
problems arise. Should our actual experience velati these factors be worse than our estimatesyilviee required to record
additional warranty expense. Alternatively, if weyide for more reserves than we require, we eierse a portion of such
provisions in future periods. The liability for wanty obligations totaled $9.0 million and $9.7lrait at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. These liabilities are includtedccrued expenses in the accompanying Consatidzdatance Sheet

» Pension benefit plan obligations are based on wardssumptions used by our actuaries in calcul#tiese amounts. These
assumptions include discount rates, compensatierinereases, expected return on plan assetgmairt rates, and mortality rates.
Actual results that differ from the assumptions ahdnges in assumptions could affect future exgeasd obligations. Our net
pension liability totaled $2.6 million at Decemksdr, 2013 and 2012. This liability is included ithet non-current liabilities in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance She

* We use the acquisition method to account for bgsimembinations. Under the acquisition method cbanting, we recognize the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at thieivddue on the acquisition date. Goodwill is meaasuas the excess of the
consideration transferred over the net assets mjuihe acquisition method of accounting requireto exercise judgment and
make significant estimates and assumptions regattimfair value of the assets acquired and ltdsliassumed, including the fair
values of inventory, unearned revenue, warranbjliiges, identifiable intangible assets and deddrtax asset valuation allowances.
This method also requires us to refine these ettBraver a ongear measurement period to reflect information ioleth about fact
and circumstances that existed as of the acquigitéte that, if known, would have affected the meament of the asset and
liabilities recorded on that date, which could effeur net income

* We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill durihg fourth quarter of each year and between anmadli@ions if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely tharr@duce the fair value of the reporting unit beltsvxcarrying amount. When
evaluating whether goodwill is impaired, we firssass qualitative factors to determine whethernecessary to perform the two-
step quantitative goodwill impairment test. If wetekmine that the two-step quantitative test isasary, then we compare the fair
value of the reporting unit to which the goodwdlldssigned to the reporting unit’s carrying amouneiuding goodwill. If the
carrying amount of the reporting unit exceedsats ¥alue, then the amount of the impairment lssnéasured. We passed the
gualitative assessment in 2013 and 2012; therefralid not complete a quantitative assessmena result, there were no
impairment losses recognized during 2013 or 2

32



Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following table presents selected financiabinfation derived from our consolidated statemehisamme expressed as a percentage of

sales for the years indicated.

Year Ended December 3
Sales
Carrier Networks Divisiot
Enterprise Networks Divisio
Total sales
Cost of sale:
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Research and development exper
Operating income
Interest and dividend incon
Interest expens
Net realized investment ga
Other income (expense), r
Gain on bargain purchase of a busir
Income before provision for income taxe:
Provision for income taxe
Net income

2013

78.(%

22.C

100.(%

51.¢
48.1
20.2
20.4
7.€
1.1
(0.4)
1.2

~~
| ©
[y
N

N ©
n

)
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2012 2011
79.5% 79.4%
20.7 20.€

100.0%  100.0%
49. 42.2
51. 57.¢
21.7 17.4
20.% 14.C

9.1 26.4
1. 1.1
(0.4) 0.3
1. 1.7
— (0.1)
0.2 —

11.€ 28.1
4.1) (9.4)

7.6% 19.%%
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Acquisition Expenses

On August 4, 2011, we closed on the acquisitioBlaésocket, Inc. and on May 4, 2012, we closedchereicquisition of the NSN BBA
business. Acquisition related expenses, amortizatgmd adjustments for the years ended Decemb@033, 2012 and 2011 for both
transactions are as follows:

(In Thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Bluesocket, Inc. acquisitic
Amortization of acquired intangible ass $ 1,06¢ $ 1,02( $ 49t
Amortization of other purchase accounting adjusts 73 442 521
Acquisition related professional fees, travel atittoexpense — — 73C
Subtotal 1,14 1,46 1,74¢
NSN BBA acquisitio
Amortization of acquired intangible ass 1,174 762 —
Amortization of other purchase accounting adjusts 1,37¢ 2,30¢ —
Acquisition related professional fees, travel atittoexpense 34t 4,86( 2,027
Subtotal 2,891 7,927 2,02
Total acquisition related expenses, amortizationsral adjustments 4,03¢ 9,39( 3,77:
Tax effect (1,349 (3,14%) (1,439
Total acquisition related expenses, amortizationsral adjustments, net of

tax $ 2,69¢ $ 6,247 $ 2,33¢

The acquisition related expenses, amortizationsadfgstments above were recorded in the followingsolidated Statements of Income
categories for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2nd 2011:

(In Thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Revenue (adjustments to unearned revenue recognizied period) $ 92¢ $ 1,52¢ $ 362
Cost of goods sol 19¢€ 1,08¢ 165
Subtotal 1,12¢ 2,61¢ 527
Selling, general and administrative exper 39¢ 4,51( 2,551
Research and development exper 2,51¢ 2,26¢ 68¢
Subtotal 2,91¢ 6,77¢ 3,24¢
Total acquisition related expenses, amortizationsral adjustments 4,03¢ 9,39( 3,77:
Tax effect (1,349 (3,149 (1,439
Total acquisition related expenses, amortizationsral adjustments, net of

tax $ 2,69¢ $6,24: $ 2,33¢
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2013 Compared to 2012
Sales

Our sales increased 3.4% from $620.6 million in2@1$641.7 million in 2013. The increase in sédgsrimarily attributable to a $21.5 millic
increase in sales of our Internetworking produet$20.5 million increase in sales of our BroadbAndess products, a $3.9 million increase in
sales of our Optical products, partially offseteb$24.7 million decrease in sales of our HDSL ath@olegacy products.

Carrier Networks sales increased 1.8% from $492lliomin 2012 to $500.7 million in 2013. The in@®e in sales is primarily attributable to
increases in sales of Broadband Access produtesnitworking products, and Optical products, péytioffset by a decrease in sales of our
HDSL products. The increase in sales of our Broadl#sccess products is primarily attributable tdialiVDSL2 vectoring technology
shipments to Europe, partially offset by fluctuaidn project installation activities at a Latin Aritan carrier. The increase in sales of our
Internetworking products is primarily attributattean improved spending environment and increas&&M NTE sales and FTTP ONT sales
to carriers. The increase in sales of our Opticadipcts is primarily attributable to a technolodpftsfrom Time Division Multiplexed (TDM)
and SONET/SDH architectures to Ethernet-based paeiteorks. We offer Ethernet-based solutions withiir Optical products that address
this technology change, and we expect sales oOgtical products will increase over time due tathansition. The decrease in sales of HDS
and other legacy products has been expected asaist continue to upgrade their networks to delwgher bandwidth services by migrating
to newer technologies, including to our core prasifiom our Broadband Access, Internetworking aptical product lines. While we expect
that revenues from HDSL and our other legacy prtsdwill continue to decline over time, these revenmay continue for years because of
time required for our customers to transition teveetechnologies.

Enterprise Networks sales increased 9.7% from $1l2@lion in 2012 to $141.0 million in 2013. Thecirease is attributable to an increase in
sales of our Internetworking products, partiallfsef by decreases in sales of our legacy produibesincrease in sales of our Internetworking
products is primarily attributable to an improvexksding environment and reflected an increasel@s sd Ethernet switches and IP business
gateways to both carriers and value added resellbesdecrease in legacy products was expectedatistussed further above.
Internetworking product sales attributable to Epitise Networks were 93.6% of the division’s sate2013 compared with 91.5% in 2012.
Legacy products primarily comprise the remaindeEterprise Networks sales. Enterprise Networksssat a percentage of total sales
increased from 20.7% in 2012 to 22.0% in 2013.

International sales, which are included in the @afletworks and Enterprise Networks amounts disedigbove, increased 23.6% from $1!
million in 2012 to $185.7 million in 2013. Intermanal sales, as a percentage of total sales, isedefiom 24.2% in 2012 to 28.9% in 2013.
increase in international sales is primarily atitédble to an increase in sales in the EMEA regiamtially offset by a decrease in sales in Latin
America and the Asia-Pacific region.

Carrier Systems product sales increased $28.2omilli 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due to a $20illion increase in Broadband Access
product sales, a $3.9 million increase in Opticadpct sales, and a $3.9 million increase in legaogluct sales. The increase in Carrier
Systems product sales is primarily attributabléheofactors discussed above.

Business Networking product sales increased $18li&min 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due t§21.5 million increase in
Internetworking product sales across both divisigastially offset by a $1.9 million decrease igdey product sales. The increase in sales of
our Internetworking products was primarily attribie to an improved spending environment and refittan increase in sales to both carriers
and value added resellers. The decrease in legadygts was expected and is further discussed above

Loop Access product sales decreased $26.6 milli@®d13 compared to 2012 primarily due to a $25I8anidecrease in HDSL product sales,
which is further discussed above.

Cost of Sales

As a percentage of sales, cost of sales increased49.0% in 2012 to 51.9% in 2013. The increasg pvamarily attributable to a higher
volume of the lower gross margin products relatethé broadband access business we acquired in 20dtdmer price movements to achieve
market share position and shifts in customer mix.

Carrier Networks cost of sales increased from 4%7%ales in 2012 to 53.4% of sales in 2013. Tlkeeciase in Carrier Networks cost of sale
a percentage of sales was primarily attributable higher volume of the lower gross margin produelsted to the acquired broadband access
business, customer price movements to achieve insitkee position and shifts in customer mix.
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Enterprise Networks cost of sales increased frorh%6f sales in 2012 to 46.3% of sales in 2013.ifibeease in Enterprise Networks cost of
sales as a percentage of sales was primarily @ihfie to customer price movements to achieve mahare position and the impact of cost
allocations between divisions, partially offsethigher cost absorption due to the higher productmomes.

An important part of our strategy is to reduceheduct cost of each succeeding product generatidrthen to lower the product’s price base
on the cost savings achieved. This may cause iargain our gross profit percentage due to timiiffpences between the recognition of cost
reductions and the lowering of product selling sic

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses dsettd.8% from $134.5 million in 2012 to $129.4 iillin 2013. Selling, general and
administrative expenses include personnel costadoninistration, finance, information systems, hamssources, sales and marketing, and
general management, as well as rent, utilitiesallegd accounting expenses, bad debt expense tiathgrpromotional material, trade show
expenses, and related travel costs. The decreasdling, general and administrative expensesiisarily related to decreases in professional
services, legal services and travel expenses, winich higher in 2012 due to pre-acquisition adésitrelated to the acquired broadband acces
business, and decreased independent contractanspe

Selling, general and administrative expenses as@eptage of sales decreased from 21.7% for theeyeked December 31, 2012 to 20.2% for
the year ended December 31, 2013. Selling, geaathhdministrative expenses as a percentage afwilgenerally fluctuate whenever there
is a significant fluctuation in revenues for theipds being compared.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased 4&9%6126.0 million in 2012 to $131.1 million in 2QIhe increase in research and
development expenses is primarily attributablentwéases in staffing and fringe benefit costs duadreased headcount related to the
broadband access business acquired on May 4, Regt@ases in amortization of acquired intangibketsand depreciation of acquired fixed
assets, partially offset by a decrease in indep#ramtractor expenses.

Research and development expenses as a percehtejesancreased from 20.3% for the year endecDéer 31, 2012 to 20.4% for the year
ended December 31, 2013. Research and developrparises as a percentage of sales will fluctuatenexer there are incremental product
development activities or a significant fluctuatiorrevenues for the periods being compared.

We expect to continue to incur research and dewsdop expenses in connection with our new and egjgiroducts and our expansion into
international markets. We continually evaluate meaduct opportunities and engage in intensive reseand product development efforts
which provide for new product development, enharergof existing products and product cost redustiée may incur significant research
and development expenses prior to the receiptvaimaes from a major new product group.

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income decreased from $7lifomin 2012 to $7.0 million in 2013. The decreasénterest and dividend income is
primarily attributable to a reduction in the avexagte of return on our investments as well ascaedse in our average investment balances.

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained consistent at $2.3 mili2012 and 2013, as we had no substantial chamye fixed rate borrowings. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for addita information.

Net Realized Investment Gain

Net realized investment gain decreased from $9lGmin 2012 to $8.6 million in 2013. The decredseealized investment gains is primai
attributable to lower gains from the sale of eqsiggurities in 2013. See “Investing Activities™iniquidity and Capital Resources” below for
additional information.

36



Table of Contents

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net, comprised primarilgnicellaneous income, gains and losses on foigiency transactions, investment
account management fees, and gains or losses dlisfiesal of property, plant and equipment occgriimthe normal course of business,
changed from $0.2 million of income in 2012 to $MBlion of expense in 2013.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 35.2% in 20124.7% in 2013. The decrease in the effectixadte between the two periods is
primarily attributable to an acquired business thatirred losses in the prior year for which no lb@xefit was recognized and the improved
profitability of that business in the current yethie net effect of recording the benefit for thee@rch tax credit for the 2012 tax year in Januar
2013 pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief A&G12, and the inclusion of the benefit of thereated 2013 research tax credit in the
estimated annual effective rate for 2013.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income deegé&rom $47.3 million in 2012 to $45.8 million2013. As a percentage of sales, net incom
decreased from 7.6% in 2012 to 7.1% in 2013.

2012 Compared to 2011
Sales

ADTRAN's sales decreased 13.5% from $717.2 miliim2011 to $620.6 million in 2012. The decreasedtes is primarily attributable to an
$87.6 million decrease in sales of our HDSL aneptégacy products, a $30.8 million decrease iessaf our Optical products, an $8.6 mill
decrease in sales of our Internetworking prodyasdjally offset by a $30.3 million increase inesabf our Broadband Access products.

Carrier Networks sales decreased 13.6% from $588li&n in 2011 to $492.1 million in 2012. The dease is primarily attributable to
decreases in sales of Optical products, HDSL prisdared other legacy products. These declines wartlly offset by the added sales of the
NSN BBA business and an increase in sales of dardatworking NTE products. Our organic Broadbamgdess sales in 2012 were negati\
impacted by decreased capital expenditures at tlvstantial Broadband Access customers. The decieasées of Optical products in 2012 is
primarily attributable to the market transitionittgEthernet and our transition to new productsddress this market. The declining trend in
HDSL and other legacy products has been expecte® &volve our products towards packet-based tdobiss, but was larger than
anticipated due to a large carrier customer thtaiad a significant acceleration of their installinventory reuse program.

Enterprise Networks sales decreased 13.0% from.$Xdiflion in 2011 to $128.5 million in 2012. Thedatease is attributable to decreases in
sales of Internetworking products and legacy prtalukhe decrease in Internetworking product salei2 is primarily due to a decline in
Carrier spending caused by the macroeconomic emvieat, partially offset by growth in the value-addeseller channel and by the addition
of our VWLAN solutions. Internetworking product eslattributable to Enterprise Networks were 91.5%®division’s sales in 2012
compared with 87.4% in 2011. Legacy products prinaomprise the remainder of Enterprise Networkies. Enterprise Networks sales as a
percentage of total sales increased from 20.6%911 20 20.7% in 2012.

International sales, which are included in the @afdetworks and Enterprise Networks amounts dsedigbove, increased 77.9% from $84.4
million in 2011 to $150.2 million in 2012. Intermanal sales, as a percentage of total sales, isedefiom 11.8% in 2011 to 24.2% in 2012.
increase in international sales in 2012 was prilpdre to sales attributable to the acquired NSMBBisiness and an increase in organic sale
in Latin America.

Carrier Systems product sales decreased $20.®mifi2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to a $36illion decrease in Optical product
sales and a $20.2 million decrease in legacy pitaghles, partially offset by an increase of $30ilian in Broadband Access product sales.
The decrease in sales of Optical products in 28Rimarily attributable to the market transitiogito Ethernet and our transition to new
products to address this market. The increaseadaddyrand Access product sales was due to the adti=da$ the NSN BBA business, partially
offset by a decline in organic Broadband Accesslpcbsales. Our organic Broadband Access sale@lid @ere negatively impacted by
decreased capital expenditures at two substantisldband Access customers.
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Business Networking product sales decreased $1#liormin 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to%$6 million decrease in
Internetworking product sales across both divisiamd a $4.3 million decrease in legacy productssdlbe decrease in Internetworking proc
sales in 2012 is primarily due to a decline in @arspending caused by the macroeconomic envirofyrpartially offset by growth in the
value-added reseller channel and by the additiamuof/WLAN solutions. The decrease in sales of tggaroducts is a result of customers
shifting to newer technologies. Many of these net@ehnologies are integral to our Internetworkimgduct area.

Loop Access product sales decreased $63.1 milli@®d12 compared to 2011 primarily due to a $60l0anidecrease in HDSL product sales.
The declining trend in HDSL and other legacy prddimas been expected as we evolve our productsdewacket-based technologies, but
was larger than anticipated due to a large cactistomer that initiated a significant acceleratbtheir installed inventory reuse program.

Cost of Sales

As a percentage of sales, cost of sales increased42.2% in 2011 to 49.0% in 2012. The increase pvanarily attributable to lower gross
margins related to the acquired NSN BBA businassel cost absorption due to the lower productidiiwmes, customer price movements to
achieve market share position and higher warraogysc

Carrier Networks cost of sales increased from 4204%ales in 2011 to 49.7% of sales in 2012. Tleeiase in Carrier Networks cost of sale
a percentage of sales was primarily attributablewer gross margins related to the acquired NSM BBsiness, lower cost absorption due to
the lower production volumes, customer price movas achieve market share position and higheraméyr costs.

Enterprise Networks cost of sales increased from%Iof sales in 2011 to 46.1% of sales in 2012.imbeease in Enterprise Networks cost of
sales as a percentage of sales was primarily @thfibe to lower cost absorption due to the lowedpction volumes and customer price
movements to achieve market share position.

An important part of our strategy is to reduceheduct cost of each succeeding product generatidrthen to lower the product’s price base
on the cost savings achieved. This may cause iargain our gross profit percentage due to timiiffeences between the recognition of cost
reductions and the lowering of product selling @sic

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise@d.7% from $124.9 million in 2011 to $134.5 roillin 2012. Selling, general and
administrative expenses include personnel costadoninistration, finance, information systems, hamesources, sales and marketing, and
general management, as well as rent, utilitiegllagd accounting expenses, bad debt expense tigthgerpromotional material, trade show
expenses, and related travel costs. The increasaling, general and administrative expensesimaily related to increases in staffing and
fringe benefit costs due to increased headcouategsional services, legal services and amortizatfacquired intangible assets. These
increases were primarily related to the NSN BBAibess, which was acquired on May 4, 2012, and Biclest Inc., which was acquired on
August 4, 2011.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as@ptage of sales increased from 17.4% for thegmded December 31, 2011 to 21.7% for
the year ended December 31, 2012. Selling, geaathadministrative expenses as a percentage afwilgenerally fluctuate whenever there
is a significant fluctuation in revenues for theipds being compared.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased 22604100.3 million in 2011 to $126.0 million in 2DIThe increase in research and
development expense is primarily related to ina@eas staffing and fringe benefit costs due toeased headcount, including expenses and
increased headcount related to the NSN BBA busiaegsired on May 4, 2012 and Bluesocket, Inc., Wwiias acquired on August 4, 2011,
amortization of acquired intangible assets relabeubth acquisitions, and increases in indepenclemiractor expense and office lease expens
related to the NSN BBA business.

Research and development expenses as a percehtadesoncreased from 14.0% for the year ende@&dber 31, 2011 to 20.3% for the year
ended December 31, 2012. Research and developrparises as a percentage of sales will fluctuatenexer there are incremental product
development activities or a significant fluctuatiorrevenues for the periods being compared.
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We expect to continue to incur research and dewsdop expenses in connection with our new and egjgiroducts and our expansion into
international markets. We continually evaluate meaduct opportunities and engage in intensive reseand product development efforts
which provide for new product development, enharer@of existing products and product cost redustiée may incur significant research
and development expenses prior to the receiptvaimaes from a major new product group.

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income remained consiste®7 & million in 2011 and $7.7 million in 2012,&e had no substantial change in interest-
bearing investment balances or interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained consistent at $2.4 mifi2011 and $2.3 million in 2012, as we had rlestantial change in our fixed rate
borrowing. See “Liquidity and Capital Resourceslopefor additional information.

Net Realized Investment Gain

Net realized investment gain decreased from $1#8IBmin 2011 to $9.6 million in 2012. This changeprimarily related to a $1.3 millic
decrease related to sales of marketable equityiteswand impaired marketable equity securitieQ#® million decrease in distributions from
two private equity funds, and a $0.6 million incgean impairment of deferred compensation plantasSee “Investing Activities” in
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for addita information.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net, comprised primarilgnifcellaneous income, gains and losses on foigiency transactions, investment
account management fees, and gains or losses dlisfiesal of property, plant and equipment occgriimthe normal course of business,
changed from $0.7 million of expense in 2011 td@%aillion of income in 2012.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate increased from 32.8% in 2135.2% in 2012. This increase is primarily atttable to the exclusion of the research ta
credit in 2012 and our inability to utilize lossganerated by our foreign subsidiaries where a/lliation allowance was provided. These tax
rate increases were partially offset by increaset® ¢ax incentives in 2012. In 2013, we will recizg a benefit from the research tax credit
related to 2012 and 2013, of which we estimate #8llion will be attributable to 2012.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income dse@&om $138.6 million in 2011 to $47.3 million2012. As a percentage of sales, net
income decreased from 19.3% in 2011 to 7.6% in 2012

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

We intend to finance our operations with cash ffoamn operations. We have used, and expect to aeatio use, the cash generated from
operations for working capital, purchases of treastock, shareholder dividends, and other gersengdorate purposes, including (i) product
development activities to enhance our existing petgland develop new products and (ii) expansiasaliEs and marketing activities. We

believe our cash and cash equivalents, investnamtsash generated from operations to be adequatedt our operating and capital need
at least the next 12 months.

At December 31, 2013, cash on hand was $58.3 midlicd short-term investments were $105.8 milliohiclv placed our shoterm liquidity a
$164.1 million. At December 31, 2012, our cash anchof $68.5 million and short-term investment$580.5 million placed our short-term
liquidity at $228.9 million. The decrease in shiatm liquidity from 2012 to 2013 primarily refledisnds used for share repurchases,
shareholder dividends, and equipment acquisitipagijally offset by funds provided by our operatadivities, and proceeds from stock opt
exercises.
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Operating Activities

Our working capital, which consists of current ass$ess current liabilities, decreased 17.9% fr@&8850 million as of December 31, 2012 to
$277.3 million as of December 31, 2013. The quatlor defined as cash and cash equivalents, shorntihvestments, and net accounts
receivable, divided by current liabilities, decredd$rom 2.93 as of December 31, 2012 to 2.44 &eckmber 31, 2013. The current ratio,
defined as current assets divided by current lizs] decreased from 4.20 as of December 31, 288271 as of December 31, 2013. The
changes in our working capital, quick ratio andrent ratio are primarily attributable to a decreimsshort-term investments, which proceeds
were primarily used to fund share repurchases duha year.

Net accounts receivable increased 7.7% from $78libmat December 31, 2012 to $85.8 million at Beter 31, 2013. Our allowance
doubtful accounts increased from $6 thousand aeber 31, 2012 to $130 thousand at December 3B, ZDarterly accounts receivable
days sales outstanding (DSO) decreased from 52atagEDecember 31, 2012 to 50 days as of Dece8h&2013. The change in net account:
receivable and DSO is due to changes in customeand the timing of sales and collections durirgdarter. Certain international custorr
can have longer payment terms than U.S. custor@¢her receivables increased from $16.3 million ac&@nber 31, 2012 to $18.2 million at
December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2013 and 2Gh2y ceceivables included an estimated receivalsefidm NSN related to working
capital adjustments under negotiation. Other rextdas will also fluctuate due to the timing of shgnts and collections for materials supplied
to our contract manufacturers during the quarter.

Quarterly inventory turnover increased from 2.&tuas of December 31, 2012 to 3.6 turns as of DieeeBi, 2013. Inventory decreased
11.1% from December 31, 2012 to December 31, 20/8expect inventory levels to fluctuate as we atietm maintain sufficient inventory in
response to seasonal cycles of our business egsuimpetitive lead times while managing the riskneEntory obsolescence that may occur
due to rapidly changing technology and customeradem

Accounts payable increased 14.5% from $42.2 millibDecember 31, 2012 to $48.3 million at Decen®ier2013. Accounts payable will
fluctuate due to variations in the timing of theeipt of supplies, inventory and services and absequent payments for these purchases.

Investing Activitie:

Capital expenditures totaled approximately $8.2iom] $12.3 million and $11.8 million for the yeaaaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively. These expenditures were priynasied to purchase computer hardware, softwarevearifacturing and test equipment.

On May 4, 2012, we acquired the NSN BBA busine$ss Acquisition provides us with an establishedarusr base in key markets and
complementary, market-focused products and wasuated for as a business combination. Upon acquiisitive received a cash payment of
$7.5 million from NSN and recorded a bargain pusehgain of $1.8 million, net of income taxes, sabfe customary working capital
adjustments between the parties during the threglmeended June 30, 2012. We are currently negufitte final working capital adjustmel
in accordance with the provisions of the underlypogchase agreement.

Our combined short-term and long-term investmeatsehsed $78.2 million from $493.2 million at Debem31, 2012 to $415.0 million at
December 31, 2013. This decrease reflects the ingbawr cash needs for share repurchases, shdshaividends, equipment acquisitions, as
well as net realized and unrealized losses andtaation of net premiums on our combined investragpéartially offset by additional funds
available for investment provided by our operatictjvities and stock option exercises by our empdsy

We invest all available cash not required for imraggluse in operations primarily in securities tivatbelieve bear minimal risk of loss. At
December 31, 2013 these investments included catgbonds of $166.9 million, municipal fixed-ratens of $136.3 million and municipal
variable rate demand notes of $8.3 million. At Deber 31, 2012, these investments included corptiatds of $186.4 million, municipal
fixed-rate bonds of $175.1 million and municipatighle rate demand notes of $34.4 million. As ot®maber 31, 2013, our corporate bonds,
municipal fixed-rate bonds, and municipal variataite demand notes were classified as availabledl@-and had a combined duration of 0.95
years with an average credit rating of A+. Becaugebond portfolio has a high quality rating anatcactual maturities of a short duration,
are able to obtain prices for these bonds derixau bbservable market inputs, or for similar se@sitraded in an active market, on a daily
basis.

Our long-term investments decreased 7.1% from $38#lion at December 31, 2012 to $309.2 milliorDegcember 31, 2013. Long-term
investments at December 31, 2013 and Decembei032, iBcluded an investment in a certificate of ddpof $48.3 million, which serves as
collateral for our revenue bonds, as discussediwhale have various equity investments includedigterm investments at a cost of $24.7
million and $21.0 million, and with a fair value $88.5 million and $35.2 million, at December 3@13 and December 31, 2012, respectively
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Long-term investments at December 31, 2013 and a&iRincluded $15.1 million and $11.5 million, pestively, related to our deferred
compensation plan, and $1.7 million and $1.9 milliespectively, of other investments carried at,oonsisting of interests in two private
equity funds and an investment in a privately heldcommunications equipment manufacturer. At Dde31, 2012, long-term investments
also included $0.5 million of a fixed income bonahd.

We review our investment portfolio for potentiakher-than-temporary” declines in value on an indiivl investment basis. We assess, on a
quarterly basis, significant declines in value vihicay be considered other-than-temporary andcéssary, recognize and record the
appropriate charge to write-down the carrying vafisuch investments. In making this assessmentakeesinto consideration qualitative and
guantitative information, including but not limiteéd the following: the magnitude and duration aftbrical declines in market prices, credit
rating activity, assessments of liquidity, pubiiifys, and statements made by the issuer. We giypéegin our identification of potential
other-thantemporary impairments by reviewing any securityhvétfair value that has declined from its origioahdjusted cost basis by 25%
more for six or more consecutive months. We thealuate the individual security based on the preslipidentified factors to determine the
amount of the write-down, if any. As a result of ceview, we recorded an other-than-temporary impent charge of $11 thousand during the
fourth quarter of 2013 related to four marketalgaity securities. For the years ended Decembe2@13, 2012 and 2011 we recorded charge:
of $25 thousand, $0.7 million and $68 thousandyeesvely, related to the other-than-temporary impant of certain publicly traded equity
securities and our deferred compensation plansasset

Financing Activities

In conjunction with an expansion of our Huntsvilkdabama, facility, we were approved for participatin an incentive program offered by
State of Alabama Industrial Development Authorttye(“Authority”). Pursuant to the program, on Jagul3, 1995, the Authority issued $20.0
million of its taxable revenue bonds and loanedptozeeds from the sale of the bonds to ADTRAN. bbeds were originally purchased by
AmSouth Bank of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama (tBafk”). Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nashville, Tennesskenierly First Union National
Bank of Tennessee) (the “Bondholder”), which waguared by Wells Fargo & Company on December 31 82@0rchased the original bonds
from the Bank and made further advances to the diigh bringing the total amount outstanding to $6Million. An Amended and Restated
Taxable Revenue Bond (“Amended and Restated Bamds)issued and the original financing agreementam@anded. The Amended and
Restated Bond bears interest, payable monthlyifteeest rate is 5% per annum. The Amended andaResBond matures on January 1, 2
The estimated fair value of the bond at DecembeRB13 was approximately $45.4 million, based alelat security with a comparable inter
rate and maturity and a Standard & Poor’s crediiigeof A-. We are required to make payments toAhthority in amounts necessary to pay
the interest on the Amended and Restated Bondidedlin long-term investments at December 31, 20$38.3 million which is invested in a
restricted certificate of deposit. These funds s@w a collateral deposit against the principahisfbond, and we have the right to set-off the
balance of the Bond with the collateral depositider to reduce the balance of the indebtedness.

In conjunction with this program, we are eligibtereceive certain economic incentives from theestdtAlabama that reduce the amount of
payroll withholdings that we are required to retoithe state for those employment positions thatifyjuunder the program. For the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we reammwbmic incentives related to payroll withholdirtgtaling $1.3 million, $1.4 million
and $1.9 million, respectively.

We did not make a principal payment for the yeateehDecember 31, 2013. We made a principal payofeb@.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. We anticipate making a prin@paiment in 2014. At December 31, 2013 and 20123 §llion and $0.5 million,
respectively, of the bond debt were classified agreent liability in accounts payable in the Cdidaied Balance Sheets at December 31, -

The following table shows dividends paid to ourrghalders in each quarter of 2013, 2012 and 20Ltin® 2013, 2012 and 2011, we paid
shareholder dividends totaling $21.4 million, $2&h#lion and $23.1 million, respectively. The BoafiDirectors presently anticipates that it
will declare a regular quarterly dividend so lorsgtlae present tax treatment of dividends existsaaledjuate levels of liquidity are maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2013 2012 2011
First Quarter $0.0¢ $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Second Quarte $0.0¢ $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Third Quartel $0.0¢ $0.0¢ $0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $0.0¢ $0.0¢ $0.0¢
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Stock Repurchase Program

Since 1997, our Board of Directors has approvedipielshare repurchase programs that have autltbogen market repurchase transactions
of up to 35 million shares of our common stock.\@ay 1, 2013, our Board of Directors authorizedygurchase of an additional 5.0 million
shares of our common stock (bringing the total shauthorized for repurchase to 40 million), wiiolnmenced upon completion of the
repurchase plan announced on October 11, 2011 n€rsauthorization is being implemented throughnopearket or private purchases from
time to time as conditions warrant. For the ye@%3 2012 and 2011, we repurchased 5.6 millioneshdr.8 million shares and 1.1 million
shares, respectively, for a cost of $124.3 mill89.4 million and $35.6 million, respectively,aat average price of $22.16, $22.03 and $31.€
per share, respectively. We currently have theaitthto purchase an additional 3.5 million shasésur common stock under the current plan
approved by the Board of Directors.

Stock Option Exercises

To accommodate employee stock option exercisesssued 0.2 million shares of treasury stock fo6%8illion during the year ended
December 31, 2013, 0.4 million shares of treastogisfor $6.0 million during the year ended Decentéik 2012, and 1.8 million shares of
treasury stock for $34.1 million during the yeaded December 31, 2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractualdgakibns

We do not have off-balance sheet financing arramggsnand have not engaged in any related partgactions or arrangements with
unconsolidated entities or other persons thateasanably likely to materially affect liquidity tre availability of or requirements for capital
resources.

We have various contractual obligations and comimkecommitments. The following table sets forthniillions, the annual payments we are
required to make under contractual cash obligatimmsother commercial commitments at December @132

Contractual Obligations

(In millions) Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 After 2017
Long-term debt $46 $02 $— @ $— $— $ 46z
Interest on lon-term debr 14.C 2.2 2.3 2.3 2.3 4.
Purchase obligatior 75.C 74.€ 0.1 — — —

Operating lease obligatiol 13.5 4.5 3.€ 2.5 2.2 0.7
Totals $149.C $82.C $6.C $48& $4&5 $ 517

We are required to make payments necessary tchpanterest on the Taxable Revenue Bond, Serie’s, B8%amended, currently outstanding
in the aggregate principal amount of $46.5 millidhe bond matures on January 1, 2020, and beare#ttat the rate of 5% per annum.
Included in long-term investments are $48.3 milladnestricted funds, which is a collateral depasjainst the principal amount of this bond.
We did not make a principal payment for the yeateehDecember 31, 2013. We made a principal payofeb@.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. We anticipate making a prin@paiment in 2014. At December 31, 2013 and 20123 §llion and $0.5 million,
respectively, of the bond debt were classified agreent liability in accounts payable in the Cdidaied Balance Sheets at December 31, -
See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates for additional information.

We have committed to invest up to an aggregat& & fillion in two private equity funds, and we basontributed $8.4 million as of
December 31, 2013, of which $7.7 million has begpliad to these commitments. The additional $0.tianicommitment has been excluded
from the table above due to uncertainty of whenmilitbe applied.

We also have obligations related to uncertain iretax positions that have been excluded from thie @bove due to the uncertainty of when
the related expense will be recognized. See Notaf Nbtes to Consolidated Financial Statementséfiatitional information.
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Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

During 2013, we adopted the following accountiransiards, which had no material effect on our codatdd results of operations or financial
condition:

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stedslblpdate No. 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Resifigsl Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2013-02). ASU 2013-02ireg entities to provide information about the amis reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income by compagithiar on the face of the financial statements ¢ine footnotes. ASU 201382 does nc
change the current requirements for reportingmedrne or other comprehensive income in the findistéddements. This update is effective
prospectively for reporting periods beginning aflcember 15, 2012. We adopted this amendmentgltiranfirst quarter of 2013, and we
have provided the disclosures required for thegeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 in Notébtes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Subsequent Events

On January 21, 2014, the Board declared a quaxtedly dividend of $0.09 per common share to betpastiareholders of record at the clos
business on February 6, 2014. The quarterly dividgayment was $5.1 million and was paid on Febrgar2014.

In February 2014, we made a decision to make &b3$télion principal payment on the Amended and Be=st Bond. The restricted certificate
of deposit included in our long-term investment# ks reduced by the amount of the payment. Wecgratie this payment will be made during
the first quarter of 2014.

Since January 1, 2014 and as of February 27, 2@d4ave repurchased 0.4 million shares of our comstack through open market purchz
at an average cost of $25.13 per share. We cwrieatle the authority to purchase an additionahdltion shares of our common stock under
the current plan approved by the Board of Directors

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to financial market risks, includihgnges in interest rates and prices of marketahléy and fixed-income securities. The
primary objective of the large majority of our irstment activities is to preserve principal whilgret same time achieving appropriate yields
without significantly increasing risk. To achievest objective, a majority of our marketable secéesiare investment grade, municipal, fixed-
rate bonds, municipal variable rate demand notdsramicipal money market instruments denominatedrited States dollars. Our
investment policy provides limitations for issu@ncentration, which limits, at the time of purchabe concentration in any one issuer to 5%
of the market value of our total investment poitfol

We maintain depository investments with certaimficial institutions. Although these depository istveents may exceed government insured
depository limits, we have evaluated the creditthioess of these financial institutions, and deteed the risk of material financial loss due to
exposure of such credit risk to be minimal. As ecBmber 31, 2013, $53.5 million of our cash anth eaiivalents, primarily certain domestic
money market funds and foreign depository accouvese in excess of government provided insured siepy limits.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $329.3 milldof our cash and investments may be directlycegteby changes in interest rates. We
have performed a hypothetical sensitivity analgsisuming market interest rates increase or decbgas@ basis points (bps) for an entire year
while all other variables remain constant. At Deben31, 2013, we held $144.2 million of cash, momayket instruments, floating rate
corporate bonds and municipal variable rate denmaels where a change in interest rates would immacinterest income. A hypothetical 50
bps decline in interest rates as of December 313 Abuld reduce annualized interest income on ashcmoney market instruments, floating
rate corporate bonds and municipal variable rateathel notes by approximately $0.7 million. In aduditiwe held $303.2 million of municipal
and corporate bonds whose fair values may be diraffected by a change in interest rates. A hyptitl 50 bps increase in interest rates :
December 31, 2013 would reduce the fair value ofnounicipal and corporate bonds by approximatelyt $iillion.

As of December 31, 2012, interest income on apprately $412.5 million of our cash and investmenas wubject to being directly affected
by changes in interest rates. We performed a hypioti sensitivity analysis assuming market interates increase or decrease by 50 bps for
an entire year, while all other variables remaingtant. A hypothetical 50 bps decline in interasts as of December 31, 2012 would have
reduced annualized interest income on our monekeharstruments and municipal variable rate demastds by approximately $0.6 million.
In addition, a hypothetical 50 bps increase inrgderates as of December 31, 2012 would have eetiihe fair value of our municipal and
corporate bonds by approximately $1.7 million.
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We are directly exposed to changes in foreign cusrexchange rates to the extent that such chaaifget our revenue derived from
international customers, expenses related to oaigo sales offices, and our foreign assets amditias. We attempt to manage these risks by
primarily denominating contractual and other foreggrangements in U.S. dollars. Our primary expgsuregard to our foreign assets and
liabilities is with our German subsidiary whose dtianal currency is the Euro and our Australianssdiary whose functional currency is the
Australian dollar. We are indirectly exposed toraipes in foreign currency exchange rates to thenéxteour use of foreign contract
manufacturers and foreign raw material suppliersiwhve pay in U.S. dollars. As a result, changdkénocal currency rates of these vendors
in relation to the U.S. dollar could cause an iaseein the price of products that we purchase.

We have certain international customers who areiged in their local currency. Changes in the maneéxchange rates used to invoice such
customers versus the functional currency of thiyebitling such customers may adversely affect msults of operations and financial
condition. To manage the volatility relating to $kdypical business exposures, we may enter imtousderivative transactions, when
appropriate. We do not hold or issue derivativérimaents for trading or other speculative purpo$ée. Yen and Riyal are the predominant
currencies of the customers who are billed in thogial currency. Taking into account the effect$aséign currency fluctuations of the Yen ¢
Riyal versus the Euro, a hypothetical 10% weakenintpe Euro as of December 31, 2013 would proeidgin on foreign currency of
approximately $0.4 million. Conversely, a hypotbatil0% strengthening of the Euro as of Decembe2@13 would provide a loss on foreign
currency of approximately $0.4 million. Any gainloss would be significantly mitigated by the heslgiiscussed in the following paragraph.

As of December 31, 2013, we had no material cotgyather than accounts receivable, accounts payabdt loans to a subsidiary,
denominated in foreign currencies. As of Decemide2®13, we had forward contracts outstanding wittional amounts totaling

€18.5 million ($25.5 million), which mature at vani®times throughout 2014. The fair value of these/érd contracts was a net asset of
approximately $3 thousand as of December 31, 2013.
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ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The following consolidated financial statements@atained in this report.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |IAL REPORTING

Management of ADTRAN, Inc. is responsible for efitdling and maintaining adequate internal contkardinancial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securkieshange Act of 1934, as amended. ADTRAN's inteaumaitrol over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regatdingliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. ADTRAN's internal control ovanéncial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaneaisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trensactions and dispositions of the
assets of ADTRAN

» provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofiflahstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rad receipts and expenditures of ADTRAN are beagle only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directora@TRAN; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, esalisposition of ADTRAN'’s
assets that could have a material effect on thenéial statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ADTRAMNEsrial control over financial reporting as of Deteer 31, 2013. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfotlle Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Contro-Integrated Framework (1992).

Based on our assessment and those criteria, maeatbas concluded that ADTRAN maintained effeciinternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting has been audited by Pricewaterh@aspers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their repohict appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To Board of Directors and Stockholders of ADTRANG

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fainyall material respects, the financial
position of ADTRAN, Inc. and its subsidiaries atd@enber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and theéseduheir operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2013 in conformity with accounpnigciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. In addition, in our opmj the financial statement schedule listed inst@mmpanying index presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth theveen read in conjunction with the related corsikd financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialpexcts, effective internal control over financgporting as of December 31, 2013, based or
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrise Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionssiple for these financial statements and findrsteement schedule, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effeciss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanyiMignagement’'s Report On Internal Control Over Finah&eporting.Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements, on thenfirzd statement schedule, and on the Company’miateontrol over financial reporting based
on our integrated audits. We conducted our audigecordance with the standards of the Public Compacounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmat alhether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting was ntained in all material respects. Our audits
of the financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts iantbslures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &igntfestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagdif internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidmoperating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also irtjueléorming such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable lasisur opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Birmingham, Alabama
February 27, 2014
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Financial Statements

ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands, exceptghare amounts)
December 31, 2013 and 20.

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 58,29¢ $ 68,45
Shor-term investment 105,76( 160,48:
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfelbants of $130 and $6 at December 31, 2013 and, 20.
respectively 85,81 79,67¢
Other receivable 18,24¢ 16,25
Inventory, ne 90,11: 101,37
Prepaid expenst 4,32¢ 4,14¢
Deferred tax assets, r 17,08: 13,05¢
Total Current Assets 379,64( 443,44¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 76,73¢ 80,24¢
Deferred tax assets, r 9,622 10,26:
Goodwill 3,49 3,49:
Other asset 11,18( 13,48:
Long-term investment 309,22! 332,72¢
Total Assets $789,89¢ $883,65!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 48,28. $ 42,17
Unearned revent 22,20t 35,32¢
Accrued expense 12,77¢ 11,73t
Accrued wages and benef 14,04( 15,02:
Income tax payable, n 5,00z 1,211
Total Current Liabilities 102,30! 105,46
Non-current unearned reven 14,64: 22,37
Other nor-current liabilities 22,14« 17,40¢
Bonds payabli 46,20( 46,00(
Total Liabilities 185,29:. 191,25(
Commitments and contingencies (see Note
Stockholders Equity
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 200,08(&stauthorized; 79,652 shares issued and 56,2t8s
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 79,652 shsm@sd and 62,310 shares outstanding at
December 31, 201 797 797
Additional paic-in capital 233,51: 224,51
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 10,75 11,26¢
Retained earning 884,45! 861,46!
Less treasury stock at cost: 22,734 and 17,342st@December 31, 2013 and 2012, respect (524,906 (405,64)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 604,60¢ 692,40t
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 789,89¢{ $ 883,65

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income (In thousands;ept per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Sales
Cost of sale:

Gross Profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Research and development exper
Operating Income
Interest and dividend incon
Interest expens
Net realized investment ga
Other income (expense), r
Gain on bargain purchase of a busir
Income before provision for income taxe:
Provision for income taxe
Net Income

Weighted average shares outstan basic
Weighted average shares outstanc« diluted
Earnings per common shé basic

Earnings per common she- diluted

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012 2011
$641,74: $620,61c $717,22¢
332,85¢  303,97: 302,91
308,88  316,64. 414,31
129,36( 134,52 124,87
131,058 125,95  100,30:
48,46¢ 56,16¢ 189,13t
7,01z 7,65 7,64z
(2,325) (2,347) (2,399
8,61 9,55( 12,45¢
(911) 182 (694)
— 1,75: —
60,85¢ 72,96¢ 206,14
(15,067 (25,705  (67,56Y
$ 4579 $ 47,260 $138,57
59,001 63,25¢ 64,14
59,42 63,77 65,41¢
$ 07¢ $ 078 $ 2.1¢€
$ 077 $ 07/ $ 2.1c
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incometliousands)
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Net Income

Other Comprehensive Loss, net of t
Net unrealized gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securitie
Defined benefit plan adjustmer
Foreign currency translatic

Other Comprehensive Loss, net of tax

Comprehensive Income, net of ta:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012 2011
$4579: $47.26. $138,57
62¢ (52) (13,69
1,061 (1,952 —
(2,205) 17¢ (154)
$ (515 $(1,83) $(13,84¢)
$4527¢ $4542¢ $124,73
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ADTRAN, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhold&mguity (In thousands)
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Accumulated

Other Total
Common Common Additional Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Retained Treasury
Shares Stock Capital Earnings Stock Income Equity
Balance, December 31, 201 79,65 $ 797 $193,86( $731,96: $(381,25) $ 26,94¢ $ 572,32
Net income 138,57 138,57
Other comprehensive loss, net of (13,84¢) (13,84¢)
Dividend payment (23,129 (23,129
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted stoc
units (52 (52
Stock options exercise (6,34%) 40,47( 34,12t
Restricted stock units vest (812) 812 —
Purchase of treasury stock: 1,112 sh (35,565 (35,565
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 10,52¢ 10,52t
Stocl-based compensation expel 9,16¢ 9,16¢
Balance, December 31, 201 79,65 $ 797 $213,56( $840,20¢ $(375,539 $ 13,10 $ 692,13
Net income 47,26 47,26
Other comprehensive loss, net of (1,839 (1,839
Dividend payment (22,817 (22,817
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted stoc
units 15 15
Stock options exercise (2,659 8,70¢ 6,04¢
Restricted stock units vest (212) (547) 547 (212
Purchase of treasury stock: 1,786 sh (39,367 (39,367
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 1,90t 1,90¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 9,26¢ 9,26¢
Balance, December 31, 201 79,65 $ 797 $22451° $861,46' $(405,64) $ 11,266 $ 692,40t
Net income 45,79« 45,79¢
Other comprehensive loss, net of (515) (515)
Dividend payment (21,419 (21,419
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted stoc
units (23) (23
Stock options exercise (762) 4,391 3,62¢
Restricted stock units vest (24%) (611) 611 (24¢)
Purchase of treasury stock: 5,608 sh (124,26 (124,26
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock opti 16¢ 16¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 9,07: 9,07:
Balance, December 31, 201 79,65 $ 797 $233,51: $884,45. $(524,900 $ 10,75¢ $ 604,60t

We issued 217 shares, 393 shares and 1,813 shidreaswury stock to accommodate employee stockogkercises, vesting of restricted

stock, and vesting of restricted stock units du@0d3, 2012 and 2011, respectively. During 2011reeeived 7 shares, previously held by
employees for at least six months as payment oéxtieecise price for employee stock options. Nontheftransactions with respect to these
shares were made in the open market. The averagegaid per share with respect to these transecti@s based on the closing price of the
common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Markettendate of the transaction. There were no sudsactions during 2012 and 2013.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigenl by operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic

Amortization of net premium on availa-for-sale investment
Net realized gain on loi-term investment

Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant agdipmen
Gain on bargain purchase of a busir

Stocl-based compensation expel

Deferred income taxe

Tax benefit from stock option exercis

Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangems

Change in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Other receivable
Income tax receivable, n
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Income taxes payable, r
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipn
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant andggent
Proceeds from sales and maturities of avai-for-sale investment
Purchases of availal-for-sale investment
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from stock option exerci:
Purchases of treasury stc
Dividend payment
Payments on lor-term debt
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangems
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Effect of exchange rate chan
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of yei

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informal
Cash paid during the year for inter
Cash paid during the year for income ta
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing activitie

Purchases of property, plant and equipment inclidedcounts payab

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012 2011
$ 4579: $ 47,260  $138,57
14,62¢ 14,07¢ 11,49¢
5,95¢ 8,257 6,617
(8,614 (9,550) (12,452
3 (214) 6

— (1,759 —
9,07: 9,26¢ 9,16¢
(4,05¢) (3,785) 57¢
16¢ 1,90¢ 10,52:
(15€) (1,456) (9,379
(5,541) (2,847 (4,939
(1,549) 2,971 (5,78))
— — 2,741
10,26¢ 8,33: (12,739
(11) (1,045) 527
5,20¢ 7,51( 6,04¢
(15,146 8,89t 6,30¢
3,747 (1,960) 3,16¢
59,76+ 85,87¢ 150,47:
(8,179 (12,320 (11,779
— 26¢€ —
343,56 282,03 466,24
(261,62)  (282,74) (554,629
— 7,49¢ (22,667)
73,76¢ (5259  (122,82)
3,62¢ 6,04¢ 34,12
(124,26 (39,36%) (35,56%)
(21,417) (22,815 (23,12
— (500) (1,000)
15¢ 1,45¢ 9,37¢
(141,89:) (55,170) (16,19?)
(8,359) 25,44 11,45¢
(1,800) 34 (154)
68,45 42,97¢ 31,67
58,29¢ $ 6845, $ 42,97¢
2,328 $ 234t $ 2,39
15,43;  $ 31,02: $ 51,40:
444 ¢ 108 $ 352
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemel
Note 1 — Nature of Business and Summary of Signiat Accounting Policies

ADTRAN, Inc. is a leading global provider of networg and communications equipment. Our solutiorebénvoice, data, video and Internet
communications across a variety of network infiatires. These solutions are deployed by someeofititld’s largest service providers,
distributed enterprises and small and medium-dizesihesses, public and private enterprises, arltbnglof individual users worldwide.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include ADTNR&nd its wholly owned subsidiaries. All inter-coamy accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Changes in Classifications

Certain balance sheet amounts (including invent@egounts receivable, unearned revenue and acerpethses) and related disclosures have
been revised to correct immaterial misclassificaio 2012 that were corrected in 2013. The rensibecreased both total assets and total
liabilities each by $2.7 million at December 31120The revisions had no impact on our previousported stockholders’ equity, income
statement, comprehensive income, or earnings ee sAdditionally, we corrected immaterial misclfisations between the operating and
investing sections of our consolidated statementsish flows and adjusted our 2012 and 2011 casVsfln these categories by $0.2 million
and $0.1 million, respectively, in order to be dstent with the 2013 presentation.

Additionally, changes in classifications have be®ade to the prior period balances in other comprgikie income to conform to the current
period’s presentation as a result of our adoptiohczounting Standards Update No. 2013-02, RepginfAmounts Reclassified Out of
Accumulated Comprehensive Income.

Out of Period Adjustment

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we idedtifvo adjustments in the acquired NSN (formerbki Siemens Networks) Broadband
Access business (NSN BBA business) relating toornst payment discounts for one customer, and reableeVAT taxes on certain vendor
freight invoices that should have been recordattior periods. These adjustments resulted from.4 B0llion understatement of net income in
2012. We evaluated the impact of the adjustmenth®mesults of our previously issued financiatesteents for the prior period affected and
concluded that the impact was not material. We elsduated the impact of the cumulative effecthef adjustments in the current year and
concluded that the impact was not material to esuits for the year 2013. Accordingly, during tleayended December 31, 2013 we recorde
an out of period adjustment to correct these issues

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféngtttae reported amounts of assets and liakslitiee disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities at the date of the financial statementsd the reported amounts of revenue and expemsgdhe reporting period. Our more
significant estimates include the obsolete and &xao®/entory reserves, warranty reserves, custoebates, determination of the deferred
revenue components of multiple element sales agretsmestimated costs to complete obligations &ssolcwith deferred revenues, estimated
income tax provision and income tax contingendies fair value of stockased compensation, impairment of goodwill, vabratind estimate
lives of intangible assets, estimated working @ gitjustments under negotiation related to the BB) business acquisition, estimated
pension liability, fair value of investments, ahe tevaluation of other-than-temporary declinehisnvalue of investments. Actual amounts
could differ significantly from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent demand depositey market funds, and short-term investmeiissified as available-for-sale with
original maturities of three months or less. Wentan depository investments with certain finanaiatitutions. Although these depository
investments may exceed government insured deppéinoits, we have evaluated the credit worthinelsthese applicable financial institutions,
and determined the risk of material financial Idag to the exposure of such credit risk to be mahirhs of December 31, 2013, $53.5 million
of our cash and cash equivalents, primarily cedaimestic money market funds and foreign depos#ioppunts, were in excess of governn
provided insured depository limits.
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Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidatddrize sheets for cash and cash equivalents, asaeaeivable, and accounts payable
approximate fair value due to the immediate or steym maturity of these financial instruments. Taerying amount reported for bonds
payable was $46.5 million, compared to an estimtgdalue of $45.4 million, based on a debt seégwvith a comparable interest rate and
maturity and a Standard & Poor’s credit rating ef A

Investments with contractual maturities beyond ye@r, such as our municipal variable rate demamesnmnay be classified as short-term
based on their highly liquid nature and becausé suarketable securities represent the investmecadsf that is available for current
operations. Despite the long-term nature of thiitesl contractual maturities, we routinely buy aetl these securities and we believe we have
the ability to quickly sell them to the remarketiagent, tender agent, or issuer at par value glosiad interest in the event we decide to
liquidate our investment in a particular varialdéerdemand note. All income generated from thesesiments was recorded as interest inct
We have not been required to record any lossetingl® municipal variable rate demand notes.

Long-term investments represent a restricted azat# of deposit held at cost, municipal fixede bonds, corporate bonds, a fixed income |
fund, marketable equity securities, and other gquoitestments. Marketable equity securities arentegl at fair value as determined by the
most recently traded price of the securities atddance sheet date, although the securities miglgeneadily marketable due to the size of the
available market. Unrealized gains and lossespfrteix, are reported as a separate component cktsitilers’equity. Realized gains and los:
on sales of securities are computed under thefgpet@ntification method and are included in cutrancome. We periodically review our
investment portfolio for investments considerethdwe sustained an other-than-temporary declinalinev Impairment charges for other-than-
temporary declines in value are recorded as rehlzsses in the accompanying consolidated statenodéiicome. All of our investments at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 are classified as alaiar-sale securities. See Note 4 of Notes togBbdated Financial Statements for
additional information.

Accounts Receivable

We record accounts receivable at net realizableeva&rior to issuing payment terms to a new custpwe perform a detailed credit review of
the customer. Credit limits are established fohaaw customer based on the results of this crediew. Payment terms are established for
each new customer, and collection experience iswed periodically in order to determine if the tmmser’s payment terms and credit limits
need to be revised. At December 31, 2013, one mustaccounted for 13.1% of our total accounts wetBe. At December 31, 2012, one
customer accounted for 10.4% of our total accoretsivable.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsiéeses resulting from the inability of our customter make required payments. We
regularly review the allowance for doubtful accaiand consider factors such as the age of accoeagivable balances, the current economic
conditions that may affect a customer’s abilityp#y, significant one-time events and our historeqderience. If the financial condition of a
customer deteriorates, resulting in an impairmémheir ability to make payments, we may be reqliberecord an allowance for doubtful
accounts. If circumstances change with regarddividual receivable balances that have previouslyrnbdetermined to be uncollectible (and
for which a specific reserve has been establistzeiduction in our allowance for doubtful accountsy be required. Our allowance for
doubtful accounts was $130 thousand at Decembe2®B and $6 thousand at December 31, 2012.

Other Receivables

Other receivables are comprised primarily of amsuie from subcontract manufacturers for produstpmnent transfers, accrued interest on
investments and on a restricted certificate of diépand amounts due from employee stock optiomoises. At December 31, 2013 and 2012,
other receivables also included an estimated rab&wvdue from NSN related to working capital adjestts that are currently under
negotiation.

Inventory

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or maykeith cost being determined using the first-instfiout method. Standard costs for material,
labor and manufacturing overhead are used to valentory. Standard costs are updated at leastegiyartherefore, inventory costs
approximate actual costs at the end of each reyopeeriod. We establish reserves for estimatedssxadsolete or unmarketable inventory
equal to the difference between the cost of thenbtwry and the estimated fair value of the inventirsed upon assumptions about future
demand and market conditions. When we disposeadssxand obsolete inventories, the related writeadare charged against the inventory
reserve. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Fiab8tatements for additional information.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, which is statedat,ds depreciated using the straight-line methwer the estimated useful lives of the assets.
We depreciate building and land improvements frowa fo 39 years, office machinery and equipmentftbree to seven years, engineering
machinery and equipment from three to seven yeascomputer software from three to five years.dfxjitures for repairs and maintenance
are charged to expense as incurred. Bettermeritmtitarially prolong the lives of the assets angtedized. The cost of assets retired or
otherwise disposed of and the related accumulatpdediation are removed from the accounts, anddireor loss on such disposition is
included in other income (expense), net in the agE@nying consolidated statements of income. See Rof Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information.

Liability for Warranty

Our products generally include warranties of 90sd@ayten years for product defects. We accrue foranty returns at the time revenue is
recognized based on our estimate of the cost tmrepreplace the defective products. We engagsiiensive product quality programs and
processes, including actively monitoring and eviihggthe quality of our component suppliers. Owrdarcts continue to become more comple
in both size and functionality as many of our pratdafferings migrate from line card applicationsststems products. The increasing
complexity of our products will cause warranty ohences, when they arise, to be more costly. Oimatis regarding future warranty
obligations may change due to product failure ratesterial usage, and other rework costs incumambirecting a product failure. In addition,
from time to time, specific warranty accruals ma&yrbcorded if unforeseen problems arise. Shouldocwal experience relative to these fac
be worse than our estimates, we will be requireetord additional warranty expense. Alternativélyye provide for more reserves than we
require, we will reverse a portion of such provsion future periods. The liability for warrantyligations totaled $9.0 million and $9.7 milli
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Thedsiéties are included in accrued expenses inadb@mpanying consolidated balance
sheets.

A summary of warranty expense and write-off acyividr the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2042 fisllows:

Year Ended December 31 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of peri $ 9,65: $4,11¢
Plus: Amounts charged to cost and expe 4,057 5,36:
Amounts assumed on acquisiti — 3,781
Less: Deduction (4,727 (3,609
Balance at end of perioc $ 8,97 $ 9,65

Pension Benefit Plan Obligations

As a result of our acquisition of the NSN BBA buesis, we assumed a defined benefit pension planingwemployees in certain foreign
countries. Pension benefit plan obligations arethas various assumptions used by our actuariealéulating these amounts. These
assumptions include discount rates, compensatierinereases, expected return on plan assetgmatitt rates and mortality rates. Actual
results that differ from the assumptions and chamgassumptions could affect future expenses afigations.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have two Board and stockholder approved stotibmplans from which stock options and other awark available for grant to
employees and directors. All employee and direstock options granted under our stock option pleng an exercise price equal to the fair
market value of the award, as defined in the péithe underlying common stock on the grant daker@& are currently no vesting provisions
tied to performance or market conditions for anti@mpawards; vesting for all outstanding optionrgsais based only on continued service ¢
employee or director of ADTRAN. All of our outstand stock option awards are classified as equitgrds:

Under the provisions of our approved plans, we ntaedats of performanceased restricted stock units to five of our exeeutfficers in 2013
2012 and 2011. The restricted stock units are stilijea market condition based on the relative &fareholder return of ADTRAN against all
the companies in the NASDAQ Telecommunications nated vest at the end of a three-year performaadeg The restricted stock units are
converted into shares of common stock upon vesiregending on the relative total shareholder retwer the performance period, the
executive officers may earn from 0% to 150% ofrbenber of restricted stock units granted. Thevalue of the award is based on the marke
price of our common stock on the date of grantstéjd for the expected outcome of the impact oketazonditions using a Monte Carlo
Simulation valuation method. The recipients of gtricted stock units also earn dividend creditsndy the performance period, which will be
paid in cash upon the issuance of common stocthéorestricted stock units.
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Stock-based compensation expense recognized in 2013 and 2011 was approximately $9.1 million3%8illion and $9.2 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2013, total conspéon cost related to norested stock options, restricted stock units asttioted stock nc
yet recognized was approximately $18.8 million, ethis expected to be recognized over an averagaimérg recognition period of 2.7 yea
See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tetes for additional information.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review longlived assets used in operations for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicateh carrying amount

an asset may not be recoverable and the undisaboash flows estimated to be generated by the assétss than the asset’s carrying value.
An impairment loss would be recognized in the amidaynwhich the recorded value of the asset excteglfair value of the asset, measured by
the quoted market price of an asset or an estibased on the best information available in theuoitstances. There were no impairment losse
recognized during 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill durihg fourth quarter of each year and between anwvadli&ions if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely tharireduce the fair value of the reporting unit beltswcarrying amount. When evaluating
whether goodwill is impaired, we first assess datilie factors to determine whether it is necessaperform the two-step quantitative
goodwill impairment test. If we determine that thw-step quantitative test is necessary, then wepeoe the fair value of the reporting unit to
which the goodwill is assigned to the reportingt'srtarrying amount, including goodwill. If the ¢ging amount of the reporting unit exceeds
its fair value, then the amount of the impairmasislis measured. There were no impairment lossegmied during 2013, 2012 or 2011.
Purchased intangible assets with finite lives areied at cost, less accumulated amortization. Aixadion is recorded over the estimated us
lives of the respective assets, which is 2.5 tgdats.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include compengatiengineers and support personnel, outside aotetd services, depreciation and
material costs associated with new product devedsinthe enhancement of current products, and ptaahst reductions. We continually
evaluate new product opportunities and engagetémgive research and product development effogse&ch and development costs totaled
$131.1 million, $126.0 million and $100.3 millioarfthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and B&dectively.

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income consists of unrealiz&asglosses) on available-for-sale securitiedassification adjustments for amounts
included in net income related to impairments dilable-for-sale securities and realized gainss@g} on available-for-sale securities, defined
benefit plan adjustments and foreign currency tedizs adjustments.
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The following tables present changes in accumulatedr comprehensive income, net of tax, by compbfoe the years ended December 31,

2011, 2012 and 2013:

(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 201
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 201
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifins
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 2012
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifins
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive incon

Balance at December 31, 201

Unrealized
Gains (Losses
Defined

on Available- Benefit Plan Foreign

for-Sale Currency

Securities Adjustments Adjustments Total

$ 23,85 $ — $ 3,09¢ $26,94¢
(6,789 — (154) (6,93¢)
(6,90¢) — — (6,90¢)

$ 10,16( $ — $ 2,94: $13,10:
5,42¢ (1,957) 17¢ 3,64¢
(5,479 — — (5,47%)

$ 10,10¢ $ (1,959 $ 3,11 $11,26¢
5,50¢ 1,061 (2,208) 4,36¢
(4,879 — — (4,879

$ 10,73 $ (897) $ 907 $10,75:

The following tables present the details of redfacsgtions out of accumulated other comprehensiv®ime for the years ended December 31,

2013, 2012 and 2011:

(In thousands)

2013

Amount Reclassified
from Accumulated Other

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensivi
Income Components

Comprehensive Income

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-
sale securities
Net realized gain on sales of
securities $
Impairment expens

8,02:
(29

Total reclassifications for the period,
before tax
Tax (expense) bene

7,99¢
(3,119

Total reclassifications for the period, net
of tax $

4,87¢

(In thousands)

Affected Line Item in the
Statement Where Net Income Is
Presented

Net realized investment gi
Net realized investment gi

2012

Amount Reclassified
from Accumulated Other

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensivi
Income Components

Comprehensive Income

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-
sale securities
Net realized gain on sales of
securities $
Impairment expens

9,66:
(682)

Total reclassifications for the period,
before tax
Tax (expense) bene

8,98(
(3,507)

Total reclassifications for the period, net
of tax $

5,47¢
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(In thousands) 2011

Amount Reclassified Affected Line Item in the
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensivi from Accumulated Other Statement Where Net Income
Income Components Comprehensive Income Is Presented

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-f
sale securities
Net realized gain on sales of

securities $ 11,39 Net realized investment gi
Impairment expens (68) Net realized investment gi
Total reclassifications for the period,
before tax 11,32¢
Tax (expense) bene (4,417%)
Total reclassifications for the period, ne
tax $ 6,90¢

The following tables present the tax effects reldatethe change in each component of other compedeincome for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013
Tax
Before-Tax (Expense Net-of-Tax
(In thousands) Amount Benefit Amount
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-salesges $ 9,03( $(3,527) $ 5,50¢
Reclassification adjustment for amounts includedahincome (7,999 3,11¢ (4,879
Defined benefit plan adjustmer 1,061 — 1,061
Foreign currency translation adjustm (2,205 — (2,209)
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss $ (112 $ (407 $ (519
2012
Tax
Before-Tax (Expense Net-of-Tax
(In thousands) Amount Benefit Amount
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-salesges $ 8,89t $(3,469) $ 5,42¢
Reclassification adjustment for amounts includedahincome (8,980 3,50z (5,47¢)
Defined benefit plan adjustmer (1,959 — (1,957)
Foreign currency translation adjustm 17C — 17C
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss $ (1,869) $ 38 $ (1,839
2011
Tax
Before-Tax (Expense Net-of-Tax
(In thousands) Amount Benefit Amount
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-saleisges $(11,12)) $ 4,331 $ (6,789
Reclassification adjustment for amounts includedahincome (11,329 4,417 (6,909
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (159 — (1549)
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss $(22,600) $ 8,75¢ $(13,84¢)
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Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determiiséty the asset and liability approach of accognfiim income taxes. Under this approach,
deferred taxes represent the future tax conseqeemxpected to occur when the reported amountssetsiand liabilities are recovered or paid.
The provision for income taxes represents incomestpaid or payable for the current year plus ttenge in deferred taxes during the year.
Deferred taxes result from the difference betwéeanicial and tax bases of our assets and lialsilaied are adjusted for changes in tax rate
tax laws when such changes are enacted. Valudtmmaaces are recorded to reduce deferred taxsasdwn it is more likely than not that a
tax benefit will not be realized.

We establish reserves to remove some or all ofathéenefit of any of our tax positions at the tiwe determine that the positions become
uncertain. We adjust these reserves, includingrmapgct on the related interest and penalties, @s tnd circumstances change.

Foreign Currency

We record transactions denominated in foreign cgies on a monthly basis using exchange rates tinomughout the year. Assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies aemslated at the balance sheet dates using thaglates of exchange between those foreign
currencies and the U.S. dollar with any transacgaims or losses reported in other income (expeAsi)istments resulting from translating
financial statements of international subsidiagesrecorded as a component of accumulated othepretensive income (loss).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is generally recognized when persuasigeree of an arrangement exists, delivery has oedutihe product price is fixed or
determinable, collection of the resulting receieaisl reasonably assured, and product returns asemeably estimable. For product sales,
revenue is generally recognized upon shipmenteptbduct to our customer in accordance with the tiiansfer terms of the sales agreement
generally FOB shipping point. In the case of cons@jinventory, revenue is recognized when the estbmer assumes ownership of the
product. Contracts that contain multiple deliveestdre evaluated to determine the units of acaogrdind the consideration from the
arrangement is allocated to each unit of accouriiaggd on the relative selling price and corresimgniggrms of the contract. We use vendor-
specific objective evidence of selling price. Whikis evidence is not available, we are generallyaite to determine third-party evidence of
selling price because of the extent of customiragéimong competing products or services from otherpanies. We record revenue associate
with installation services when all contractualigations are complete. In instances where cust@oegptance is required, revenue is deferrec
until all acceptance criteria have been met. Catdrthat include both installation services andipo sales are evaluated for revenue
recognition in accordance with contract terms. Asslt, depending on contract terms, installaservices may be considered a separate
deliverable or may be considered a combined simgiieof accounting with the delivered product. Geatlg, either the purchaser, ADTRAN, or
a third party can perform the installation of oungucts. Shipping fees are recorded as revenu¢hanglated cost is included in cost of sales.
Sales taxes invoiced to customers are includeehianues, and represent less than one percenabfésenues. The corresponding sales taxes
paid are included in cost of goods sold. Value ddd®es collected from customers in internationdsgictions are recorded in accrued
expenses as a liability. Revenue is recorded ndisebunts. Sales returns are accrued based amitédtsales return experience, which we
believe provides a reasonable estimate of futuremns.

A portion of Enterprise Networks products are gold nonexclusive distribution network of major technoladjgtributors in the United State
These large organizations then distribute or pr¥idfillment services to an extensive network afue-added resellers and system integrator:
Value-added resellers and system integrators maffitiated with us as a channel partner, or thewmurchase from the distributor in an
unaffiliated fashion. Additionally, with certaimtitations our distributors may return unused anop@med product for stodkalancing purpos:
when such returns are accompanied by offsettingrerfibr products of equal or greater value.

We participate in cooperative advertising and madeselopment programs with certain customers. ¥éethese programs to reimburse
customers for certain forms of advertising, andeneral, to allow our customers credits up to @&ifipe percentage of their net purchases. Ou
costs associated with these programs are estimatkthcluded in marketing expenses in our cons@itlatatements of income. We also
participate in rebate programs to provide salesritices for certain products. Our costs associaitdthese programs are estimated and
accrued at the time of sale, and are recordededugtion of sales in our consolidated statemefiitscome.
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Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue primarily represents customendpdlon our maintenance service programs and ueéaavenues relating to multiple
element contracts where we still have contractbgations to our customers. We currently offer m@nance contracts ranging from one to
five years, primarily on Enterprise Networks Diwisiproducts sold through distribution channels.dRexe attributable to maintenance conti
is recognized on a straight-line basis over thateel contract term. In addition, we provide sofevaraintenance and a variety of hardware
maintenance services to Carrier Networks Divisiostemers, which include customers of the acquir88lBBA business, under contracts
with terms up to ten years. At December 31, 20182012, unearned revenue was as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Current unearned revenue $22,20¢ $35,32¢
Non-current unearned reven 14,64 22,37,
Total $36,84¢ $57,70:¢

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, is comprised primafilyiscellaneous income and expense, gains asddam foreign currency transactions,
investment account management fees, and gainssedmn the disposal of property, plant and equiporxurring in the normal course of
business.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share, and earnings per corstrame assuming dilution, are based on the weightethge number of common shares
and, when dilutive, common equivalent shares owdiitey during the year. See Note 14 of Notes to Gldteted Financial Statements for
additional information.

Dividends

The Board of Directors presently anticipates thaiili declare a regular quarterly dividend as l@asthe current tax treatment of dividends
exists and adequate levels of liquidity are maingdi During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20d2011, we paid $21.4 million, $22.8
million and $23.1 million, respectively, in sharddher dividends. On January 21, 2014, the Boardicéddors declared a quarterly cash divid
of $0.09 per common share to be paid to sharetolferecord at the close of business on Februa29®4. The ex-dividend date was
February 4, 2014 and the payment date was Feb20ar3014. The quarterly dividend payment was $5ltlom.

Business Combinations

We use the acquisition method to account for bssimembinations. Under the acquisition method obanting, we recognize the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair eadun the acquisition date. Goodwill is measurethasxcess of the consideration transferred
over the net assets acquired. Costs incurred tpletenthe business combination, such as legalunaticm or other professional fees, are
charged to general and administrative expensdsegsate incurred.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

During 2013, we adopted the following accountirensiards, which had no material effect on our cadatid results of operations or financial
condition:

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stedslblpdate No. 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Resifi@sl Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2013-02). ASU 2013-02ireg entities to provide information about the amis reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income by compagithi@r on the face of the financial statements ¢ine footnotes. ASU 201382 does nc
change the current requirements for reportingmedrne or other comprehensive income in the finduistédements. This update is effective
prospectively for reporting periods beginning afbecember 15, 2012. We adopted this amendmentgithiénfirst quarter of 2013, and we
have provided the disclosures required for thegyeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 in Not&btes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Note 2 — Business Combinations

On May 4, 2012, we acquired the NSN BBA businesss @icquisition provides us with an establishedaasr base in key markets and
complementary, market-focused products and wasuated for as a business combination. We have iedule financial results of the NSN
BBA business in our consolidated financial statetsisince the date of acquisition. These revenwemaluded in the Carrier Networks
division in the Broadband Access subcategory.

Upon acquisition, we received a cash payment & 8illion from NSN and recorded a bargain purchgeia of $1.8 million, net of income
taxes, subject to customary working capital adjestis between the parties as defined in the purdm@sement. As of December 31, 2013, th
parties were in the process of negotiating finatkiry capital adjustments. We have adjusted thehmsge price allocation to record additional
estimated liabilities and an estimated receivatdenfNSN related to working capital adjustments umdggotiation. The bargain purchase gain
of $1.8 million represents the excess of the caratibn exchanged over the fair value of the assmisired and liabilities assumed. We have
assessed the recognition and measurements ofsbts asquired and liabilities assumed based oaoriuiat and pro forma data for future
periods and have concluded that our valuation phaes and resulting measures were appropriategdines included in the line item “Gain
on bargain purchase of a business” in the 2012 @ioiased Statements of Income.

The allocation of the purchase price to the estihddir value of the assets acquired and liaksliiesumed at the acquisition date is as follows

(In Thousands)

Other receivable $ 9,48¢
Inventory 21,06¢
Property, plant and equipme 5,03¢
Accounts payabl (5,199
Unearned revent (18,207
Accrued expense (3,36))
Accrued wages and benef (2,25))
Deferred tax liability (78¢)
Non-current unearned reven (19,88¢)
Net liabilities assumec (14,099
Customer relationshir 5,16z
Developed technolog 3,17¢
Other 13
Gain on bargain purchase of a business, net ¢ (1,759
Net consideration received from selle $ (7,496

The fair value of the customer relationships a@gliwas calculated using a discounted cash flow odetbxcess earnings) and is being
amortized using a declining balance method derfx@d projected customer revenue over an averageasid useful life of 13 years. The fair
value of the developed technology acquired wasutatied using a discounted cash flow method (rélaeh royalty) and is being amortized
using the straight-line method over an estimatedulidife of five years.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&cweed acquisition and integration related expsrend amortization of acquired
intangibles of $2.9 million and $7.9 million, resgigely, related to this acquisition.

The following supplemental pro forma informatiorepents the financial results of the acquired NSMBBsiness for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011. The pro forma resaithé period January 1, 2012 to May 4, 2012 andagy 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011
are not included in our consolidated financial hssu

This supplemental pro forma information does napptt to be indicative of what would have occurhed! the acquisition of the NSN BBA
business been completed on January 1, 2011, ntneyéndicative of any future results.

(In thousands) (Unaudited 2012 2011

Pro forma revenue $ 119,60( $ 196,25t
Pro forma pr-tax loss $ (23,62) $ (36,980
Weighted average exchange rate during the periddREUSD) €1.00/$1.2! €1.00/$1.3:
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On August 4, 2011, we acquired all of the outstagditock of Bluesocket, Inc., a provider of wirelegtwork solutions with virtual control, 1
$23.7 million in cash. The acquisition providesaith IEEE802.11N enterprise class wireless LAN efpe, technology, and products to
address the growing transition within sm@aédium enterprises and large enterprises to wselesvorks and mobile devices. We have incl
the financial results of Bluesocket in our consati@t! financial statements since the date of adiprisiPro forma results of operations prior to
the closing date for the acquisition have not b@esented because the effect of the acquisitiornwbmaterial to our financial results. The
allocation of the purchase price to the estimasédvialue of the assets acquired and liabilitiesiased at the acquisition date is as follows:

(In Thousands)

Cash $ 1,027
Accounts receivabl 29¢
Inventory 792
Prepaid expenst 357
Property, plant and equipme 172
Deferred tax assets, r 12,96:
Accounts payabl (447)
Unearned revent (600
Accrued expense (339
Net assets acquirec 14,23¢
Customer relationshiy 1,53(
Developed technolog 3,23(
Intellectual propert 93C
Trade name 27C
Goodwill 3,49
Total purchase price $23,68t¢

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the purchaseepand purchase price allocation were adjusteddofinal valuations. The adjustments
resulted in a decrease to the goodwill recogningfie transaction.

The net deferred tax assets acquired are primaigyed to net operating losses and previouslytaié®d and unamortized research and
development expense for tax deduction purposes.

The fair value of the customer relationships, depetl technology and intellectual property acquwes calculated using an income approach
(excess earnings method) and is being amortizedjtke straight-line method. The customer relatiggesand intellectual property are being
amortized over an estimated useful life of 7 yeans the developed technology is being amortized aneverage estimated useful life of 4.5
years.

The fair value of the trade names acquired wasutatked using an income approach (relief from rgyalethod) and is being amortized using
the straight-line method over the estimated udd&bf 4.5 years.

The goodwill of $3.5 million generated from thisjacsition is primarily related to expected synesgigd was assigned to our Enterprise
Networks division. The goodwill will not be deduat for U.S. federal income tax purpos

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid @@lincurred integration related expenses andtaration of acquired intangibles of
$1.1 million, $1.5 million and $1.7 million, respiely, related to this acquisition.

Note 3 — Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Incentive Program Descriptions

Our Board of Directors adopted the 1996 Employeeittive Stock Option Plan (1996 Plan) effectivertiaby 14, 1996, as amended, under
which 17.0 million shares of common stock were ati#ted for issuance to certain employees and offiterough incentive stock options and
non-qualified stock options. Options granted urtter1996 Plan typically become exercisable begmaiiter one year of continued
employment, normally pursuant to a four or fivedyeesting schedule beginning on the first annivgrsd the grant date, and have a ten-year
contractual term. The 1996 Plan expired Februan2@@6, and expiration dates of options outstandingecember 31, 2013 under the 1996
Plan range from 2014 to 2015.
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On January 23, 2006, the Board of Directors adofite®006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (2006 Plahjch authorizes 13.0 million shares
of common stock for issuance to certain employeesadficers through incentive stock options and-goalified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock and restric®ck units. The 2006 Plan was adopted by stddkhapproval at our annual meeting of
stockholders held on May 9, 2006. Options grantedtuthe 2006 Plan typically become exercisablénpéarg after one year of continued
employment, normally pursuant to a four-year vestiohedule beginning on the first anniversary efghant date, and have a ten-year
contractual term. Expiration dates of options artding at December 31, 2013 under the 2006 Playeriitom 2016 to 2023.

Our stockholders approved the 2010 Directors SRiak (2010 Directors Plan) on May 5, 2010, undeictv®.5 million shares of common
stock have been reserved. This plan replaces & Rivectors Stock Option Plan. The 2010 Direcflen provides that the Company may
issue stock options, restricted stock and resttisteck units to our non-employee directors. Stwhrds issued under the 2010 Directors Plar
normally become vested in full on the first annsagy of the grant date. Options issued under ti® Zirectors Plan have a ten-year
contractual term. We currently also have optiontstamding under the 1995 Directors Plan, as amerahetithe 2005 Directors Stock Option
Plan. Expiration dates of options outstanding uraeh plans at December 31, 2013 range from 202018.

The following table is a summary of our stock optimutstanding as of December 31, 2012 and 201 ghenthanges that occurred during
2013:

Weighted Avg.
Remaining_
Number of Weighted Contractual Life
Average Aggregate
(In thousands, except per share amoun Options Exercise Pric¢ in Years Intrinsic Value
Options outstanding, December 31, 201 6,03t $ 24.81] 6.6¢ $ 5,15¢
Options grante 1,00t $ 23.6¢
Options cancelled/forfeite (497) $ 29.6(
Options exercise (191 $ 19.0
Options outstanding, December 31, 201 6,35¢ $  24.4: 6.6( $ 25,87¢
Options exercisable, December 31, 20: 3,911 $  24.7F 5.1¢ $ 15,33¢

All of the options above were issued at exerciseeprthat approximate fair market value at the déatgrant. At December 31, 2013, 6.0 mill
options were available for grant under the shadsgradpproved plans.

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (théedénce between ADTRAN'’s closing stock
price on the last trading day of 2013 and the @gengrice, multiplied by the number of in-th@ney options) that would have been receive
the option holders had all option holders exercibed options on December 31, 2013. The amouaggfegate intrinsic value will change
based on the fair market value of ADTRAN'’s stock.

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of options exsed during 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $1.1 milliort $dillion and $39.8 million, respectively.
The fair value of options fully vesting during 2028912 and 2011 was $7.7 million, $7.7 million &Yd3 million, respectively.

The following table further describes our stockiops outstanding as of December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Options Weighted Avg. Weighted Options Weighted
Outstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable al Average
Range of 12/31/13 Contractual Life Exercise 12/31/13 Exercise
Exercise Price: (In thousands) in Years Price (In thousands) Price
$14.88 — 18.07 1,45¢ 7.4z $16.37 74z $ 15.7¢
$18.08-23.36 1,00z 3.04 $ 22.5¢ 1,001 $ 22.5¢
$23.37-26.06 1,74 8.1C $ 23.6( 74% $ 23.5¢
$26.07-30.04 46€ 3.5¢ $ 29.3¢ 38¢ $29.71
$30.05-30.36 90¢ 7.67 $ 30.3¢ 454 $ 30.3¢
$30.37-41.92 784 6.84 $ 33.7¢ 58€ $ 33.7¢
6,35¢ 3,911
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Restricted Stock Program Descripti

On November 6, 2008, the Compensation CommittébeoBoard of Directors approved the Performanceedhagreement under the 2006
Plan which sets forth the terms and conditionswdrds of performance-based restricted stock uRigUS). Of the 13.0 million shares of
common stock authorized for issuance under the Z0@6, we may grant up to 5.0 million shares of wmn stock for issuance to certain
employees and officers for awards other than sbmtions, which would include RSUs. Under a propdisat was approved by the Board of
Directors and shareholders at the 2010 annual nggdlie number of shares available for awards dizar stock options under all stock plans
was reduced to 3.3 million. The number of sharesoaimon stock earned by a recipient pursuant t&R&lgs is subject to a market condition
based on ADTRAN's relative total shareholder retagainst all companies in the NASDAQ Telecommuicet Index at the end of a three-
year performance period. Depending on the reldtitad shareholder return over the performance gethee recipient may earn from 0%
150% of the shares underlying the RSUs, with tle@eshearned distributed upon the vesting of theR8lthe end of the three-year
performance period. The fair value of the awardised on the market price of our common stock erlétie of grant, adjusted for the expe:
outcome of the impact of market conditions usingante Carlo Simulation valuation method. A portifithe granted RSUs also vest and the
underlying shares become deliverable upon the deadisability of the recipient or upon a changeofitrol of ADTRAN, as defined by the
2006 Plan. The recipients of the RSUs receive diviticredits based on the shares of common stoaklyimty the RSUs. The dividend credits
are vested and earned in the same manner as the &f@llvill be paid in cash upon the issuance ofnrsomstock for the RSUs.

The following table is a summary of our RSUs arstrieted stock outstanding as of December 31, 20122013 and the changes that occt
during 2013:

Number of Weighted

Average Grant

(In thousands, except per share amoun shares Date Fair Value
Unvested RSUs and restricted stock outstanding, Dember 31, 201: 108 $ 29.2¢
RSUs and restricted stock gran 41 $ 27.45
RSUs and restricted stock ves (39 $ 29.4:
Adjustments to shares granted due to shares eatnvesting (100 $ 39.21
Unvested RSUs and restricted stock outstanding, Dember 31, 2013 9%5 $ 28.3¢

At December 31, 2013, total compensation costedl&i the non-vested portion of RSUs and restristedk not yet recognized was
approximately $1.7 million, which is expected torbeognized over an average remaining recognitésiog of 1.9 years.

Valuation and Expense Information

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model (Bl&choles Model) for the purpose of determiningegbmated fair value of stock option
awards on the date of grant. The Black-Scholes Medgiires the input of certain assumptions thedlve judgment. Because our stock
options have characteristics significantly diffaréfom those of traded options, and because changhe input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate, existing models maf/provide reliable measures of fair value of stack options. We use a Monte Carlo
Simulation valuation method to value our perfornebased RSUs. The fair value of restricted stoslkead is equal to the closing price of our
stock on the date of grant. We will continue toegssthe assumptions and methodologies used tdatelthie estimated fair value of stock-
based compensation. If circumstances change, afiticaal data becomes available over time, we nt@nge our assumptions and
methodologies, which may materially impact our faitue determination.

The following table summarizes stock-based comp@rsaxpense related to stock options, RSUs artdatesl stock for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, which was rezedras follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of s $ 46F $ 42z $ 412
Selling, general and administrative expe 4,44: 4,351 4,31¢
Research and development expe 4,16¢ 4,491 4,441
Stock-based compensation expense included in operatingpenses 8,60¢ 8,84z 8,751
Total stock-based compensation expen: 9,07: 9,26¢ 9,16¢
Tax benefit for expense associated with-qualified options (1,299 (1,239 (1,327
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of t $7,77¢ $ 8,03( $ 7,84t
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At December 31, 2013, total compensation costedld non-vested stock options not yet recognizasl approximately $17.1 million, which
is expected to be recognized over an average rémgaiecognition period of 2.8 years.

The stock option pricing model requires the ussesferal assumptions that impact the fair valuenegé. These variables include, but are not
limited to, the volatility of our stock price anchployee exercise behaviors. There were no maiehi@mtges made during 2013 to the
methodology used to determine our assumptions.

The weighted-average estimated fair value of stgtions granted to employees and directors duhieg/ears ended December 31, 2013, 201
and 2011 was $8.35 per share, $5.60 per share%ab8 fer share, respectively, with the followinggited-average assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 39.9% 39.4% 38.32%
Risk-free interest rat 1.71% 0.9€% 1.01%
Expected dividend yiel 1.52% 2.05% 1.1¢%
Expected life (in years 6.3€ 6.1¢ 5.1¢t

We based our estimate of expected volatility ferykars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20Hem®guential historical daily trading
data of our common stock for a period equal toetkgected life of the options granted. The seleatibtine historical volatility method was
based on available data indicating our historicdtility is as equally representative of our fitstock price trends as is our implied volatility.
We have no reason to believe the future volatditpur stock price is likely to differ from its pagolatility.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upplied yields of U.S. Treasury zero-coupon boodshe date of grant having a remaining
term equal to the expected life of the options gganThe dividend yield is based on our historazad expected dividend payouts.

The expected life of our stock options is basecdhupistorical exercise and cancellation activityoaf previous stock-based grants with a ten-
year contractual tern

The RSU pricing model also requires the use ofregsggnificant assumptions that impact the faluesestimate. The estimated fair value of
the RSUs granted to employees during the yearsdeDdeember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $27.72hpee,s$19.46 per share and $38.73
per share, respectively, with the following assuon:

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 38.8%% 37.7%% 39.32%0
Risk-free interest rat 0.61% 0.3&8% 0.3
Expected dividend yiel 1.52% 2.172% 1.0&%

Stock-based compensation expense recognized i@ansolidated Statements of Income for the yearséiecember 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011 is based on RSUs and options ultimately et vest, and has been reduced for estimateeitiods. Estimates for forfeiture rates are
based upon historical experience and are evaluptaderly. We expect our forfeiture rate for stogkion awards to be approximately 2.5%
annually. We estimated a 0% forfeiture rate for R&tUs and restricted stock due to the limited numbeecipients and historical experience
for these awards.
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Note 4 — Investments
At December 31, 2013, we held the following sedesiand investments, recorded at either fair vafumst:

. Fair Value /
Gross Unrealized

Amortized Carrying

(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
Deferred compensation plan assets $ 12,30( $ 2,841 $ (24 $ 15,12
Corporate bond 166,37( 534 (45) 166,85¢
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 135,77: 58: (54) 136,30:
Municipal variable rate demand no 8,31( — — 8,31(
Marketable equity securitie 24,654 13,97t (177) 38,45:
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $347,40° $17,93¢ $(30C)  $365,04¢
Restricted investment held at cost 48,25(
Other investments held at cos 1,68¢
Total carrying value of available-for-sale investments $414,98!

At December 31, 2012, we held the following se@esitind investments, recorded at either fair valusost:
. Fair Value /
Gross Unrealized

Amortized Carrying

(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
Deferred compensation plan assets $ 10,68t¢ $ 84¢ $ (7 $ 11,52
Corporate bond 185,46« 96€ (18) 186,41.
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 174,53 627 (73 175,08«
Municipal variable rate demand no 34,37t — — 34,37t
Fixed income bond fun 444 12 — 45€
Marketable equity securitie 20,96¢ 14,63( (392) 35,20¢
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $426,46° $17,08: $(490)  $443,05¢
Restricted investment held at cost 48,25(
Other investments held at cos 1,902
Total carrying value of available-for-sale investments $493,21(

As of December 31, 2013, corporate and municipaidfirate bonds had the following contractual méasi

Corporate Municipal
(In thousands) bonds fixed-rate bonds
Less than one year $ 55,39¢ $ 46,60¢
One to two year 37,83¢ 25,28¢
Two to three year 70,44 55,35¢
Three to five year 3,17¢ 9,054
Total $166,85¢ $ 136,30.

Our investment policy provides limitations for issiconcentration, which limits, at the time of phase, the concentration in any one issuer to
5% of the market value of our total investment fudid.

We review our investment portfolio for potentiattier-than-temporary” declines in value on an indiixl investment basis. We assess, on a
quarterly basis, significant declines in value vithicay be considered other-than-temporary andcéssary, recognize and record the
appropriate charge to write-down the carrying vafisuch investments. In making this assessmentakeesinto consideration qualitative and
guantitative information, including but not limitéo the following: the magnitude and duration cftbrical declines in market prices, credit
rating activity, assessments of liquidity, pubiiinfys, and statements made by the issuer. We giypéegin our identification of potential
other-thantemporary impairments by reviewing any securityhvdtfair value that has declined from its origioahdjusted cost basis by 25%
more for six or more consecutive months. We thealuate the individual security based on the preslipidentified factors to determine the
amount of the write-down, if any. As a result of oeview, we recorded an other-than-temporary immpent charge of $11 thousand during the
fourth quarter of 2013. For each of the years emgleckmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 we recordedrgelod $25 thousand, $0.7 million and
$68 thousand, respectively, related to the othan-lemporary impairment of certain marketable gosétcurities and our deferred
compensation plan assets.
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Realized gains and losses on sales of securiteesoanputed under the specific identification methidee following table presents gross
realized gains and losses related to our invessrfenthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 @htt 2

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Gross realized gains $8,93: $11,00¢ $13,64:
Gross realized losst $ (31¢) $(1,45€) $(1,187%)

The following table presents the breakdown of itweshts with unrealized losses at December 31, 2013:

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized

Loss Position for Less Loss Position for 12
(In thousands) than 12 Months Months or Greater Total

Unrealized Unrealizec Unrealizec
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Deferred compensation plan assets $ 48 $ 6 $ 40¢ $ (18 $ 457 $ (29
Corporate bond 20,69" (45) — — 20,69" (45)
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 13,73: (54) — — 13,73: (54)
Marketable equity securitie 2,75¢ (173 31 (4) 2,78¢ (177)
Total $3723 $ (27 $ 44C  $ (220 $37,67¢ $ (300
The following table presents the breakdown of itwests with unrealized losses at December 31, 2012.

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized

Loss Position for Less Loss Position for 12
(In thousands) than 12 Months Months or Greater Total

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealizec
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Deferred compensation plan assets $ 915 3 n $ — $ — $ 91t $ ©)
Corporate bond 20,20« a7 1,60( (€D} 21,80¢ (18)
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 34,29 (73 — — 34,29 (73
Marketable equity securitie 6,171 (35%) 23C (37) 6,401 (392)
Total $ 61,587 $ (452 $ 1,83 $ (38 $63,411 $ (490

The decrease in unrealized losses during 201&flested in the table above, is primarily due te tbstructuring of our investment portfolio

relating to marketable equity securities in Decen# 3 resulting in the sale of several securitiean unrealized loss position. At
December 31, 2013, a total of 168 of our marketaelldty securities were in an unrealized loss posit
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We have categorized our cash equivalents held imesnmarket funds and our investments held at fairevinto a three-level fair value
hierarchy based on the priority of the inputs ® ¥aluation technique for the cash equivalentsiavestments as follows: Level 1—Values
based on unadjusted quoted prices for identicaitass liabilities in an active market; Level 2—Was$ based on quoted prices in markets that
are not active or model inputs that are observeitter directly or indirectly; Level 3—Values basad prices or valuation techniques that
require inputs that are both unobservable andfgignit to the overall fair value measurement. Thapeats include information supplied by
investees.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Usil

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset:
Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $  3,94¢ $ 3,94¢ $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securities
Deferred compensation plan ass 15,12 15,12 — —
Available-for-sale debt securities
Corporate bond 166,85¢ — 166,85¢ —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 136,30: — 136,30: —
Municipal variable rate demand no 8,31( — 8,31( —
Available-for-sale marketable equity securitie:
Marketable equity securitie- technology industr 11,39¢ 11,39¢ — —
Marketable equity securiti other 27,054 27,05¢ — —
Available-for-sale securities 365,04t 53,57¢ 311,47: —
Total $368,99! $ 57,52 $311,47: $ —
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Usil
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset:
Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $ 28,07: $ 28,07 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securities
Deferred compensation plan ass 11,527 11,527 — —
Available-for-sale debt securities
Corporate bond 186,41. — 186,41. —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 175,08« — 175,08« —
Municipal variable rate demand no 34,37t — 34,37t —
Fixed income bond fun 45€ 45¢ — —
Available-for-sale marketable equity securitie:
Marketable equity securitie technology industr 14,09¢ 14,09¢ — —
Marketable equity securiti other 21,10t 21,10¢ — —
Available-for-sale securities 443,05¢ 47,18 395,87: —
Total $471,12¢ $  75,25¢ $395,87: $ —

The fair value of our Level 2 securities is caltethusing a weighted average market price for sachrity. Market prices are obtained from a
variety of industry standard data providers, segumiaster files from large financial institutiorad other third-party sources. These multiple
market prices are used as inputs into a distribetiarve-based algorithm to determine the daily reavialue of each security.

Our municipal variable rate demand notes haveugtstre that implies a standard expected markegpfibe frequent interest rate resets ma
reasonable to expect the price to stay at par.elbesurities are priced at the expected markes pric
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Note 5 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activiies

We have certain international customers who afedih their local currency. Changes in the moneéxchange rates may adversely affect oL
results of operations and financial condition. Whaepropriate, we enter into various derivative $gartions to enhance our ability to manage
the volatility relating to these typical businegp@sures. We do not hold or issue derivative imsemts for trading or other speculative
purposes. Our derivative instruments are recordelde Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fairesmlOur derivative instruments do not
qualify for hedge accounting, and accordingly chhinges in the fair value of the instruments ategrized as other income (expense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The maximunmracttal period for our derivatives is currentlydelsan twelve months. Our derivative
instruments are not subject to master netting gaanents and are not offset in the Consolidatedridal&heets.

As of December 31, 2013, we had forward contraatstanding with notional amounts totaling €18.5liml ($25.5 million), which mature
through 2014.

The fair values of our derivative instruments releat in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of Deaedih@013 were as follows:

December 31, 201
Balance Shee

(In thousands) Location Fair Value
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrumeesé| 2):

Foreign exchange contra— asset derivative Other receivable $ 18
Foreign exchange contra liability derivatives Accounts payab $ (19

The change in the fair values of our derivativdrimaents recorded in the Consolidated Statemenritscome during the year ended
December 31, 2013 were as follows:

Income Statement

(In thousands) Location 2013
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrume
Foreign exchange contrac Other income (expens $75C

Note 6 — Inventory
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, inventory was casegrdf the following:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Raw materials $44,09: $ 47,05¢
Work in proces: 3,48¢ 3,26:
Finished good 42,53¢ 51,06!
Total Inventory, net $90,11: $101,37°

We establish reserves for estimated excess, obsoletinmarketable inventory equal to the diffeechetween the cost of the inventory and thi
estimated fair value of the inventory based up@uemptions about future demand and market conditdnhBecember 31, 2013 and 2012, raw
materials reserves totaled $16.9 million and $9l8an, respectively, and finished goods inventoegerves totaled $6.1 million and $2.1
million, respectively.
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Note 7 — Property, Plant and Equipment
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, property, planteandpment were comprised of the following:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Land $ 4,267 $ 4,26¢
Building and land improvemen 21,77¢ 20,91t
Building 68,47¢ 68,47¢
Furniture and fixture 16,46 16,63:
Computer hardware and softwz 70,46¢ 68,59¢
Engineering and other equipme 104,58« 99,08!
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 286,03! 277,96!
Less accumulated depreciati (209,299 (197,719
Total Property, Plant and Equipment, net $ 76,73¢ $ 80,24¢

Depreciation expense was $12.2 million, $12.1 omlland $10.8 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, retpely.

Note 8 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill,adlvhich is included in our Enterprise Networksidion, for the year ended December 31,
2013 are as follows:

(In thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 3,49:
Acquisitions —
Impairment losse —

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 3,492

Balance as of December 31, 201
Gooduwiill $3,49:
Accumulated impairment loss —

Total goodwiill $3,49:

We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill durihg fourth quarter of each year and between anwvadli&ions if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely tharreduce the fair value of the reporting unit beltswcarrying amount. When evaluating
whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the failue of the reporting unit to which the goodwilkissigned to the reporting unit’s carrying
amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amouwftthe reporting unit exceeds its fair value, thiesm amount of the impairment loss is
measured. There were no impairment losses recaydinéng 2013 or 2012.

Intangible assets are included in other assetsim¢companying Consolidated Balance Sheets ahainmtangible assets acquired in
conjunction with our acquisition of Objectworld Comanications Corporation on September 15, 2009, $iclkeet, Inc. on August 4, 2011, and
the NSN BBA business on May 4, 2012.

The following table presents our intangible asastef December 31, 2013 and 2012:

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross

Gross Value Amortization Net Value Value Amortization Net Value
Customer relationships $ 6,99 $ (1,557 $5441 $6,76¢ $  (76€) $ 6,00¢
Developed technolog 6,531 (2,692 3,84¢ 6,391 (1,359 5,04:
Intellectual property 2,34( (1,189 1,15¢ 2,34( (851) 1,48¢
Trade name 27C (14%) 12t 27C (85) 18t
Other 14 (8) 6 13 (3) 10
Total $ 16,157 $ (5,585 $10,57: $1578¢ $ (3,059 $12,73(

Amortization expense was $2.4 million, $2.0 milliand $0.7 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respetjiv
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As of December 31, 2013, the estimated future drativn expense of intangible assets is as follows:

(In thousands) Amount
2014 $ 2,33t
2015 2,19¢
2016 1,92¢
2017 1,302
2018 784
Thereafte! 2,027

Total $10,57:

Note 9 — Alabama State Industrial Development Authigty Financing and Economic Incentives

In conjunction with an expansion of our Huntsvilkdabama, facility, we were approved for participatin an incentive program offered by
State of Alabama Industrial Development Authorttye(“Authority”). Pursuant to the program, on Jagul3, 1995, the Authority issued $20.0
million of its taxable revenue bonds and loanedpitoeeeds from the sale of the bonds to ADTRAN. bbeds were originally purchased by
AmSouth Bank of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama (tBarik”). Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nashville, Tennessienierly First Union National
Bank of Tennessee) (the “Bondholder”), which waguared by Wells Fargo & Company on December 3182@0rchased the original bonds
from the Bank and made further advances to the diigh bringing the total amount outstanding to $6Million. An Amended and Restated
Taxable Revenue Bond (“Amended and Restated Bamds)issued and the original financing agreementam@anded. The Amended and
Restated Bond bears interest, payable monthlyiffteeest rate is 5% per annum. The Amended andaResBond matures on January 1, 2
The estimated fair value of the bond using a I@wehluation technique at December 31, 2013 wasoappately $45.4 million, based on a debt
security with a comparable interest rate and migtarid a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of A-. @fe required to make payments to the
Authority in amounts necessary to pay the intesesthe Amended and Restated Bond. Included in teng-investments at December 31, 2

is $48.3 million which is invested in a restriciettificate of deposit. These funds serve as awtl deposit against the principal of this bond
and we have the right to set-off the balance oBbed with the collateral deposit in order to regltitce balance of the indebtedness.

In conjunction with this program, we are eligibtereceive certain economic incentives from theestdtAlabama that reduce the amount of
payroll withholdings that we are required to retoithe state for those employment positions thatifyjuunder the program. For the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we reamtbmic incentives related to payroll withholdirtgtaling $1.3 million, $1.4 million
and $1.9 million, respectively.

We did not make a principal payment for the yeateehDecember 31, 2013. We made a principal payofeb@.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. We anticipate making a prin@paiment in 2014. At December 31, 2013 and 20123 §llion and $0.5 million,
respectively, of the bond debt were classified esreent liability in accounts payable in the Cdidaied Balance Sheets at December 31, ¢

Note 10 — Income Taxes
A summary of the components of the provision faoime taxes for the years ended December 31, 2012,&hd 2011 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Current

Federa $15,64: $26,22¢ $59,38:
State 2,041 3,76¢ 7,177
Internationa 1,437 (509 431
Total Current 19,11¢ 29,48’ 66,99(
Deferred

Federa (3,60€) (3,399 527
State (412) (38¢) 60
Internationa (40 (2 (12
Total Deferred (4,05%) (3,78%) 57&
Total Provision for Income Taxes $15,06: $25,70: $67,56¢
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Our effective income tax rate differs from the fedestatutory rate due to the following:

2013 2012 2011
Tax provision computed at the federal statutorg rat 35.0% 35.0(% 35.0(%
State income tax provision, net of federal ber 3.9¢ 3.7¢ 3.1¢
Federal research cred (9.29 — (2.50
Internationa (2.99) 3.8C —
Tax-exempt incom (2.17 (1.00) (0.27)
State tax incentive (2.19) (4.46) (0.90
Stoclk-based compensatic 2.97 2.3¢€ 0.0z
Domestic production activity deductis (1.80 (3.20) (1.89
Other, ne 0.07 (1.03) 0.07
Effective Tax Rate 24.7%% 35.23% 32.7¢%

Income before provision for income taxes for thargeended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 islawdo

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

U.S. entities $51,75: $80,92¢ $204,65:
International entitie 9,10z (7,969 1,49(
Total $60,85¢ $72,96¢ $206,14:

Income before provision for income taxes for inggional entities reflects income based on statut@nysfer pricing agreements. This amount
does not correlate to consolidated internationaémaes, many of which occur from our U.S. entity.

Deferred income taxes on the balance sheet resuittemporary differences between the amount aftassd liabilities recognized for
financial reporting and tax purposes. The princgmahponents of our current and non-current defaares are as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Current deferred tax asst
Accounts receivabl $ 51 $ 2
Inventory 9,87 7,501
Accrued expense 7,15t 5,54¢
Total Current Deferred Tax Assets 17,08: 13,05¢
Non-current deferred tax asst
Accrued expense 14C 11€
Deferred compensatic 5,97 4,45¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 5,331 4,56¢
Uncertain tax positions related to state taxesrataded interes 1,10 1,00t
Pension: 301 60=
Foreign losse 5,702 6,97¢
State losses and credit ce-forwards 3,737 4,34¢
Federal loss and research c-forwards 8,327 12,21(
Valuation allowanct (8,847) (10,939
Total Non-current Deferred Tax Assets 21,77( 23,34¢
Total Deferred Tax Assets $ 38,85 $ 36,40
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie
Property, plant and equipme $ (5,499 $ (6,405
Intellectual propert (1,00€) (1,839
Investments (5,64%) (4,849
Total Non-current Deferred Tax Liabilities $(12,14%) $(13,089)
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 26,70¢ $ 23,31¢

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, non-current defdeedlabilities and non-current deferred tax assedspectively, related to our investments
reflect deferred taxes on unrealized gains andfes available-for-sale investments. The net oh@mgon-current deferred taxes associated
with these investments, a deferred tax expens@.dfiillion in 2013 and a deferred tax benefit 88%housand in 2012, is recorded as an
adjustment to other comprehensive income, presentihd@ Consolidated Statements of Comprehensisenhe.
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We have deferred tax assets for foreign and domiests carry-forwards, unamortized research anéldpment costs and state credit carry-
forwards of $19.0 million which will expire betwe@014 and 2030. The foreign loss cafwywards were generated through the acquisitioa
foreign entity in 2009 and through current losses foreign subsidiary. The unamortized researchdmvelopment costs are related to our
acquisition of Bluesocket in 2011. The state credity-forwards result from tax credits in excebsur annual tax liability to an individual
state where we do not generate sufficient statenmecto offset the credit. We believe it is morehlkthan not that we will not realize the full
benefits of the deferred tax asset arising frorseHesses and credits in various states and fooeigntries, and accordingly, we have provided
a valuation allowance against these deferred tssts.sWe do not provide for U.S. income tax on stnithuted earnings of our foreign
operations, whose earnings are intended to be pemtig reinvested. These earnings are not requirsdrvice debt or fund our U.S.
operations.

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, we recorded an inc@axéénefit of $0.2 million, $1.9 million and $1016llion, respectively, as an adjustment
to equity. This deduction is calculated on theati#hce between the exercise price of stock optierceses and the market price of the
underlying common stock upon exercise.

The change in the unrecognized income tax berfefit2013, 2012 and 2011 is reconciled below:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of perioc $ 2,92¢ $2,97( $2,59:
Increases for tax position related
Prior years 89 96& —
Current yea 54¢ 30z 84C
Decreases for tax positions related
Prior years — (49 (92
Settlements with taxing authoriti (147) (507) (359)
Expiration of applicable statute of limitatio (189 (755) (17
Balance at end of period $ 3,24( $2,92¢ $2,97(

As of December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, our tiafaility for unrecognized tax benefits was $3.2lioin, $2.9 million, and $3.0 million,
respectively, of which $2.5 million, $2.2 millioand $2.4 million, respectively, would reduce odeefive tax rate if we were successful in
upholding all of the uncertain positions and redpgd the amounts recorded. We classify interestpamadlties recognized on the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expensef Becember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the balasfcascrued interest and penalties were
$1.0 million, $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respaely.

We do not anticipate a single tax position genegai significant increase or decrease in our ligkfibr unrecognized tax benefits within 12
months of this reporting date. We file income taturns in the U.S. federal and various state jigtigohs and several foreign jurisdictions. We
have been audited by the Internal Revenue Sermidahee state of Alabama through the 2009 tax y@anerally, we are not subject to changes
in income taxes by any taxing jurisdiction for tfears prior to 2010.

Note 11 — Employee Benefit Plans
Pension Benefit Pla

As a result of our acquisition of the NSN BBA buesis, we assumed a defined benefit pension plamingwemployees in certain foreign
countries. We established a Contribution Trust Agement (CTA) to hold the pension assets, and N&Mferred assets to us equal to the
defined benefit obligation as of the May 4, 201gusition date.
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The pension benefit plan obligations and fundetlistat December 31, 2013 and 2012, are as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of pel $(21,187) $ —
Business combinatic — (18,067
Service cos (1,199 (76€)
Interest cos (74%) (499)
Actuarial gain (loss 77¢ (1,862
Benefit payment @ —
Foreign currency exchange rate char (1,00¢) 4

Projected benefit obligation at end of per $(23,359) $(21,18)

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of pe $ 18,62( $ —
Business combinatic — 18,06:
Actual return on plan asse 1,281 592
Foreign currency exchange rate char 872 (35)

Fair value of plan assets at end of pel $ 20,77 $ 18,62(

Funded status at end of perioc $ (2,58)) $ (2,56))

The accumulated benefit obligation was $22.9 milikmd $20.8 million at December 31, 2013 and 26dshectively.

The net amounts recognized in the balance she#tdarnfunded pension liability as of DecemberZ,3 and 2012 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Current liability $ — $ (609
Nonr-current liability (2,587 (1,952
Total $(2,58)) $(2,56))

The components of net periodic pension cost anduatsagecognized in other comprehensive incomehi®year ended December 31, 2013
the period May 4, 2012 to December 31, 2012 afelksvs:

Year Ended May 4, 2012 ta

(In thousands) December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Net periodic benefit cost:
Service cos $ 1,19¢ $ 76€
Interest cos 74% 494
Expected return on plan ass (1,010 (674)
Net periodic benefit cost 933 58€
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligatisrrecognized in

other comprehensive income:
Net actuarial (gain) los (779 1,862
Net unrealized (gain) loss on plan as: (282) a0
Other comprehensive (income) los (1,067) 1,952
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost andther comprehensive

income $ (128) $ 2,53¢
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The amounts recognized in accumulated other corepedbe income as of December 31, 2013 and 201&@sdi@lows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Net actuarial (gain) los $1,08: $1,86:
Net unrealized (gain) loss on plan as: (192 90
Total $ 891 $1,952

The defined benefit pension plan is accounted fioam actuarial basis, which requires the seleaforarious assumptions, including an
expected rate of return on plan assets and a discate. The expected return on our German plagtsdsat is utilized in determining the
benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cosiésived from periodic studies, which include aiegvof asset allocation strategies, anticipatec
future long-term performance of individual assetssks, risks using standard deviations and caom$adf returns among the asset classes the
comprise the plans’ asset mix. While the studigs gppropriate consideration to recent plan peréoree and historical returns, the
assumptions are primarily long-term, prospectitesaf return.

Another key assumption in determining net pensipease is the assumed discount rate to be usasicmudt plan obligations. The discount
rate has been derived from the returns of highityyalorporate bonds denominated in Euro currenitly durations close to the duration of our
pension obligations.

The weighted-average assumptions that were usgetéomine the net periodic benefit cost for ther ysmled December 31, 2013 and the
period May 4, 2012 to December 31, 2012 are asvali

Year Ended May 4, 2012 to
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Discount rates 3.5(% 3.9¢%
Rate of compensation incree 2.25% 2.25%
Expected lon-term rates of retur 5.4(% 5.4(%

The weighted-average assumptions that were usgetéomine the benefit obligation at December 31,328nd 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rates 3.7% 3.5(%
Rate of compensation incree 2.25% 2.25%

No amounts will be amortized from accumulated otteenprehensive income into net periodic benefit dosing 2014

We do not anticipate making a contribution to oengion plan in 2014. The following pension bengdiyments, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paidrt@ipants:

(In thousands)

2014 $ 357
2015 31z
2016 22¢
2017 39C
2018 65C
2019-2023 4,42
Total $6,35¢
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We have categorized our cash equivalents and gasiments held at fair value into a three-level¥aiue hierarchy based on the priority of
the inputs to the valuation technique for the caghivalents and investments as follows: LeveMaldes based on unadjusted quoted price
identical assets or liabilities in an active marketvel 2—\Values based on quoted prices in martketsare not active or model inputs that are
observable either directly or indirectly; Level 3-aldes based on prices or valuation techniquegdiaaire inputs that are both unobservable
and significant to the overall fair value measuretm&hese inputs include information supplied byeistees.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Usil

Significant
Quoted Prices Other Significant
in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets for
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents $ 4 $ 4 $ — $ —_
Available-for-sale securities
Bond funds
Corporate bond 12,97¢ 12,97¢ — —
Government bond 1,91¢ 1,91¢ — —
Equity funds:
Large cap blen 4,72( 4,72( — —
Large cap valu 287 287 — —
Balanced func 871 871 — —
Available-for-sale securities 20,76¢ 20,76¢ — —
Total $20,77: $ 20,77: $ — $ o
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Usil
Significant
Quoted Prices Other Significant
in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets for
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents $ 6 $ 6 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securities
Bond funds
Corporate bond 12,04: 12,04: — —
Government bond 1,83¢ 1,83¢ — —
Equity funds:
Large cap blen 3,74( 3,74( — —
Large cap valu 23t 23t — —
Balanced func 75¢ 75¢ — —
Available-for-sale securities 18,61« 18,61« — —
Total $18,62( $ 18,62( $ — $ —

Our investment policy includes various guidelined procedures designed to ensure assets are idvestananner necessary to meet expecte
future benefits earned by participants. The invesitsguidelines consider a broad range of econoariditions. Central to the policy are tar
allocation ranges by asset class, which is cugréti® for bond funds and 25% for equity funds.

The objectives of the target allocations are tontadn investment portfolios that diversify risk dhugh prudent asset allocation parameters,
achieve asset returns that meet or exceed the' pletasirial assumptions, and achieve asset rethatsire competitive with like institutions
employing similar investment strategies.

The investment policy is periodically reviewed tsyand a designated third-party fiduciary for inuesit matters. The policy is established an
administered in a manner that is compliant atimlés with applicable government regulations.
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401(k) Savings Plan

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. 401(k) Retirement P{&avings Plan) for the benefit of our eligible dayees. The Savings Plan is intended
to qualify under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) ofltiternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code)santended to be a “safe harbor” 401
(k) plan under Code Section 401(k)(12). The Savirigs allows employees to save for retirement byrdauting part of their compensation to
the plan on a tax-deferred basis. The Savings &tamnrequires us to contribute a “safe harbor” ameach year. We match up to 4% of
employee contributions (100% of an employee’s 34t of contributions and 50% of their next 2% oftdutions), beginning on the
employee’s one year anniversary date. In calcaiiur matching contribution, we only use compewsatip to the statutory maximum under
the Code ($255 thousand for 2013). All contribusiemder the Savings Plan are 100% vested. Expessasled for employer contributions
and plan administration costs for the Savings Braounted to approximately $4.5 million, $4.6 mifliand $4.3 million in 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Pla

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensafdan (Deferred Compensation Plan). This plan isrefl as a supplement to our tax-
qualified 401(k) plan and is available to certae®uitive management employees who have been désigioy our Board of Directors. The
deferred compensation plan allows participantsefierdall or a portion of certain specified bonuaed up to 25% of remaining cash
compensation, and permits us to make matchingiboitizns on a discretionary basis, without the fations that apply to the 401(k) plan. To
date, we have not made any matching contributioieuthis plan.

We also maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. Equity DeferrabBram for Employees for the purpose of providiefedred compensation for certain
executive management employees. Participants neay tel defer all or a portion of their vested Parfance Share awards to the Plan. Such
deferrals shall continue to be held and deemee to\ested in shares of ADTRAN stock unless and the amounts are distributed or such
deferrals are moved to another deemed investmestignt to an election made by the Participant.

We have set aside the plan assets for both plamsahbi trust (Trust) and all contributions aredited to bookkeeping accounts for the
participants. The Trust assets are subject toltms of our creditors in the event of bankruptcynsolvency. The assets of the Trust are
deemed to be invested in pre-approved mutual fasdfirected by each participant, and the partitipdmokkeeping account is credited with
the earnings and losses attributable to those timezgs. Benefits are scheduled to be distributednsinths after termination of employment in
a single lump sum payment or annual installmenits geer a three or ten year term. Distributiond twé made on a pro rata basis from each o
the hypothetical investments of the Participantscaint in cash. Any whole shares of ADTRAN, Inaneoon stock that are distributed will be
distributed in-kind.

Assets of the Trust are deemed invested in mutunalsf that cover an investment spectrum ranging frquoities to money market instruments.
These mutual funds are publicly quoted and repatddir value. The fair value of the assets heidhe Trust and the amounts payable to the
plan participants are as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Fair Value of Plan Assets

Long-term Investment $15,12: $11,52;
Total Fair Value of Plan Assets $15,12¢ $11,527
Amounts Payable to Plan Participants

Non-current Liabilities $15,12¢ $11,527
Total Amounts Payable to Plan Participants $15,12; $11,52"

Interest and dividend income of the Trust have beeluded in interest and dividend income in theaaepanying 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Income. Changes iraih@dlue of the plan assets held by the Trust tepen included in accumulated other
comprehensive income in the accompanying 2013 aa# Zonsolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in thedfaie of the deferred
compensation liability are included as selling, g@ahand administrative expense in the accompar8®i@, 2012 and 2011 Consolidated
Statements of Income. Based on the changes intalefair value of the Trust’assets, we recorded deferred compensation adjoistim 2013
2012 and 2011 of $2.8 million, $0.9 million and Omillion, respectively.

Retiree Medical Coverac

We provide medical, dental and prescription drugecage to one retired former officer and his spofaehis life, on the same terms as
provided to our active officers, and to the spoafsa former deceased officer for up to 30 yearsDatember 31, 2013 and 2012, this liability
totaled $0.2 million.
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Note 12 — Segment Information and Major Customers

We operate in two reportable segments: (1) thei€radetworks Division and (2) the Enterprise Netiwsobivision. The accounting policies of
the segments are the same as those described“Mahae of Business and Summary of Significant éuting Policies” (see Note 1) to the
extent that such policies affect the reported segniméormation. We evaluate the performance of seRgments based on gross profit; therefore
selling, general and administrative expense, resemnd development expenses, interest income arkdd income, interest expense, net
realized investment gain/loss, other income/expansieprovision for taxes are reported on an entite basis only. There are no insFgmer
revenues.

The following table presents information about tbported sales and gross profit of our reportabtgrents for each of the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. Asset informétyoreportable segment is not reported, since wead@roduce such information
internally.

Sales and Gross Profit by Market Segment

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit
Carrier Networks $500,73: $233,20¢ $492,09¢ $247,38( $569,57¢ $327,81:
Enterprise Network 141,01: 75,68( 128,51¢ 69,26: 147,65( 86,50¢
Total $641,74. $308,88t $620,61: $316,64: $717,22¢ $414,31

Sales by Product
Our three major product categories are Carrieredyst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systemsproducts are used by communications service proviteprovide data, voice and video services teaorers and enterpris
This category includes the following product aread related services:

* Broadband Acces
. Total Acces® 5000 Mult-Service Access Node (MSAI
. hiX family of MSANs
. Total Access 1100/1200 Series of Fiber to the N&d& N) products
. Ultra Broadband Ethernet (UBI
. Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer (DSLAMJoducts
e Optical
. Optical Networking Edge (ONE
. NetVanta 8000 Series of Fiber Ethernet Access BsEAD)
. OPTI-6100 and Total Access 3000 optical M-Service Provisioning Platforms (MSP
. Pluggable Optical Products, including SFP, XFP, 8Ré+
 TDM systems
Business Networkingproducts provide access to communication servindgailitate the delivery of cloud connectivitydaanterprise
communications to the small and mid-sized entegi8VIE) market. This category includes the follogvproduct areas and related services:
e Internetworking product
. Total Access IP Business Gatew:
. Optical Network Terminals (ONT:
. Bluesocke® virtual Wireless LAN (VWLAN®)
. NetVanta®
e Multiservice Router:
e Managed Ethernet Switch
e IP Business Gatewa
* Unified Communications (UC) solutiol
e Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment (N
. Network Management Solutiol
» Integrated Access Devices (IAC
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Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custoibeaccess to copper-based communications nkswdhe Loop Access
category includes the following product areas aiated services:

» High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) produt

» Digital Data Service (DDS

» Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) produ

e T1/E1/T3 Channel Service Units/Data Service UrtSs/DSUs
* TRACER fixec-wireless product

The table below presents sales information by prbdategory for the years ended December 31, Zi1R and 2011:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Carrier Systems $427,85( $399,64¢ $420,28t¢
Business Networkin 168,87 149,30 162,18t
Loop Acces: 45,02: 71,664 134,75
Total $641,74- $620,61« $717,22¢

In addition, we identify subcategories of prodwtanues, which we divide into core products anddggroducts. Our core products consist 0
Broadband Access and Optical products (include@arrier Systems), and Internetworking productsldided in Business Networking). Our
legacy products include HDSL products (includetl@op Access) and other products not included irafloeementioned core products.

The table below presents subcategory revenuebdoydars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Core Products
Broadband Access (included in Carrier Syste $340,56( $320,07¢ $289,77!
Optical (included in Carrier Systen 55,61¢ 51,75¢ 82,53¢
Internetworking (NetvVant@ & Multi-service Accessit8ways) (included
in Business Networking 164,42. 142,95t 151,53
Subtotal $560,59° $514,78¢ $523,84°
Legacy Products
HDSL (does not include T1) (included in Loop Acge 41,66¢ 66,97+ 126,97t
Other products (excluding HDSI 39,48: 38,85! 66,40¢
Subtotal $ 81,145 $105,82! $193,38:
Total $641,74- $620,61: $717,22¢

The following table presents sales information bpgraphic area for the years ended December 38, 2012 and 2011. International sales
correlate to shipments with a non-U.S. destination.

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

United States $455,99¢ $470,36¢ $632,79!
Germany 97,15 26,91¢ 554
Other internatione 88,591 123,32 83,88(
Total $641,74- $620,61+ $717,22¢

Customers comprising more than 10% of revenue bange from year to year. Single customers comgyisiare than 10% of our revenue in
2013 included two customers at 17% and 14%, reisedetOnly a single customer comprised more th@¥b bf our revenue in 2012 at 23%.
Single customers comprising more than 10% of ouemae in 2011 included two customers at 25% and, 18%pectively. No other customer
accounted for 10% or more of our sales in 201322§¥12011. Our five largest customers, other thase with more than 10 percent of
revenues disclosed above, can change from yeamato Yhese customers represented 22%, 34% and R@f#alaevenue in 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively. Revenues in this disclosuraatanclude distributor agents who predominatelyvie fulfillment services to end users. In
such cases where known, that revenue is assoeidttethe end user.

As of December 31, 2013, long-lived assets, netedt$76.7 million, which includes $71.2 millionlthén the United States and $5.5 million
held outside the United States. As of DecembeRB12, long-lived assets, net totaled $80.2 millwhich includes $73.9 million held in the
United States and $6.3 million held outside thetéthStates.
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Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we may be stibjevarious legal proceedings and claims, inclgd&dmployment disputes, patent claims,
disputes over contract agreements and other conahdigputes. In some cases, claimants seek danosagdhler relief, such as royalty
payments related to patents, which, if grantedlccoeguire significant expenditures. Although theocmme of any claim or litigation can never
be certain, it is our opinion that the outcomelb€antingencies of which we are currently award not materially affect our business,
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We lease office space and equipment under opernaiasgs which expire at various dates through 284&f December 31, 2013, future
minimum rental payments under non-cancelable ojpgrégases with original maturities of greater ti2nmonths are approximately as
follows:

(In thousands)

2014 $ 4,52
2015 3,55¢
2016 2,50¢
2017 2,15¢
Thereaftel 68€
Total $13,427

Rental expense was approximately $4.8 million, $8illon and $2.4 million for the years ended Deb&m31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Note 14 — Earnings per Share
A summary of the calculation of basic and dilutedéngs per share (EPS) for the years ended Deee3ih2013, 2012 and 2011 is as follo

(In thousands, except for per share amoun 2013 2012 2011
Numerator
Net Income $45,79: $47,26: $138,57
Denominator
Weighted average number of sha- basic 59,00: 63,25¢ 64,14¢
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options 39C 48¢ 1,23¢
Restricted stock and restricted stock u 33 27 35
Weighted average number of she— diluted 59,42« 63,77¢ 65,41¢
Net income per sha~ basic $ 0.7¢ $ 0.7t $ 2.1¢
Net income per sha- diluted $ 0.77 $ 0.7¢ $ 2.1z

For each of the years ended December 31, 2013,&812011, 3.2 million, 3.2 million and 1.2 milli@ock options were outstanding but w
not included in the computation of that year’'s @ithEPS because the options’ exercise prices weegegg than the average market price of the
common shares, therefore making them anti-dilutivéer the treasury stock method.
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Note 15 — Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unadited)

The following table presents unaudited quarterlgraping results for each of our last eight fisasdders. This information has been prepared
on a basis consistent with our audited financiteshents and includes all adjustments, consistihgaf normal recurring adjustments,
considered necessary for a fair presentation ofl¢ta.

Unaudited Quarterly Operating Results
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

Three Months Ended March 31, 201! June 30, 201 September 30, 201 December 31, 201
Net sales $ 143,01 $ 162,23: $ 177,40: $ 159,09:
Gross profit $ 69,67 $ 79,79 $ 82,54° $ 76,86¢
Operating incomi $ 6,56: $ 14,05: $ 17,21( $ 10,63¢
Net income $ 7,89( $ 9,85¢ $ 16,20t $ 11,84(
Earnings per common she $ 0.1z $ 0.17 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.21
Ea(rlr)nngs per common share assuming dilu $ 0.12 $ 0.17 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.9¢
Three Months Ended March 31, 201: June 30, 201 September 30, 201 December 31, 201
Net sales $ 134,73 $ 183,99¢ $ 162,12! $ 139,75¢
Gross profit $ 74,08 $ 95,20: $ 79,97: $ 67,38
Operating incom: $ 16,18 $ 26,83¢ $ 10,27¢ $ 2,874
Net income $  12,96( $ 21,07« $ 9,27: $ 3,961
Earnings per common she $ 0.2C $ 0.3¢ $ 0.1t $ 0.0¢
Ea(rlr)nngs per common share assuming dilu $ 0.2 $ 0.3 $ 0.1t $ 0.0€

@ Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caladainder the treasury stock meth

Note 16 — Related Party Transactions

We employ the law firm of our director emeritus fegal services. All bills for services renderedthig firm are reviewed and approved by our
Chief Financial Officer. We believe that the fees$uch services are comparable to those chargethby firms for services rendered to us.
For the years ended 2013, 2012 and 2011, we irctéess of $10 thousand per month for these legealcsss.

Note 17 — Subsequent Events

On January 21, 2014, the Board declared a quaxtesdly dividend of $0.09 per common share to betpastiareholders of record at the clos
business on February 6, 2014. The quarterly diddgayment was $5.1 million and was paid on Febr@ér2014. In July 2003, our Board of
Directors elected to begin declaring quarterly diédvids on our common stock considering the taxriresat of dividends and adequate levels of
Company liquidity.

In February 2014, we made a decision to make &b%hélion principal payment on the Amended and Rest Bond. The restricted certificate
of deposit included in our long-term investmentfl b reduced by the amount of the payment. Wecgatie this payment will be made during
the first quarter of 2014.

As of February 27, 2014, we have repurchased Oliomshares of our common stock through open nmaplkechases at an average cost of
$25.13 per share. We currently have the authasigurchase an additional 3.1 million shares ofammmon stock under the current plan
approved by the Board of Directors.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Internal control over financial reportingSection 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguinanagement to include in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K a report on management’s assaasof the effectiveness of our internal contnaéiofinancial reporting, as well as
a report from our independent registered publioanting firm on the effectiveness of internal cohtver financial reporting.
Management’s report on internal control over finaheporting and the related report from our inglegent registered public accounting
firm are located in Iltem “Financial Statements and Supplementary " of this report.

(b) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedu. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financidfi€er are responsible for
establishing and maintaining “disclosure contraid procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exghakct of 1934 Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) for the company. Our Chief Executivei€ff and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluatihg effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the pewawdred by this annual report, have concludeddtiatlisclosure controls and
procedures are effectiv

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repodinThere were no changes in our internal controt émancial reporting that occurred
during our most recent fiscal quarter that haveenaty affected, or are reasonably likely to methy affect, our internal control over
financial reporting

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

Information relating to nominees for director of ARAN and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Siims Exchange Act of 1934 is set fa
under the captions “Proposal 1-Election of DiregfofSection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reportingn@pliance” and “Corporate
Governance,” respectively, in the Proxy StatementHe Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be heldvay 14, 2014. Such information is
incorporated herein by reference. The definitivexiyrStatement will be filed with the Securities dxthange Commission no later than 120
days after December 31, 2013. Information relatinthe executive officers of ADTRAN, pursuant tetiuction 3 of Item 401(b) of Regulati
S-K and General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K,é$ #®orth at Part I, Item 4A of this report undee thaption “Executive Officers of the
Registrant.” This information is incorporated herby reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted the ADTRAN, Inc. Code of Condutiictv applies to all employees, officers and directatf ADTRAN. The Code of
Conduct meets the requirements of a “code of ethisslefined by Item 406 of Regulation S-K, andlegsto our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer (who is both our princidalancial and principal accounting officer), as lnad all other employees, as indicated above
The Code of Conduct also meets the requiremerascofie of conduct under NASDAQ listing standarde Tode of Conduct is posted on oul
website at www.adtran.com under the links “Invefetations — Corporate Governance — Code of Corfdie intend to disclose any
amendments to the Code of Conduct, as well as anyevs for executive officers or directors, on auabsite at www.adtran.com

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 relating teceentive compensation and other matters is set tortler the captions “Executive
Compensation,” “Director Compensation” and “Corger@overnance” in the Proxy Statement referred teeim 10. This information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDEF
MATTERS

Information relating to ownership of common stodl A®TRAN by certain persons is set forth under tlagtion ‘Share Ownership of Princip
Stockholders and Management” in the Proxy Statemsfatred to in Item 10 above. Such informatiomrporated herein by reference.
Information regarding securities authorized fougsce under equity compensation plans of ADTRABEisforth under the caption “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statetmeferred to in Item 10. This information is imporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANDDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information relating to existing or proposed redaships or transactions between ADTRAN and anyiatffi of ADTRAN is set forth under the
captions “Certain Relationships and Related Traiwas' and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy &tant referred to in Item 10. This
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information relating to ADTRAN'’s principal accoumtizs fees and services is set forth under the eap®rincipal Accountant Fees and
Services” in the Proxy Statement referred to imItED. This information is incorporated herein bierence.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents Filed as Part of This Report.
1. Consolidated Financial Stateme

The consolidated financial statements of ADTRAN #melreport of independent registered public actingriirm thereon are set
forth under Part 11, Item 8 of this report.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&81 2012
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@imcember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéoyears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&psity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20022011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Sche
Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
3. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed with or incorpoedat by reference in this report. Where such filsgniade by incorporation by reference to a
previously filed registration statement or repstich registration statement or report is identifregdarentheses. We will furnish any exhibit

upon request to: ADTRAN, Inc., Attn: Investor Rédats, 901 Explorer Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabam#886. There is a charge of $0.50 per
page to cover expenses for copying and mailing.
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Exhibit

Number

2.1

3.1

3.2
10.1

10.2

Description
Asset Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 11 Dec@@b&iRegarding the Sale and Purchase of the NSMBISGPON and
ACI Products and the Related Services Busine

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhiblt ® ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on Form b, 33-81062 (the
“Form $-1 Registration Stateme”)).

Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007

Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) issbgdhe Alabama State
Industrial Development Authority, consisting of tiedlowing:

(@) First Amended and Restated Financing Agesgrated April 25, 1997, among the State Indddbévelopment Authority
a public corporation organized under the laws ef$tate of Alabama (the “Authority”), ADTRAN andrfi Union
National Bank of Tennessee, a national bankingaratpn (the “Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADPR’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Marchl99y7 (the “1997 Form 10-Q")).

(b) First Amended and Restated Loan AgreemataddApril 25, 1997, between the Authority and ADANR(Exhibit 10.1(b)
to the 1997 Form 10-Q).

(c) First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxélenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. ProjeERhibit 10.1(c) to the
1997 Form 10-Q).

(d) First Amended and Restated Specimen Nota &DTRAN to the Bondholder, dated April 25, 19%XKibit 10.1(d) to th
1997 Form 10-Q).

(e) Amended and Restated Investment Agreensatdanuary 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and First UNational Bank
(successor-in-interest to First Union National Bahennessee (the “Successor Bondholder”)) (Exiibil(e) to
ADTRAN's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yearded December 31, 2002 (the “2002 Form 10-K")).

(H  Resolution of the Authority authorizingetlamendment of certain documents, dated April 297 Lrelating to the
$50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (AMN,Rnc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997 FodB-Q).

() Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the Fissinended and Restated Financing Agreement, the Ainginded and Restal
Loan Agreement, the First Amended and Restated, [datkthe Investment Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(ghw® 1997
Form 10-Q).

(h) Amendment to First Amended and Restatedriiimg Agreement and First Amended and Restated Agaeement dated
January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and the Successodidder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the 2002 Formr-K).

Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hyg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAbpto
ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit

Number

10.3

21*
23*
24>
31*
32*

Description

Management Contracts and Compensation Plans:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)

(e)
(f)

(9)
(h)
(i)
0)
(k)
0]
(m)
(n)

Amended and Restated 1996 Employees IneeStock Option Plan, as amended by the First, i@kaad Third
Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to the 200 20-K).

Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stquio® Plan, as amended by the First and Second Aments thereto
(Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Form 10-K).

Third Amendment to the Amended and Resta8db Directors Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3@ADTRAN’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQa3 (the “2003 Form 10-K")).

ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Planaasended and restated as of January 1, 2008 (E£0il3i(d) to ADTRANS
Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2009).

ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive BonusrP(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K on February Z)06).

ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock IncentiRé&an (Exhibit 4.1 to ADTRAN'’s Registration Statemi@n Form S-8 (File
No. 333-133927) filed on May 9, 2006).

First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 floyee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to ARAN’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQ7 (the “2007 Form 10-K”)).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreementer the 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (&EkfAD.1 to ADTRANS
Form 8-K filed June 8, 2006).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreementler the 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (ExAiBi2 to ADTRAN's
Form 8-K filed June 8, 2006).

ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock OptiofaR (Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on Ma30, 2005).
First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005r&itors Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(l) to tf@0Z Form 10-K).

Summary of Non-Employee Director CompeimsatExhibit 10.3(k) to ADTRAN’s Form 10-K filed oRebruary 28,
2007).

Form of Performance Shares Agreement urdeADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive P(&Erhibit 10.1 to
ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2008).

Form of Performance Shares Agreement utideADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive P{E®hibit 10.1 to
ADTRAN'’s Form i-K filed on November 9, 2010

Subsidiaries of ADTRAN

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Powers of Attorney
Rule 13i-14(a)/15+14(a) Certifications
Section 1350 Certification:
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Exhibit

Number Description
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

* Filed herewitr
**  Pursuant to Regulation S-T, this interactivealfite is deemed not filed or part of a registratgtatement or prospectus for purposes of
Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1938ldemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, and

otherwise is not subject to liability under theset®ns.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized on February 27, 2014.

ADTRAN, Inc.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ James E. Matthev

James E. Matthews

Senior Vice President — Finance,

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary arnick€or
(Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belptine following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on Fa®ra7, 2014.

Signature
/s/ Thomas R. Stantc

Thomas R. Stanto

/s/ James E. Matthev

James E. Matthew

/s/ Balan Nair*

Balan Nair

/s/ William L. Marks*

William L. Marks

/s/ Ray J. Nichols'

Roy J. Nichols

/sl H. Fenwick Huss

H. Fenwick Hus:

*By: /s/ James E. Matthev

Title
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo

Senior Vice Presidel- Finance

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary arick&or
Director

Director

Director

Director

James E. Matthews as Attorney in F
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Column A

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 20
Allowance for Doubtful Account
Inventory Reserv

Warranty Liability

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan
Year ended December 31, 20
Allowance for Doubtful Account
Inventory Reserv

Warranty Liability

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan
Year ended December 31, 2011
Allowance for Doubtful Account
Inventory Reserv

Warranty Liability

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan

ADTRAN, INC.
SCHEDULE I
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F
Balance a
Charged tc Balance a
Beginning Assumed
on Costs & End of
of Period Acquisition Expenses Deductions Period
$ 6 — 13€ 12 $ 13C
$11,95% — 11,45% 421 $22,99!
$ 9,65: — 4,051 4,72 $ 8,97
$10,93¢ o (1,05€) 1,041  $ 8,84:
$ 8 — 38 40 $ 6
$ 9,41¢ — 3,04z 504 $11,95°
$ 4,11¢ 3,781 5,363 3,60¢ $ 9,65:
$ 7,58¢ — 3,59¢ 24C $10,93¢
$ 16z — 117 271 $ 8
$ 8,93 — 1,13 65C $ 9,41¢
$ 3,30¢ 33 2,86( 2,07¢ $ 4,11¢
$ 5,62i 1,46 49¢€ — $ 7,58t
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Exhibit

Number

21

3.1

3.2
10.1

10.2

ADTRAN, INC.
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Description

Asset Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 11 Dec@@bkiRegarding the Sale and Purchase of the NSMBISGPON and
ACI Products and the Related Services Busine

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhiblt ® ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on Form b, 33-81062 (the
“Form $-1 Registration Stateme”)).

Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007

Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) issbgdhe Alabama State
Industrial Development Authority, consisting of tledowing:

(@) First Amended and Restated Financing Agesgrated April 25, 1997, among the State Indddbévelopment Authority
a public corporation organized under the laws ef$tate of Alabama (the “Authority”), ADTRAN andrfi Union
National Bank of Tennessee, a national bankingaratpn (the “Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADPR’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Marchl99y7 (the “1997 Form 10-Q")).

(b) First Amended and Restated Loan AgreemataddApril 25, 1997, between the Authority and ADANR(Exhibit 10.1(b)
to the 1997 Form 10-Q).

(c) First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxélenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. ProjeeRhibit 10.1(c) to the
1997 Form 10-Q).

(d) First Amended and Restated Specimen Nota &DTRAN to the Bondholder, dated April 25, 19%XKibit 10.1(d) to th
1997 Form 10-Q).

(e) Amended and Restated Investment Agreensatdanuary 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and First UNational Bank
(successor-in-interest to First Union National Bahiennessee (the “Successor Bondholder”)) (Exiibil(e) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yearded December 31, 2002 (the “2002 Form 10-K")).

(H  Resolution of the Authority authorizingetlamendment of certain documents, dated April 297 Lrelating to the
$50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (AMN,Rnc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997 FodB-Q).

() Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the Fissinended and Restated Financing Agreement, the Ainginded and Restal
Loan Agreement, the First Amended and Restated, [datkthe Investment Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(gh®1997 Form

10-Q).
(h) Amendment to First Amended and Restatedriiimg Agreement and First Amended and Restated Agaeement dated
January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and the Successodidder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the 2002 Formr-K).

Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hyg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAbpto
ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit

Number

10.3

21*
23*
24*
31*
32*

Description

Management Contracts and Compensation Plans:

@)
(b)
(©
(d)

(e)
(®)

(@)
(h)

Amended and Restated 1996 Employees IneeStock Option Plan, as amended by the First,i8aad Third
Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to the 200 &0-K).

Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stquio® Plan, as amended by the First and Second Aments thereto
(Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Form 10-K).

Third Amendment to the Amended and Resta83b Directors Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3@@ADTRAN’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe3a3 (the “2003 Form 10-K")).

ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Planaasended and restated as of January 1, 2008 (E2RilSi(d) to
ADTRAN'’s Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2009).

ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive BonusrP{&xhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K on February 2)06).

ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentiréan (Exhibit 4.1 to ADTRAN’s Registration Statemi@n Form S8 (File
No. 333-133927) filed on May 9, 2006).

First Amendment to the ADTRAN Inc. 2006 Hoyee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to ADAR's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeBQ7 (the “2007 Form 10-K")).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreementer the 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (&k&D.1 to
ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed June 8, 2006).

(i)  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreementler the 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (ExHiBi2 to ADTRAN's
Form 8-K filed June 8, 2006).

(i) ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock OptiotaR (Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on Ma30, 2005).

(k)  First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005r&3tors Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(1) to tH#2 Form 10-K).

(D  Summary of Non-Employee Director Compeimaf{Exhibit 10.3(k) to ADTRAN'’s Form 10-K filed oRebruary 28,
2007).

(m) Form of Performance Shares Agreement uldeADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive P{&rhibit 10.1 to
ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2008).

(n) Form of Performance Shares Agreement uthdeADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive P{Emrhibit 10.1 to
ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2010).

Subsidiaries of ADTRAN

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Powers of Attorney
Rule 13-14(a)/15¢14(a) Certifications
Section 1350 Certificatior
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Exhibit

Number Description
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

* Filed herewitr

**  Pursuant to Regulation S-T, this interactivealfile is deemed not filed or part of a registratgtatement or prospectus for purposes of
Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1938ldéemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, and
otherwise is not subject to liability under theset®ns.
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Name of Subsidiary
ADTRAN Networks Pty. Ltd

ADTRAN International, Inc

ADTRAN Networks Hong Kong Limites
ADTRAN Europe Limitec

ADTRAN Canada, Inc

ADTRAN Networks Canada, In
ADTRAN Networks S.A. de C.V
ADTRAN Singapore Pte. Ltc
Bluesocket Inc

ADTRAN Networks Worldwide, Inc
ADTRAN Networks, LLC

ADTRAN Peru S.R.L

ADTRAN GmbH

ADTRAN Networks Comunicac¢des Ltda.
ADTRAN d.o.o.

ADTRAN Oy

ADTRAN M.E.P.E.

ADTRAN Networks India Private Limited
ADTRAN Holdings Ltd.

ADTRAN S.R.L.

ADTRAN K.K.

ADTRAN Sp. z.0.0.

ADTRAN, Unipessoal Lda.

ADTRAN LLC

ADTRAN s.r.o.

ADTRAN Switzerland GmbF

SUBSIDIARIES OF ADTRAN, INC.
December 31, 2013

Country or State of Incorporation

Australia
Delaware
Hong Kong
United Kingdom
Canade
Canade
Mexico
Singapore
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Peru
Germany
Brazil
Croatia
Finland
Greece
India

Israel

Italy

Japan
Poland
Portugal
Russia
Slovakia
Switzerland



Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-1%8419, 333-133927, 333-126734,
333-66000, 333-41458, 333-78417, 333-30375, 33329833-4808) of ADTRAN, Inc. of our report dateebifuary 27, 2014 relating to the

financial statements, financial statement schedntkthe effectiveness of internal control overiiicial reporting, which appears in this Form
10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Birmingham, Alabama
February 27, 201




Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned constitutes and appoints Tedt&tanton and James E. Matthews, and
each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-taud agents, with full power of substitution, famhand in his name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign the Annual Report omd0-K of ADTRAN, Inc. for the fiscal year ende@&mber 31, 2013 and any and all
amendments thereto, and other documents in coongtierewith and to file the same, with all exrslitiereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission and the NASDAQ Global Select Market, granting unto said attorneys-
in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power @uthority to do and perform each and every adtthimg requisite or necessary to be done,
as fully to all intents and purposes as he miglaoaid do in person, hereby ratifying and confirghall that said attorneys-in-fact and agents o
any of them, or their or his substitute or substgyumay lawfully do or cause to be done by viitaeeof.

This 27t day of February 2014.

/s/ Balan Nail
Balan Nair
Director

/s/ H. Fenwick Hus
H. Fenwick Hus:
Director

/s/ William L. Marks
William L. Marks
Director

/s/ Roy J. Nichol:
Roy J. Nichols
Director




Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas R. Stanton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of ADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eéonditate a material fact necessar
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttlsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an amaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the
equivalent functions)

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 27, 2014

/s/ Thomas R. Stantc
Thomas R. Stanta
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo




I, James E. Matthews, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of ADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eéonditate a material fact necessar
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anlldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the
equivalent functions)

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 27, 2014

/s/ James E. Matthev

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice Presider- Finance
Chief Financial Officer, Treasure
Secretary and Directc




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, Ir{the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period end&ecember 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), Thomas R. Stanton, Chief Executive Officer arithidman o
the Board of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18.0. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 ofdhisaBes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the
best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
the Company

/sl Thomas R. Stantc

Thomas R. Stanto

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo
Date: February 27, 201




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, Ir{the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period end&ecember 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, James E. Mattheves)i& Vice President — Finance and
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary arnigk€@or of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 .. 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the bésy knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ James E. Matthev

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice Presider- Finance
Chief Financial Officer, Treasure
Secretary and Directt

Date: February 27, 201




